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PART |

Item 1. Business.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Except for historical information, this Annual Repon Form 10-K may be deemed to contain “forwaroking statements” within the
meaning of the Private Litigation Reform Act of BO®xamples of forward-looking statements inclunlg, are not limited to: (a) projections
of or statements regarding return on investmeiiyéuearnings, interest income, sales, volume ratiteme, earnings or loss per share,
growth prospects, capital structure, and othemfied terms, (b) statements of plans and objectdfesanagement, (c) statements of future
economic performance, and (d) statements of assomspsuch as economic conditions underlying osteiements. Such forward-looking
statement can be identified by the use of forwaaking terminology such as “anticipates,” “belieyésontinue,” “could,” “estimate,”
“expects,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “outlook,” “pdential,” “predict,” “should,” “will,” as well aste negative of any of the foregoing or
variations of such terms or comparable terminolagyy discussion of strategy. No assurance mayivean that the future results described
by the forward-looking statements will be achiewathile we believe these forward-looking statememéesreasonable, they are only
predictions and are subject to known and unknosksriuncertainties, and other factors, many of whie beyond our control, which could
cause actual results, performance or achievemetitfés materially from anticipated future resulpgrformance or achievement expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. Suetieshents in this Annual Report on Form 10-K inclusighout limitation, those contained
in Item 1. Business, Item 7. Management’s Discusaitd Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuft®perations, Iltem 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data including, withmitation, the Notes To Consolidated Financiwt8ments, and Item 11. Executive
Compensation. Important factors that could causeattual results, performance or achievement ferdifiaterially from those in these
forward-looking statements include, among othenge

. our successful execution of internal performane@gland performance in accordance with estimatesnplete
. performance issues with key suppliers, subcontracémd business partne

. the ability to negotiate financing arrangementsvénders

. legal proceeding:

. changes in the need for additional machinery angpegent and/or in the cost for the expansion ofaperations
. ability of outside third parties to comply with theommitments

. product demand and market acceptance r

. the effect of economic conditior

. the impact of competitive products and pricing,duct development, commercialization, and technaklglifficulties;
. social and economic conditions and local regulatiorthe countries in which we conduct our busias;

. unanticipated environmental remediation expensetaims;

. capacity and supply constraints or difficulti

. an inability to perform customer contracts at dptited cost levels

. changing priorities or reductions in the U.S. andeign Government defense budg:

. contract continuation and future contract awa

. other factors that generally affect the businessoafipanies operating in our markets and/or indesstanc

. the other factors discussed under the caf*Risk Factor” in ltem 1A below.

Given these risks and uncertainties, you are caetimot to place undue reliance on such forwar#igpstatements. These forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date they were,raadeve assume no obligation to update forwaodting statements to reflect actual res
or changes in or additions to the factors affectingh forward-looking statements.
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BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

Curtiss-Wright Corporation was incorporated in 18@@ler the laws of the State of Delaware. We desighmanufacture highly engineered,
advanced technologies that perform critical furdion demanding conditions in the defense, ene@ymercial aerospace, and general
industrial markets, where performance and religbdlre essential. Our general industrial markatsgmily consist of metallurgical services
for high-performance automotive, construction, mayisimulation, and test equipment, as well as marid machine control systems for
commercial HVAC systems.

Our core competence is providing advanced techieddgr customers operating in harsh environmeéntaddition to meeting demanding
performance requirements, our technologies aradet to improve worker safety, minimize impact ba énvironment, and improve
operating efficiency. Our products and servicetuhe critical-function pumps, valves, motors, geers, and electronics; aircraft flight
controls, landing systems, ordnance handling, ltalibn and utility actuation systems; as welhastallurgical enhancement of highly
stressed components. We compete globally basegcbndlogy and pricing; however, significant engiireg expertise is a limiting factor to
competition, particularly in the U.S. governmentrked. Our business is challenged by price pressumaronmental impact, and geopolitical
events, such as the global war on terrorism anidmligtic accords. Our ability to provide high-perfance, advanced technologies on a cost-
effective basis is fundamental to our strategynfieeting customer demand.

We manage and evaluate our operations based @mdtiects we offer and the different markets we eeBased on this approach, we operate
through three segments: Flow Control, Motion Cdntrad Metal Treatment. Our principal manufacturagilities are located in the United
States in New York, North Carolina, and Pennsylaaand internationally in Canada and the Unitecgom.

Our strategy is to maintain a balanced portfoliachitgenerates consistent growth in sales and philfity. As a result of our strategy, we h
achieved this balance with revenues generated fieflense, energy, commercial aerospace and gendtetiial markets. In addition, to
maintain a diversified business portfolio, we ateatinue to develop new core competencies, suelteatronic technologies. We believe our
ability to design and develop future generationadfanced electronics systems is a strategic graveth for the high performance platforms
in our served markets. We intend to continue ta@eteour growth strategy which focuses on diveratfon in complementary markets that
demand high performance and highly engineered ptedind services.

Flow Control

Our Flow Control segment primarily designs, mantifees, and distributes highly engineered, critfoaletion products including valves,
pumps, motors, generators, instrumentation, antt@aglectronics. These products manage the floligafds and gases, generate power,
provide electronic operating systems, and monititical functions. This segment’s primary markets naval defense, commercial power
generation, oil and gas, and general industriahénnaval defense market, we provide power anpgyts@mn technologies and are a supplie
the U.S. Navy for the nuclear aircraft carrier andmarine programs with power and propulsion teldgies, instrumentation and control
systems, and shipborne aircraft and helicopteritanslystems. Government sales, primarily to the &y as a subcontractor, comprised
30%, 26%, and 33% of segment sales in 2009, 20@B2a07, respectively. The loss of this businesgdcbave a material adverse impact on
this segment as there were two customers in ourégalivision whose revenues exceeded 10% of thimerts 2009 sales. Revenues deri
from the sales of valves during 2009, 2008 and 2@@vesented 19%, 20%, and 22%, respectively,eo€ittmpany’s consolidated revenue.

The Flow Control segment consists of business unétsaged through five operating divisions: Eledftechanical Systems, Valve Systems,
Control Systems, Commercial Power and ServicesGihand Gas Systems. The segment has a globalmesthase with principal
manufacturing operations in the United States, @anand the United Kingdom.

Our Electro-Mechanical Systems division producesaded electro-mechanical and pumping solutionshi®mnaval defense, power
generation, oil and gas, and other general indlstrarkets. The division designs and manufactudgareced critical function pumps, motors,
generators, ship propulsors, mechanical sealstaant drive mechanisms, power conditioning eleaits, pulse power supplies, integrated
motor-controls, composite materials applicatioms| protection technologies solutions.
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This division develops, designs, manufactures,martbrms qualification testing of critical-functipelectro-mechanical solutions for its
primary customer, the U.S. Nuclear Navy, includingin coolant pumps, various other critical-functipmps, extremely power-dense
compact motors, main and ship service generatecgnslary propulsion systems, and design enginearidgesting services. The division
served the U.S. Navy for over 60 years and is @ solirce provider for various critical function guots. The division also overhauls and
provides critical spares for units serving thetfle@e operational platforms. Current platforms imtgithe Nimitz and Ford class aircraft carriers
and Virginia, Los Angeles, Seawolf, and Ohio clagismarines.

In addition, the division provides propulsion ma@and main generators to the non-nuclear U.S. Naeglyding the DDG 1000 destroyer
program. We are strengthening our relationship #iehU.S. Navy by participating in the design aeslelopment of major subsystems for the
U.S. Navy's Electro-Mechanical Aircraft Launch Syrst (“EMALS”), Advanced Arresting Gear (“AAG”) systefor installation on its future
aircraft carrier fleet, and the advanced pump antbrrdesigns for the next generation submaring.fl&e expanded our offerings to the
military to now include advanced electro-magnetimduct development for the U.S. Army as pulsed pdeehnology continues to advance
in the military weapons segment.

Electro-Mechanical Systems’ products are also soltbmplementary commercial markets, primarily eaclpower generation and oil and
gas. We have been a supplier to the nuclear powaédtansince its inception more than 50 years age pvdvide reactor coolant pumps, pump
seals, and control rod drive mechanisms for comialemaclear power plants. In 2008, we announcedicgtrdomestic new construction
contract for three Westinghouse AP1000 power plembe built in the United States. In 2007, we ammued our first award for reactor
coolant pumps for four new AP1000 nuclear powenisldo be built in China. Combined, these awardsassignificant milestone for both the
nuclear power renaissance and the globalizatioruolear power technology.

In the oil and gas market, we are utilizing ourreashmotor and pumping system expertise and pamngerith industry leaders to develop
advanced systems for offshore recovery, productad,transmission. Current programs encompassesauptsnping and powetense motor
for compact, integrated compressor systems. Thisidh has also expanded its offerings to includeandous waste pumps for the
Department of Energy (“DoE”) and in-line pumps foe hydrocarbon processing industry.

In the general industrial market, we design, dguedmd manufacture integrated motor-controls anteption technology solutions for
original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) and inglia customers. We engineer and manufacture adalje of rugged, reliable, and
internationally compliant products that smoothlyiol the amount of electrical current providedrtotors. Custom panel solutions include a
variety of low and medium voltage components, sagktarters, drives, contactors, breakers, and mfated devices. While this is a highly
competitive market, our installed base of over @Q00,control units with hundreds of custom desigsystems support customers in the
industrial heating, ventilation, and air conditiogi(“HVAC”) market, as well as in the municipal g&es and energy processing markets,
including petrochemicals, power generation, minemg transportation.

Our Valve Systems division produces high-perfornessygecialized valve solutions that control the flafdiquids and gases for vessels,
pipelines, and equipment for the defense, poweegion, oil and gas processing, and general indlstarkets. We design, engineer, and
manufacture spring-loaded, pilot-operated presseiief valves and solenoid-operated valves, as agthetal-seated industrial gate, butterfly
boltless slide, plug, angle, diverter, and baliealused in standard and advanced applicationading high-cycle, high-pressure, extreme
temperature, and corrosive plant environments.g@oalucts are highly engineered to meet stringerfibpaance and reliability requirements.
We also provide engineering support, testing, repaid consulting services globally.

Our valves are utilized in the nuclear propulsigstem of every nuclear submarine and aircraft eacommissioned by the U.S. Navy.
Current programs include the Virginia class subneend Ford class aircraft carriers. In additioe,provide spares and repair work for
various submarine classes, such as Los Angele$raheht, as well as the Nimitz class aircraft cnsi

In addition, the Valve Systems division designs arahufactures electro-mechanical and hydro-mechhsystems for landing helicopters
aboard naval vessels. The shipboard helicopterlimgnslystems are used by the U.S. Navy, U.S. OBastd, and more than ten other navies
around the world. We also design and build shipth@écraft storage structures, including telescdgwingars and doors. Specialized handling
systems are
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also designed and manufactured for towing sonamngind sweep systems for submarines and surface.shopfurther complement this
portfolio, in 2009 our Valves System Division aagai NuTorque, which designs and manufactures electrichgddaulic valve actuation ar
control devices primarily for Navy ships. In commiat markets, we provide specialized valves to camial nuclear power plants, oil and
gas refineries, production platforms and pipeliresl general processing industries worldwide. litaah, we are integrating our core
hardware technology with engineering software toagiwe product selection and inventory managememef@l industrial products include
hydraulic power units and components primarilytfer automotive and entertainment industries, sfigdigdraulic valves, air-driven pumps,
gas boosters, and directional control valves uséddustrial applications such as car transpontie@: Competition is based upon quality of
technology, price, installed base, and deliveryem

Our Controls System division develops, manufactuests, and services specialized electronic imstniation and control equipment,
including instrumentation for primary and secondemytrols, steam generator control equipment, vabtaators, and valve and heater
controls. This division provides custom designed emmmercial-off-the-shelf (“COTS") electronic ailit boards and systems to the U.S.
Navy. They also provide advanced valve controlierd predictive maintenance systems for the oilgasdand general industrial mark
There is strong competition in the COTS market,dmmpetition is limited by significant qualificaticand performance requirements. The
division also provides engineering and supportises/

Our Power Generation division designs, manufactuistributes, and qualifies flow control produfiis nuclear power plants, nuclear
equipment manufacturers, hydroelectric energy prery the DoE, and the Department of Defense (“Doliis division offers a wide rang
of critical hardware, including fastening systesyecialized containment doors, airlock hatchestédal units, bolting solutions, nuclear
storage solutions, machined products, valves, puamisenterprise resource planning, as well ad placess controls, including electrical
instrumentation, specialty hardware, and proprjet@tabase solutions aimed at improving safetypdat performance, efficiency, reliabili
and reducing costs. In addition, the division pdes distribution and servicing of OEM spare panis @alve components, training, on-site
services, staff augmentation, and engineering progmrelating to nuclear power plants.

We have maintained all of the regulatory certificas required to provide representations and éeatibn and/or qualify value-added nuclear-
grade products both domestically and internatign&lle compete in this market through offering eapanded array of nuclear technology,
industry-benchmarked QA programs, maintaining gdanstalled base, strategic alliances, residgmertise, and customer recognition from
our long-term service commitment to solving thequei challenges of the nuclear market.

Our Oil and Gas Systems division designs and matwies valves and vessel products for the oil arergfining market. Primary products
include coke deheading systems, fluidic catalytécking unit (“FCCU”) components, and web-enablefiveare for monitoring and process
control.

We are a provider of turnkey coker systems globaléywell as oil production platforms and storaglities, liquefied natural gas (“LNG”)
terminals and storage facilities, natural gas frgebperations, and power generation facilities: @ke deheading system, which includes
and bottom urikeading valves, isolation valves, cutting tools] salve automation, process control, and protecti@iems, enables safer ¢
drum operation during the refining process. Inctudethis portfolio of products is the DeltaGuard@ke-drum unheading valve, an
advancement in coke-drum unheading technology.patented technology is remotely operated, therefdrerently safe, easy to operate,
reliable, cost effective, and can be configuredaioy coke-drum application.

We also offer a delayed coker operations optinirasiystem featuring process control, interlocksevaontrol solutions, batch process data
acquisition, interactive operator batch sequenoegatures, batch scheduler, batch sequence e@dtomanagement, asset protection, and
predictive maintenance capabilities. In additioe, provide inspection, installation, repair and rtexiance, and other field services for harsh
environment flow control systems. Competition igigated by our technical expertise, proven techgpland extraordinary service.
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Our FCCU product portfolio includes custom-desigaalves, engineered pressure vessels, and compigme&omponents that operate in
industrial process applications including fluidsidual, and catalytic cracking units as well as pogeneration, steel manufacture, and ore
reduction. We manufacture, repair, and modify ceifthambers, hydrotreaters, and American Sociebfjexhanical Engineers (“ASME”")

code pressure vessels. In addition, we providede wiray of field services, including equipmentaiepmodification, or replacement;
inspection of valves, controls, pipes, and refrgctimings; maintenance planning and schedulingvidves or control systems; diagnostic
assistance with troubleshooting problems in cilittcenponents; and on-site system training. Dudéoctitical and severe service applications
requiring highly engineered solutions, competitiotimited to a few major competitors. While we dgarice competition on most major
projects, our large installed base product suitegrated systems capability, and aftermarket sermitract a significant customer base.

In 2009, Oil and Gas Systems acquired EST Groughwrovides heat management and cooling systeausided in 1968, Expansion Seal
Technologies (“EST") provides life-cycle managemfemtcritical processes in the energy and defersekats. Its more well-known product,
the Pop-A-Plug®, is technology that is used indghi@nd gas industry. Additionally, EST manufactiteeat exchangers, condensers, oil
coolers, piping systems, and pressure vesselsals8Tprovides a comprehensive range of field sesvior heat management systems.

The following list defines our principle productsdathe markets served by the Flow Control segment.

Naval Defense

. Nuclear propulsion system components
Valves (butterfly, globe, gate, control, safetyiafe solenoid, hydraulic operated ga
Pumps
Motors and generato
Instrumentation and contrc

. Instrumentation and control systems

. Aircraft carrier launch and retrieval equipment

Advanced electromagnetic syste
Flight critical components (aircraft shuttle compats, holdback bars, capacity selector val

. Submarines
Cable handling systems for towed arr
. Surface ships

Helicopter handling and traverse syste
Tie-down component

. Non-nuclear products

Smart leakless valve

Sut-safe ball valve:

Je-fuel pumping valve:

Steam generator control equipm:

Air driven fluid pumps

Engineering, inspection, and testing serv

Ground Defense

. Electromagnetic rail gun pulsec-power supply systenr
Oil & Gas Processing

. Critical process valves

DeltaGuard coker unheading val
Boltless catalyst control slide valv
Butterfly and triple offset butterfly valve
Pilot-operated relief valve

Pressure relief valve

Safety valve:

Solenoid, gate, and globe vah

Steam valve

. Fluidic catalytic cracking equipment

Air grids and cyclone
Risers, headers, and wye secti
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. Engineered process vesss

Cat cracking reactors and regenerator hi
Hydrotreators

. Advanced valve controls and prognostics technolog

Digital valve controller with redundant technolc
Signature recognition for fault and leak detec
Integrated valve, automation, safety, and congsleans

. Web-enabled process control softwar
Power Generation
. Advanced motors and generator:
. Pumps
Reactor coolant and proce
. Valves

Solenoid, ball, butterfly, check, pressure relgffety and pilot-operated relief valves, and gatkglobe (motor operated, air
operated, pneumatically operatt

. Control rod drive mechanisms
. Design, fabrication of nuclear facility airlocks, dors, hatches
. Instrumentation
. Diagnostic and test equipmen
. Fluid sealing technologie
. Actuators
Pneumatic and hydraul
. Plate heat exchangers
. Separation technologies
. Fasteners
. Advanced bolting technologies
. Diamond wire concrete cutting
. Engineering services
. Equipment qualification, commercial grade dedicatio
. Inventory management systems
General Industrial
. Valves
Directional control and pneumar
. Power Control Systems

Integrated motc-control system
Variable frequency drive
Pump control panel

Low voltage solid state starte
Medium voltage control
Protective technology solutiol

. Critical machinery fault detection and prognosticssystems

The Flow Control segment competes globally on gsidof technical expertise, price, delivery, cactal terms, previous installati



history, and quality of our products and servidslivery speed and the proximity of service censeesimportant with respect to aftermarket
products. Sales to commercial end users are acaraglprimarily by direct sales employees andgimain instances, by manufacturers’
representatives located in primary market areas) as nuclear power utilities, principal boiler amdctor builders, processing plants, and
architectural engineers. For its military contrathe segment receives requests for quotes fromepcbntractors as a result of being an
approved supplier for naval nuclear propulsioneyspumps and valves. In addition, sales enginegngost non-nuclear sales activities. The
segment uses the direct distribution basis fortamjfiand commercial valves and associated spate. par

Backlog for this segment at December 31, 2009,%ta582 million, of which 46% will be shipped aftame year, compared with $1,167
million at December 31, 2008. Approximately 40%hié segment’s backlog as of December 31, 2008riscised of commercial nuclear
orders with Westinghouse Electric Company LLC (“Mifgghouse”). Sales to Westinghouse representedaippately 13%, 11%, and 6% of
total segment sales in 2009, 2008, and 2007, régplc Additionally, 38% of this segment’s backlag of December 31, 2009 is comprised
of defense orders mainly with the U.S. Navy. S#besur largest naval defense customer accountetiifdr, 10%, and 12% of this segment’s
total sales in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectivel$%, 5%, and 6% of our consolidated revenue aespely. The loss of
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these customers would have a material adverset effiethe business of this segment and in total. Raerials are generally available in
adequate quantities, although pricing of raw mateiis impacted by commodity prices.

Motion Control

Our Motion Control segment designs, develops, magtufes, and maintains sophisticated, high-perfoomanechanical actuation and drive
systems, mission-critical embedded computing corapband control systems, and sensors for the aatespefense, and general industrial
markets. This segment is managed through threatipgdivisions: Engineered Systems, Integratedi@gnand Embedded Computing.

Our Engineered Systems division’s product offeritmythe commercial and aerospace defense markessstof electro-mechanical and
hydro-mechanical actuation control components gstems that are designed to position aircraft @bsuirfaces or operate flaps, slats, and
utility systems such as canopies, cargo doors, aeapay doors, or other moving devices used onadiirdircraft applications include
actuators and electro-mechanical control systemwh&Boeing 737, 747, 757, 767, 777, 787 civita@nsports, the Lockheed Martin F-16
Falcon fighter jet, the Boeing F/A-18 Hornet fighjet, the F-22 Raptor fighter jet, the Bell BoeMeg22 Osprey, and the Sikorsky Black
Hawk and Seahawk helicopters. The Engineered Sgstigrision is also developing flight control actuat and weapons handling systems for
Lockheed Martin’s F-35 Lightning Il Joint Strikedfiter (“F-35 JSF”) program. The F-35 JSF is thetqgeneration fighter aircraft being
designed for use by all three branches of the iBary as well as by several foreign governmeAts a related service within the Enginee
Systems division, we also provide commercial agdinthe military, and general aviation custometh womponent overhaul and repair
services in support of our manufactured produdtese€ services include the overhaul and repair dfgwfic, mechanical, and electro-
mechanical components and component exchange agffaica wide array of aircraft.

Engineered Systems also designs, manufactureslistntutes electro-mechanical and electro-hydcaadituation components and systems
and electronic controls for military tracked andegted vehicles within the ground defense marketedksas for commercial markets utilizing
drive technology. These products consist of tuaneting and stabilization, weapons handling systeand,suspension systems for armored
military vehicles. In addition, we provide a ramafegeneral industrial products, such as fuel cdntatves for large commercial transport
ships, stabilization systems, and a variety of cemuial servo valves.

Engineered Systems products are sold primarilyutiinca domestic sales force and international nétwbrepresentatives. A direct sales
force is utilized with assistance from commissioagénts. Sales are made directly to OEMs, airliaed,government agencies.

Our Engineered Systems products are sold in cotigretvith a number of other suppliers, some of whrame broader product lines and
greater financial, technical, and human resourtles.competitive environment for these product®cu$ed on a short list of companies, with
recent strategic trends at the prime contractaellssulting in a smaller market of vertically igtated suppliers, while prime contractors
specialize in integration and final assembly. Brieehnical capability, performance, service, angtstment are the primary forces of
competition, together with an ability to offer stiduns to perform control and actuation functionsadimited number of new production
programs.

Our Integrated Sensing division develops and mantuifas a range of sensors, controllers, and elgctomntrol units for commercial and
aerospace defense and general industrial marke¢selproducts include position, pressure, and teafpe sensors, solenoids and solenoid
valves, cooling fans and motors, smoke detectios@s, torque sensing, ice detection and proteetipipment, air data computers, flight
data recorders, joysticks, and electronic signabdi@ning and control equipment. The division gisovides electric motors with controllers,
rotary sensors, controllers, and smaller electralrarical actuation subsystems for flight, engimel @nvironmental control for aircraft and
space applications. This division’s products atd poimarily to prime contractors and system ingggrs, both directly and through a network
of independent sales representatives on a worldbages. Position sensors are used on primary ftightrol systems and engine controls on
Airbus and Boeing aircraft, regional and businésgat, and on many U.S. and European militargraift. Air data, flight recorder, and ice
detection and protection equipment are suppliedday helicopter applications. We also sell our pats for use in a wide range of industrial
applications such as off-highway vehicles, powematility vehicles, process controls, and motorsport

Competitive discriminators for Integrating Sensingude technical leadership and support, prodtice@mnd customer service. For that
reason Integrated Sensing products are marketedghifacilities in the United
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Kingdom, Germany, and the United States, and matwiag facilities have now been established in Me»xand China.

Our Embedded Computing division designs, develapd,manufactures rugged embedded computing boeetiffeodules and integrated
subsystems primarily for the aerospace and groefiehde markets. Using standard, commercially availelectronics technologies, coupled
with application domain specific knowledge, we off®OTS hardware and software modules based oniodestry standards. Our advanced
subsystems are integrated using standard modutesiaircustom modules based on in-house intellepnogderty content as well as third-
party technology. We also offer a broad array @psut services that include life-cycle managemtatnical support, training, and custom
engineering of modules and fully integrated sulmyst We are a single source for high density radaressing, data communications, dig
signal processing, video and graphics, recordinreatwork storage, analog acquisition and recoastmy, radar, and integrated subsystems.
Our COTS modules and integrated subsystems argnaekto perform in harsh conditions where spac@weand power constraints are
critical. Our rugged products perform in extrem@aperatures and environments, enduring high shodk/dmation, as well as in commercial
environments for use in laboratory and benign emritent applications.

Embedded Computing’s subsystem products are useevide variety of mission-critical military appéitons, including fire control, aiming
and stabilization, munitions loading, and environtaéprocessors for military ground vehicles. Thpselucts are used on demanding cor
platforms such as the Bradley fighting vehicle, Aiams M1A2/A3 tank, Expeditionary Fighting Velacland the Brigade Combat Team
Interim Armored Vehicle, which is part of the UAmy’s modernization and transformation effortsisTtivision also provides the mission
management, flight control computers, and the semsmagement units for advanced aerospace platfochsling Global Hawk, the U.S.
Air Force’s high-altitude and high-endurance unneghaerial vehicle.

Embedded Computing’s modules are used in numeiivegrograms today, including the Improved Braddequisition System and the
Improved Tow Acquisition System. The modules featiine highest performance commercial processoopen standard board architectul
The division has taken a leadership position inditadting and definition of the newest embeddeddaads, which are designed to address the
more demanding performance and data bandwidthnergents of emerging applications. Embedded Comgustipplies technology for some
of the most advanced military platforms includihg +-22 Raptor, F-35 JSF, and P-8 Poseidon and\Mafine Corps’ Ground/Air Task
Orientation Radar (“G/ATOR”) program.

This division’s products are manufactured at itsragions located in North America and Europe. Qodpcts are sold primarily to prime
contractors and subsystem suppliers located piyriarthe United States, United Kingdom, and Candmbdh directly and through a network
of independent sales representatives. In recems yeampetition in the embedded electronic systeraket has migrated away from
traditional board competitors toward fully integratsubsystem and system providers selling to paingesecond-tier defense and aerospace
companies. Competition in this market is baseduality of technology, price, and delivery time tarket.

In 20009, this division increased its portfolio afjh-performance embedded computing products wethattquisition of Skyquest Systems
Limited (“Skyquest”). Skyquest is a supplier ofcdft video displays, recorders, and video/radawveders for surveillance aircraft
applications in the aerospace and defense mafegguest’s display and recorder technology suppltsanding airborne surveillance
missions with proven reliability in harsh environm® Skyquest products include, the Video Managerggstem (“VMS”), which provides
fully integrated systems that enable observerspélnts to select, view, and record the images thesd with maximum fidelity. The Skyquest
VMS enables multiple camera sensor outputs to éwed simultaneously and supports touch-screenalaftmoving maps, video recorders,
mission computers, and the selection and transomigsivideo for downlink. Skyquest also develogtiveight, airworthy standard and High
Definition (“HD”) video recorders for airborne s@ilance. Skyquest systems have been fielded moadrange of demanding applications
including police, customs, coast guard, searchrascue, and border patrol operations.

The following list defines our principle productsdathe markets served by the Motion Control segment
Commercial Aerospace

. Commercial Jet Transports, Business/Regional Je

Secondary flight control actuation systems andtedetechanical trim actuato
Aircraft cargo door and utility actuation syste

Fire detection and suppression control syst

Position sensor

Pressure sensa

Solenoids and solenoid valv

Throttle quadrant

Fans and motot
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. Helicopters

Rotor ice protection systen

Flight data recordel

Air data computer

Logic control modules and utility control electros

Mission video displays, distribution systems, reless and associated produ

. Repair & Overhaul Services

Component overhaul and logistics support serv

Aerospace Defens

. Transport and fighter aircraft

Weapons bay door actuation syste

Weapons handling syster

Secondary flight control actuatic

Rotary actuation for environmental control syste
Video displays, recorders and radar convel
Position sensor

Solenoids and solenoid valv

Throttle quadrant

Fans and motot

. Helicopters

Radar warning systen

Acoustic processing syster

Flight data recordel

Air data computer

Position sensor

Logic control modules and utility control electros

Mission video displays, distribution systems, reless and associated produ

. Unmanned aerial vehicles

Integrated mission management and flight controlmaters
Weapons handling syster
Position sensor

Ground Defense

. Tanks and light armored vehicles

Naval Defense

Digital electromechanical aiming and stabilizatgystems
Fire control, sight head, and environmental corpirocessor
Single Board Computers for target acquisition syst
Hydropneumatic suspension syste

Ammunition handling systen

Position sensor

. Marine Propulsion

Marine engine diesel valve injection syste

Other Military & Government

. High performance data communication products

Power conversion produc

. Space programs

Control electronics and senst

. Security systems

Perimeter intrusion detection equipm



FAA

Airport surface detection equipment radar videapssing
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General Industrial Markets
. Automated industrial equipment

Air, sea, and ground simulatic

Fractional horse powe"“HP") specialty motor:
Force transducel

Joysticks

Sensors

Sales by our Motion Control segment to its largestomer in 2009, 2008, and 2007 accounted for éflBotion Control revenue and 6% of
our consolidated revenue for each year. The loglsi@tustomer would have a material adverse effed¥lotion Control. Direct and end use
sales of this segment to government agencies, phintlae U.S. Government, in 2009, 2008, and 2G@&¢ounted for 70%, 64%, and 60%,
respectively, of total Motion Control sales. Altlybuthe loss of this business would also have anmahtalverse affect on Motion Control, no
single prime contractor to the U.S. Government hictv we are a subcontractor provided greater ti#8a 4f Motion Control revenue during
any of the last three years.

Backlog for our Motion Control segment at Decem®Er2009, was $443 million, of which 79% is expéddie be shipped after one year,
compared with $510 million at December 31, 2008y Reaterials are generally available in adequatetfies from a number of suppliers.
However, we utilize sole source suppliers in tieigment. Thus, the failure and/or inability of aessburce supplier to provide product to
Motion Control could have an adverse impact onfmamcial performance. While alternatives coulddentified to replace a sole source
supplier, a transition could result in increasests@nd manufacturing delays.

Metal Treatment

Our Metal Treatment segment provides various metgiltal processes that are used primarily to imerne service life, strength, and
durability of highly stressed, critical-function taéparts. Metal Treatment provides these senticesbroad spectrum of customers in
commercial and aerospace defense, oil and gas,rgmmeration, and general industrial markets, iicg automotive/transportation,
construction equipment, and metal working.

This segment consists of several business unitatharganized by three principal services thatsdgment offers which include peening,
specialty coatings, and heat treating.

Shot peening is a process by which the durabifityetal parts is enhanced by the bombardment opdinés surface with spherical media,
such as steel shot or ceramic or glass beadsyrpress the outer layer of the metal. In addititit peen forming enables metal panels to be
shaped with aerodynamic curvatures that are assénalslwing skins of commercial and military airtraf

Laser peening is an advanced metal surface treapnecess that utilizes a unique high energy ldseeloped by the Lawrence Livermore
National Laboratory as enhanced by Metal Treatreagineers. The laser peening process is beinginggdduction to extend the life

critical industrial and flight turbine engine commamts. Future applications include high value,ew service components in aircraft
structures, oil and gas, medical implant, and neaaipplications. We retain the exclusive worldwidgts to the intellectual property
necessary for the use of this laser architectudaser peening of commercial products. Currenkig, gatents associated with the laser peeninc
technology are not material to our current operegti¢iowever, we believe that this technology hgsiicant potential and, thus, these pat
may become material to our future operations.

Specialty coatings primarily consist of the appgiiza of solid film lubricant coatings, which aredigned to enhance the performance of metal
components used in critical applications for a braange of industries. The coatings are appliedither an air spray or a dipping and
spinning process for bulk applications. We havesdiified this service into the growing medical ey the addition of a vapor deposition
process to apply parylene coatings to medical @syincluding rubber/silicone seals and wire fognimandrels used in the manufacture of
catheters. The conformal coating provides resigtansolvents, radiation and bacteria and is alscompatible. Parylene coatings are also
uniquely suited for use in niche electronic, oitlayas, and general industrial applications.
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Heat treating is a process of exposing metal part®t and/or cold temperatures to change the nmécdizand metallurgical properties of the
metal.

In addition to shot peening, laser peening, hesattitng, and specialty coatings, other metal treatrservices that are provided on a job shop
basis include shot peen forming, wet finishing, cestructive inspection, anodizing, and reed valeaufacturing.

The following list defines our principle productsdathe markets served by the Metal Treatment segmen

Commercial Aerospace
. Shot peen forming
Wing skins
. Shot peening

Aircraft structural componen
Landing gear componen
Turbine engine rotating compone

. Laser peening
Turbine engine rotating compone
. Coatings

Fastener:
Sliding component
Silicone/rubber medical componel

. Heat Treating
Aluminum structural componen
General Industrial
. Shot Peening

Highly stressed metal components susceptible igua
Welded components subject to distort

Architectural structure

Engine and transmission compone

. Heat Treating

Miscellaneous engine, transmission and structunalponent:
Miscellaneous aluminum and steel compon

. Coatings

Fastener:

Brake and suspension compone

Sliding component

Miscellaneous components subject to corrosion Adithg wear

Defense
. Shot Peening

Helicopter and fighter aircraft structural and fagengine componen

Through a combination of acquisitions and new pta@nings, we continue to increase Metal Treatrsamdtwork of regional facilities. Met
Treatment operations are now conducted from 6ditiasilocated in the United States, Canada, Uritedjdom, France, Germany, Sweden,
Belgium, Italy, Spain, Austria, and China. Our Mé&teeatment services are marketed directly by oopleyees. Although numerous
companies compete in this field and many custoinave the resources to perform such services theassale believe that our technical
knowledge and quality of workmanship provide a cetitjve advantage. We compete in this segment emésis of quality, service, and
price.

Raw materials are generally available in adequasatities from a number of suppliers, and we atematerially dependent upon any single
source of supply in this segment. We have no siamt working capital requirements outside of ndrindustry accounts receivable and
inventory turnover. Our largest customer in thigreent accounted for approximately 11% of Metal Treant sales during 2009 and ¢



during 2008 and 2007. Although the active custobaese is in excess of 5,000, the loss of this custamould have a material adverse effect
on our Metal Treatment segment.

The backlog of Metal Treatment was $2 million a®etember 31, 2009 and 2008, all of which is exgetd be recognized in the first
quarter of 2010. Due to the nature of our metaittrent services, we operate with a very
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limited backlog of orders and services that arevidled primarily on new manufactured parts. Thus,liacklog of this segment is not
indicative of our future sales, and as a resuls, sbgment’s sales and profitability are closeigradd with general industrial economic
conditions and, in particular, the commercial apaae market.

OTHER INFORMATION

Certain Financial Information

For information regarding sales by geographic negsee Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statésrcontained in Part 11, Iltem 8, of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In 2009, 2008, and 2007, our foreign operationegied 35%, 57%, and 42%, respectively, of outaxesarnings.

Government Sales

Our direct sales to the U.S. Government and saled 5. Government and foreign government end egeesented 42%, 36%, and 38% of
consolidated revenue during 2009, 2008, and 2@3pectively. U.S. Government sales, both directiadidect, are generally made under
standard types of government contracts, includixegfprice, fixed price-redeterminable, and cosspl

In accordance with normal practice in the case &. overnment business, contracts and ordersibjecs to partial or complete terminati

at any time, at the option of the customer. Inghent of a termination for convenience by the gorent, there generally are provisions for
recovery of our allowable incurred costs and a pridpnate share of the profit or fee on the worknpteted, consistent with regulations of the
U.S. Government. Fixed-price redeterminable cotdraenerally on naval programs, usually provide the absorb the majority of any cost
overrun. In the event that there is a cost undethencustomer recoups a portion of the underrsedbapon a formula in which the
customer’s portion increases as the underrun escesrthin established levels.

Generally, long-term contracts with the U.S. Goweent require us to invest in and carry signifidenels of inventoriable costs. However,
where allowable, we utilize progress payments ahdranterim billing practices on nearly all of #eecontracts, thus reducing the overall
working capital requirements. It is our policy &e& customary progress payments on certain ofaniracts. Where we obtain such paym
under U.S. Government prime contracts or subcotstréte U.S. Government has either title to oraussd interest in the materials and work
in process allocable or chargeable to the respectintracts. (See Notes 1.F, 3, and 4 to the Cidiasedl Financial Statements, contained in
Part Il, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 19-k the case of most Motion Control and Flow Gohsegment products for U.S.
Government end use, the contracts typically profadehe retention by the customer of stipulatectprtages of the contract price pending
completion of contract closeout conditions.

Patents

We own and are licensed under a number of UnitateSiand foreign patents and patent applicatiohighshave been obtained or filed ove
period of years. We also license intellectual prop® and from third parties. Specifically, theSJGovernment has licenses in our patents
that are developed in performance of governmentraots, and it may use or authorize others to lusénventions covered by such patents
government purposes. Additionally, unpatented meeaevelopment, and engineering skills, somelativhave been acquired by us
through business acquisitions, make an importamiribation to our business. While our intellectpabperty rights in the aggregate are
important to the operation of our business, we atoconsider the successful conduct of our busioessisiness segments to be materially
dependent upon the timing of expiration or protettf any one or group of patents, patent appboatior patent license agreements under
which we now operate.

Research and Development

We conduct research and development activitiesrurutomer-sponsored contracts, shared developroaetiacts, and our own independent
research and development activities. Customer-gpedsesearch and development costs are chargest®of goods sold when the
associated revenue has been recognized. Fundsaeceeider shared development contracts are a iedwftthe total development
expenditures under the shared contract and arershetias research and development costs. Compamgeed research and
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development costs are charged to expense whermrédc@ustomer-sponsored research and developnantygamounted to $29 million,
$32 million, and $45 million, in 2009, 2008, and)ZQrespectively, and were attributed to customattsin our Flow Control and Motion
Control segments. Research and development expircsesed by us amounted to $55 million in 200 aspared with $50 million in 2008
and $48 million in 2007.

Environmental Protection

We are subject to federal, state, local, and foréagys, regulations, and ordinances that goveliniies or operations that may have adverse
environmental effects, such as discharges to divaater. These laws, regulations, and ordinancesatsa apply to handling and disposal
practices for solid and hazardous waste and imlpasiéity for the costs of cleaning up and for @ntdamages resulting from sites of past
spills, disposals, or other releases of hazardobstances.

At various times, we have been identified as ami@hy responsible party pursuant to the ComprehenEnvironmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLAhdhanalogous state environmental laws, for thenclpaf contamination resulting from
past disposals of hazardous wastes at certainntwame former facilities and at sites to which among others, sent wastes in the past.
CERCLA requires potentially responsible persongayp for cleanup of sites from which there has leegiease or threatened release of
hazardous substances. Courts have interpreted CERETiImpose strict joint and several liability ol persons liable for cleanup costs. As a
practical matter, however, at sites where therarariple potentially responsible persons, the sadtcleanup typically are allocated among
the parties according to a volumetric or other dad.

Information concerning our specific environmentabllities is described in Notes 1.N and 13 to@unsolidated Financial Statements
contained in Part Il, Iltem 8, of this Annual RepantForm 10-K.

Executive Officers

Martin R. Benante, age 57, has served as the Caaiohthe Board of Directors and Chief Executivéicef of the Corporation since April
2000. He has been a Director of the Corporatiocesit®99.

David J. Linton, age 54, has served as Co-Chiet@ijog Officer of the Corporation since Novembef2@nd President of Curtiss-Wright
Flow Control Corporation since May 2004; prior is promotion to Co-Chief Operating Officer served\vdce President of the Corporation
from May 2004, Vice President of Program Managemieaytheon Network Centric Systems from Novemb@320 April 2004; Chief
Executive Officer, Cordiem, Inc. from April 2001 kbarch 2003; Vice President and General Manag&iledtric Systems, Hamilton
Sundstrand Corporation, June 1998 to April 2001.

David C. Adams, age 55, has served as Co-ChiefalipgrOfficer since November 2008 and prior toghismotion served as Vice President
of the Corporation from November 2005 and Presidé@urtiss-Wright Controls from June 2005; Seniare President, Electronic Systems
of Curtiss-Wright Controls from February 2004 tmd2005; Group Vice President, Integrated Sensorg April 2002 to February 2004.

Glenn E. Tynan, age 51, has served as Vice Presifl&nance and Chief Financial Officer of the faration since June 2002; Controller of
the Corporation from June 2000 to May 2002.

Michael J. Denton, age 54, has served as Viced@msiSecretary, and General Counsel of the Cdliparaince August 2001.

Glenn Coleman, age 42, has served as Vice PresiddnCorporate Controller of the Corporation siktzey 2008. Prior to his appointment,
Mr. Coleman spent the preceding 10 years with Agldaticent (formerly Lucent Technologies) in variqgsitions, including Finance Vice
President, Wireless Business Group from June 20@&tember 2007 and Finance Vice President, Angeficatroller from January 2002 to
May 2007.

Harry Jakubowitz, age 57, has served as Vice Reasaf the Corporation since May 2007 and as Treasif the Corporation since
September 2005; Director of Taxes of the Corpornafiom June 2002 to September 2005.

Employees

At the end of 2009, we had approximately 7,600 eyges, 9% of which are represented by labor uraokscovered by collective bargaining
agreements.
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Available information

We file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly iépon Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, pruky statements for our annual
stockholders’ meetings, as well as any amendmeritsose reports, with the Securities and Exchargar@ission (“SEC”). The public may
read and copy any of our materials filed with tf&CSat the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 FeStiNE, Washington, DC 20549. The
public may obtain information on the operationttd Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at@-8BC-0330. The SEC also maintains
an Internet site at www.sec.gov that contains rtispproxy and information statements, and otherimation regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC, including our filingBhese reports are also available free of changaig/h our web site at

www. curtisswright.comas soon as reasonably practicable after we elecalbnfile that material with, or furnish it tohé SEC.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors.

We have summarized below the significant, knownemalrisks to our business. Our business, findreciadition, and results of operations
and cash flows could be materially and adversefaicted if any of these risks materialize. Additiamgk factors not currently known to us
that we believe are immaterial may also impairlmusiness, financial condition, and results of op@na. The risk factors below should be
considered together with information included elsere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as welbter required filings by us to the
Securities Exchange Commission, such as our For@'40Form 8-K’s, proxy statements for our annudereholder meetings, and
subsequent amendments, if any.

A substantial portion of our revenues and earndegends upon the continued willingness of the @& ernment and our other customers in
the defense industry to buy our products and sesvic

In 2009, approximately 42% of our revenues werévddrfrom or related to defense programs, with agijonately 15% attributable to U.S.
Navy procurements. U.S. defense spending has icisiigrbeen cyclical, and defense budgets tenistowhen perceived threats to natic
security increase the level of concern over thentrgis safety. At other times, spending by the taily can decrease. While Department of
Defense funding has grown rapidly over the pastyears, there is no assurance this trend will coeti Competing demands for federal ft
can put pressure on all areas of discretionarydipgnwhich could ultimately impact the defense d¢petd A decrease in U.S. government
defense spending or changes in spending allocatiolu result in one or more of our programs beé&dyrced, delayed, or terminated.
Reductions in defense industry spending may or muayave an adverse effect on programs for whiclpregide products and services. In
the event expenditures are reduced for productsiareufacture or services we provide and are noebkfg revenues from foreign sales, new
programs, or products or services that we currentipufacture or provide, we may experience a réaluah our revenues and earnings and a
material adverse effect on our business, finargabition, and results of operations. Further,dhem be no assurance that our significant
customers will continue to buy our products andises at current or increased levels.

As a U.S. Government contractor, we are subjeatrtamber of procurement rules and regulations.

We must comply with and are affected by laws amgilegions relating to the award, administratiord aerformance of U.S. Government
contracts. Government contract laws and regulatdiest how we do business with our customers Bmsipme instances, impose added costs
on our business. A violation of specific laws aadulations could result in the imposition of fireesl penalties or the termination of our
contracts or debarment from bidding on contract®sE fines and penalties could be imposed fongatld follow procurement integrity and
bidding rules, employing improper billing practicasotherwise failing to follow cost accountingratiards, receiving or paying kickbacks, or
filing false claims. We have been, and expect ttioae to be, subjected to audits and investigatlpngovernment agencies. The failure to
comply with the terms of our government contractgld harm our business reputation. It could alsaltén our progress payments being
withheld.

In some instances, these laws and regulations iemgosis or rights that are more favorable to theegument than those typically available
commercial parties in negotiated transactions.éxample, the U.S. Government may terminate anypfjovernment contracts and, in
general, subcontracts, at its convenience as wédtiradefault based on performance. Upon termingto convenience of a fixed-price type
contract, we normally are entitled to receive thechase price for delivered items, reimbursemenaflowable costs for work-iprocess, an
an allowance for profit on work actually completadthe contract or adjustment for loss if completid performance would have resulted in
a loss. Upon termination for convenience of a ceishbursement contract,
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we normally are entitled to reimbursement of allbigscosts plus a portion of the fee. Such allowablts would normally include our cost
terminate agreements with our suppliers and subactors. The amount of the fee recovered, if amyelated to the portion of the work
accomplished prior to termination and is determibgaegotiation.

A termination arising out of our default could espaus to liability and have a material adverseceffe our ability to compete for future
contracts and orders. In addition, on those cotg#ffac which we are teamed with others and arghprime contractor, the U.S. Governn
could terminate a prime contract under which wesasebcontractor, irrespective of the quality of services as a subcontractor.

In addition, our U.S. Government contracts typicajpan one or more base years and multiple opgansy The U.S. Government generally
has the right to not exercise option periods anyg nud exercise an option period if the agency issadisfied with our performance on the
contract. U.S. Government Procurement may adveedtdgt our cash flow or program profitability.

A significant reduction in the purchase of our proi by the U.S. government would have a matediatese effect on our business. The risk
that governmental purchases of our products malngestems from the nature of our business withite. government, where they may:

. terminate, reduce or modify contracts or subcotdrddts requirements or budgetary constraintsngieg
. cancel mul-year contracts and related orders if funds becamagailable; ant

. shift its spending priorities
In addition, as a defense contractor, we are stifijaisks in connection with government contrastsluding without limitation:

. the frequent need to bid on programs prior to ceti the necessary design, which may result ion@seen technological
difficulties and/or cost overrun

. the difficulty in forecasting long-term costs arahedules and the potential obsolescence of prodeleted to long-term, fixed
price contracts

. Contracts with varying fixed terms that may notéeewed or followed by follo-on contracts upon expiratio
. cancellation of the follo-on production phase of contracts if program regoéets are not met in the development ph
. the failure of a prime contractor customer to perfen a contract; ar

. the fact that government contract wins can be abateby other contractol

Our business could be adversely affected by a ivegatidit by the U.S. Government

We operate in a highly regulated environment anc: teeen, and expect to continue to be, routinetijted by the U.S. Government and
others. On a regular basis, we monitor our poliaies procedures with respect to our contracts sorenconsistent application under similar
terms and conditions and to assess complianceallitipplicable government regulations. Negativeitdirttlings could result in termination
of a contract, forfeiture of profits, or suspensaipayments. From time to time we are subject 18. (bovernment investigations relating to
our operations. Government contractors that aredda have violated the law, such as the Falsex@l&ict or the Arms Export Control Act,
or are indicted or convicted for violations of atliederal laws, or are found not to have actedaesibly as defined by the law, may be
subject to significant fines. Such convictions cbalso result in suspension or debarment from gowent contracting for some period of
time. Given our dependence on government contigicsimspension or debarment could have a matenarse effect on our business.
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Our operating results are subiject to fluctuations.

Our business is subject to changes in economi@syatd fluctuation in the timing of government pr@enent activities. As a result, our
annual and quarterly operating results may fluetuttis possible that our operating results fpadicular quarter may not meet the
expectations of securities analysts or investdmil&ly, securities analysts may issue reports mignading our common stock. These events
could cause the market price of our common stoaetdine.

Future terror attacks, war, natural disasterstlogroevents beyond our control could adversely shpar businesses.

Despite our concerted effort to minimize risk ta puoduction capabilities and corporate informatgstems and to reduce the effect of
unforeseen interruptions to us through businessragty planning and disaster recovery plans, testattacks, war, natural disasters, such as
hurricanes, floods, tornados, pandemic diseasesther events such as strikes by a significantocost’s or supplier’s workforce could
adversely impact demand for or supply of our présland could also cause disruption to our facdlibe systems which could also interrupt
operational processes and adversely impact outyatnilmanufacture our products and provide ses/eed support to our customers. We
operate facilities in areas of the world that ageosed to natural disasters, such as but not lindéwurricanes, floods, tornados, and
pandemic diseases. For example, Hurricanes Ik&aistav in 2008 caused disruption to the oil andngasket for our products and services.
Similarly, the terrorist attacks of September 1002 and subsequent terrorist attacks worldwideezhdscreased demand in the commercial
aerospace market for our products and commercehawl and repair services. Financial difficultid®ur customers, delays by our
customers in production of their products, high farices, the concern of another major terrorita@d, and the overall decreased demand for
our customers’ products could adversely affectaparating results and financial position.

The success of our growth strategy is dependent appability to complete acquisitions and integratquired businesses.

Our strategy includes growth through acquisitigksa result, our future growth depends in part onability to implement our acquisition
strategy and successfully integrate acquired basa®into our existing operations. If we are unabldentify suitable candidates, negotiate
appropriate acquisition terms, obtain financingl anccessfully integrate acquired businesses imt@xisting operations, our growth strategy
may not be successful. In addition, acquisition®ie numerous risks, including difficulties in thesimilation of the operations,
technologies, services, and products of the acduioenpany, the potential loss of key employeesefacquired company, and the diversion
of our management’s attention from other businesgerns. This is the case particularly in the fisearters immediately following the
completion of an acquisition because the operatiditise acquired business are integrated into ¢thieieing businessesperations during thi
period. We cannot be sure that we will accurataljcgpate all of the changing demands that anyreuicquisition may impose on our
management, our operational and management infammsystems, and our financial systems. Once iatedr acquired operations may not
achieve levels of revenue, profitability, or protivity comparable to those of our existing opemasi@r may otherwise not perform as we
expected. We may fail to discover liabilities reigtto a pending acquisition during the due diligeimvestigation, liabilities for which we, as
the successor owner, might be responsible. Althauglseek to minimize the impact of potential unoigred liabilities by structuring
acquisitions to minimize liabilities and obtainimglemnities and warranties from the selling patttgse methods may not fully protect us
from the impact of undiscovered liabilities. Foaexple, indemnities or warranties are often limitedcope, amount, or duration, and may
fully cover the liabilities for which they were grided. If indemnities or warranties are limited llabilities that are not covered by the limi
indemnities or warranties could have a materiakesty effect on our business and financial condition

We use estimates when accounting for contractsn@dsin estimates could affect our profitabilitylarverall financial position.

Long-term contract accounting requires judgmergtied to assessing risks, estimating contract nesgiand costs, and making assumptions
for schedule and technical issues. Due to theagidenature of many of our contracts, the estimadfdntal revenues and costs at completion
is complicated and subject to many variables. Kkanmle, assumptions have to be made regardingtigth of time to complete the contract
because costs also include expected increasegjesvead prices for materials. Similarly, assumjtioave to be made regarding the future
impact of efficiency initiatives and cost reductieffiorts. Incentives, awards, price
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escalations, or penalties related to performancepotracts are considered in estimating revenugeofit rates and are recorded when there
is sufficient information to assess anticipatedqrenance. Because of the significance of the judgmand estimation processes described
above, it is possible that materially different amts could be obtained if different assumptionsenesed or if the underlying circumstances
were to change. Changes in underlying assumptoiresimstances, or estimates may have a materiarseeffect upon future period
financial reporting and performance. See “Critisatounting Estimates and Policies” in Part Il, Itém

New accounting standards could result in changesitanethods of quantifying and recording accountmnsactions, and could affect «
financial results and financial position.

Changes to Generally Accepted Accounting Principlebe United States (“GAAP”) arise from new aedised standards, interpretations,
and other guidance issued by the Financial Accagrtandards Board, the SEC, and others, as wellemtial change to International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS"). In addititimee U.S. Government may issue new or revised Sosbunting Standards or Cost
Principles. The effects of such changes may inchrdscribing an accounting method where none had peeviously specified, prescribing a
single acceptable method of accounting from amengral acceptable methods that currently existewoking the acceptability of a current
method and replacing it with an entirely differem¢thod, among others. Such changes could resuittanticipated effects on our results of
operations, financial position, and other finanomdasures.

Our earnings and margins may vary based on theofroxir contracts and programs.

At December 31, 2009, our backlog included botft oeismbursable and fixed-price contracts. Cost beirsable contracts generally have
lower profit margins than fixed-price contractso@uction contracts are mainly fixed-price contraatsd developmental contracts are
generally cost reimbursable contracts. Our earnamgsmargins may vary materially depending onypesg of long-term government and
commercial contracts undertaken, the nature optbducts produced or services performed under thostacts, the costs incurred in
performing the work, the achievement of other pannce objectives, and the stage of performanadiah the right to receive fees,
particularly under incentive and award fee congaistfinally determined.

Under fixedprice contracts, we receive a fixed price irrespeadf the actual costs we incur and, consequeatly,costs in excess of the fi)
price are generally absorbed by us. Under timeraaterials contracts, we are paid for labor at riatest hourly billing rates and for certain
expenses. Under cost-reimbursable contracts, dutbjaccontract-ceiling amount in certain casesarveereimbursed for allowable costs and
paid a fee, which may be fixed or performance badegvever, if our costs exceed the contract ceitingre not allowable under the
provisions of the contract or applicable regulagione may not be able to obtain reimbursementif@uah costs and may have our fees
reduced or eliminated. The failure to perform tetomer expectations and contract requirementsesauitrin reduced fees and may affect our
financial performance for the affected period. Unelgch type of contract, if we are unable to cdriosts we incur in performing under the
contract, our financial condition and operatinguitsscould be materially adversely affected. Cagrauns also may adversely affect our
ability to sustain existing programs and obtaimufatcontract awards.

Our backlog is subject to reduction and canceltighich could negatively impact our revenues asiliits of operations.

Backlog represents products or services that ostoowers have committed by contract to purchase frenBacklog as of December 31, 2009
was $1.6 billion, which includes estimates on caxts where indefinite quantities are specified.KMBagis subject to fluctuations and is not
necessarily indicative of future sales. The U.Segoment may unilaterally modify or cancel its gawts. In addition, under certain of our
commercial contracts, our customers may unilaterathdify or terminate their orders at any time tfoeir convenience. Accordingly, certain
portions of our backlog can be cancelled or redatdte option of the U.S. government and commkccistomers. Our failure to replace
cancelled or reduced backlog could negatively impac revenues and results of operations.

Our future financial results could be adverselyaeted by asset impairment charges.

At December 31, 2009, we had goodwill and othaarngtble assets of approximately $891 million, rfesezumulated amortization, which
represented approximately 42% of our total as€ats.goodwill is subject to an impairment test oraanual basis and is also tested when
events and circumstances indicate that goodwill beaympaired. Any excess goodwill resulting frore tnpairment test must be written off
in the period of determination. Intangible assethdr than goodwill) are generally amortized over tiseful life of such assets. In addition,
from time to time, we may acquire or make an investt in a business that will require us to record
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goodwill based on the purchase price and the \@tiee acquired assets. We may subsequently experienforeseen issues with such
business that adversely affect the anticipatedmetaf the business or value of the intangibletassed trigger an evaluation of the
recoverability of the recorded goodwill and intarigiassets for such business. Future determinatiosignificant write-offs of goodwill or
intangible assets as a result of an impairmentbieahy accelerated amortization of other intarggddsets could have a material negative
impact on our results of operations and finanaggidition.

We operate in highly competitive markets.

We compete against companies that often have greslts volumes and financial, research, humanpaarlieting resources than we have. In
addition, some of our largest customers could agw#ie capability to manufacture products or pre\sgdrvices similar to products that we
manufacture or services that we provide. This woeeslilt in these customers supplying their own potslor services and competing directly
with us for sales of these products or servicésfavhich could significantly reduce our revenuBarthermore, we are facing increased
international competition and cross-border constih of competition. Our management believes ttiafprincipal points of competition in
our markets are technology, product quality, penfamce, price, service, contractual terms, previestallation history, technical expertise,
investment, and timeliness of delivery. If we analle to compete successfully with existing or mewpetitors in these areas, our business,
financial condition, and results of operations doo¢ materially and adversely impacted.

Our future growth and continued success is depdéng®m our key personnel.

Our success is dependent upon the efforts of auoismanagement personnel and our ability to dtead retain other highly qualified
management personnel. We face competition for meamagt from other companies and organizations. Tiwerewe may not be able to ret
our existing management personnel or fill new manaent positions or vacancies created by expansiturmmover at our existing
compensation levels. Although we have enteredéhmge of control agreements with some membersrobsmanagement, we do not have
employment contracts with our key executives. Wieehaade a concerted effort to reduce the effetiiefoss of our senior management
personnel through management succession plannimgloEs of members of our senior management grould dlave a material and adverse
effect on our business. In addition, competitiondoalified technical personnel in our industrigéntense, and we believe that our future
growth and success will depend upon our abilitgtteact, train, and retain such personnel.

Our international operations are subject to risks wolatility.

During 2009, approximately 29% of our consolidatedenue was from customers outside of the UnitateStand we have operating
facilities in foreign countries. Doing businesganeign countries is subject to numerous risksluiding without limitation: political and
economic instability; the uncertainty of the alyilitf non-U.S. customers to finance purchases;ictist trade policies; and complying with
foreign regulatory and tax requirements that abjest to change. While these factors or the impéathese factors are difficult to predict, any
one or more of these factors could adversely affacbperations in the future. To the extent thagifjn sales are transacted in foreign
currencies and we do not enter into currency hédgesactions, we are exposed to risk of lossedalflectuations in foreign currency
exchange rates, particularly for the Canadian ddle Euro, Swiss franc, and the British poundn8icant fluctuations in the value of the
currencies of the countries in which we do busireesdd have an adverse effect on our results ofadipss.

We may be unable to protect the value of our iettllal property.

Obtaining, maintaining, and enforcing our intelleadtproperty rights and avoiding infringing on théellectual property rights of others are
important factors to the operation of our busin®gkile we take precautionary steps to protect eahmological advantages and intellectual
property and rely in part on patent, trademarlddrsecret, and copyright laws, we cannot assutétibgrecautionary steps we have taken
will completely protect our intellectual properights. Because patent applications in the UnitedeStare maintained in secrecy until either
the patent application is published or a pateigsiged, we may not be aware of third-party patgratent applications, and other intellectual
property relevant to our products that may blockuse of our intellectual property or may be usethird-party products that compete with
our products and processes. When others infringauoimtellectual property rights, the value of guoducts is diminished, and we may incur
substantial litigation costs to enforce our rigl8enilarly, we may incur substantial litigation ¢®sind the obligation to pay royalties if others
claim we infringed on their intellectual propertghts. When we develop intellectual property ardhtelogies in connection with U.S.
Government contracts, the government has the sejrale right to use that property.
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In addition to our patent rights, we also rely epatented technology, trade secrets, and confaléntormation. Others may independently
develop substantially equivalent information anchteques or otherwise gain access to or disclos¢éeghnology. We may not be able to
protect our rights in unpatented technology, treelarets, and confidential information effectivélye require each of our employees and
consultants to execute a confidentiality agreenaéttie commencement of an employment or consulétegionship with us. There is no
guarantee that we will succeed in obtaining anaimatg executed agreements from all employees mswtants. Moreover, these agreements
may not provide effective protection of our infortioa or, in the event of unauthorized use or disgte, they may not provide adequate
remedies.

Our operations are subject to numerous domestié¢rd@dhational laws, regulations, and restricticarsd noncompliance with these laws,
requlations, and restrictions could expose usnesfi penalties, suspension, or debarment, whidkl é@ve a material adverse effect on our
profitability and overall financial condition.

We have contracts and operations in many partseoivorld subject to U.S. and foreign laws and ratjoihs, including the False Claims Act,
regulations relating to import-export control (inding the International Traffic in Arms Regulatipromulgated under the Arms Export
Control Act), technology transfer restrictions, agfation of earnings, exchange controls, the pr€orrupt Practices Act, and the anti-
boycott provisions of the U.S. Export Administratidct. Failure by us or our sales representativeosultants to comply with these laws
and regulations could result in administrativejlcwr criminal liabilities and could, in the extree case, result in suspension or debarment
from government contracts or suspension of our exgvileges, which could have a material advezffect on our business.

We are subject to liability under environmental saw

Our business and facilities are subject to numefedsral, state, local, and foreign laws and reipra relating to the use, manufacture,
storage, handling, and disposal of hazardous raédexnd other waste products. Environmental laweigdly impose liability for
investigation, remediation, and removal of hazasdwmaterials and other waste products on propertyeosvand those who dispose of
materials at waste sites whether or not the waatedisposed of legally at the time in question.akéecurrently addressing environmental
remediation at certain current and former facitiand we have been named as a potentially regpemsirty along with other organization:
a number of environmental clean-up sites and mayabged in connection with future sites. We are iregiuto contribute to the costs of the
investigation and remediation and to take reseirvesir financial statements for future costs deeprethable and estimable. Although we
have estimated and reserved for future environmesrn@ediation costs, the final resolution of théabilities may significantly vary from our
estimates and could potentially have an advergetefin our results of operations and financial tpmsi

Unanticipated changes in our tax provisions or exp® to additional income tax liabilities couldeaff our profitability.

Our business operates in many locations under govemt jurisdictions that impose income taxes. Charig domestic or foreign income tax
laws and regulations, or their interpretation, dawsult in higher or lower income tax rates assiss changes in the taxability of certain
revenues or the deductibility of certain expentieeseby affecting our income tax expense and @ioffity. In addition, audits by income tax
authorities could result in unanticipated incredsemur income tax expense.

Our current debt, and debt we may incur in therfitaould adversely affect our business and firsmrsition.

As of December 31, 2009, we had $465 million oftamlistanding, of which $384 million is long-terraldl. Our debt consists primarily of
principal payable under our fixed rate senior nates principal payable at a variable rate of irdewmder our revolving line of credit. Our
level of debt could have significant consequenoe®fir business including: requiring us to useceash flow to pay principal and interest on
our debt, reducing funds available for acquisitiand other investments in our business; makingulrgevable to economic downturns and
increases in interest rates; limiting us from afiteg additional debt; and impacting our abilitypay dividends.
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A percentage of our workforce is employed undelective bargaining agreements.

Approximately 9% of our workforce is employed undelective bargaining agreements, which from tbiméime are subject to renewal and
negotiation. We cannot assure you that we willueeassful in negotiating new collective bargairaggeements, that such negotiations will
not result in significant increases in the codabbr, or that a breakdown in such negotiations mat result in the disruption of our operatic

Although we have generally enjoyed good relatioith Wwoth our unionized and non-unionized employéese are subject to labor actions,

we may experience an adverse impact on our opgregsults.

Substantial defaults by our customers related ¢owats receivable or the loss of significant cugmscould have a significant negative
impact on our business, results of operationsnfired condition or liquidity.

A significant portion of our working capital consisf accounts receivable from customers. If cust@mesponsible for a significant amount
of accounts receivable were to become insolveptlwrwise unable to pay for products and servioesiere to become unwilling or unable
make payments in a timely manner, our businesslitsasf operations, financial condition or liquigitould be adversely affected. An
economic or industry downturn could adversely arademally affect the servicing of these accounteieable, which could result in longer
payment cycles, increased collection costs, anautlsfin excess of management’s expectations.

We rely on certain suppliers as a sole source wipoments for some of our products.

Our manufacturing processes for our products aftersist of the assembly of purchased componentsitbayenerally available from a
number of different suppliers, though several sigpplare our sole source of certain componentsstile-source supplier should cease or
otherwise be unable to deliver such componentspperating results could be adversely impacteddutition, if our suppliers are unable to
keep up with our demand for purchased componentsvenare unable to locate additional sources gblgupur operating results could be
adversely impacted.

Our earnings and margins depend in part on sulkadoirperformance, as well as raw material and oo@pt availability and pricing.

Our businesses depend on suppliers and subcomgrdotaaw materials and components. At times satrectors perform services that we
provide to our customers. We depend on these striaotors and vendors to meet their contractuabakibns in full compliance with
customer requirements. These supply networks caetsmes experience price fluctuations. Our abtlitperform our obligations as a prime
contractor may be adversely affected if one or nofithese suppliers are unable to provide the agogen supplies or perform the agreed-
upon services in a timely and cagtective manner. While we have attempted to miéghe effects of increased costs through priceeases
there are no assurances that higher prices cartieffly be passed through to our customers ontleavill be able to offset fully or on a
timely basis the effects of higher raw materialstsdhrough price increases.

Our business involves risks associated with compiarufacturing processes.

Our manufacturing processes depend on certain stogdted and high-value equipment. Unexpectedrislof this equipment may result in
production delays, revenue loss, and significapairecosts. In addition, equipment failures cowdult in injuries to our employees.
Moreover, the competitive nature of our businessgsires us to continuously implement process chaigtended to achieve product
improvements and manufacturing efficiencies. Theseess changes may at times result in producttayd, quality concerns, and increased
costs. Any disruption of operations at our fa@hktidue to equipment failures or process interraptauld have a material adverse effect on
our business.
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The airline industry is heavily requlated, and # fail to comply with applicable requirements, oesults of operations could suffer.

Governmental agencies throughout the world, inclgdhe U.S. Federal Aviation Administration, or th&A, prescribe standards and
qualification requirements for aircraft componetnsjuding virtually all commercial airline and genal aviation products. Specific
regulations vary from country to country, althowgimpliance with FAA requirements generally satsfiegulatory requirements in other
countries. We include, with the products that wieteeour aircraft manufacturing customers, docutagan certifying that each part complies
with applicable regulatory requirements and mepdieable standards of airworthiness establishethbyFAA or the equivalent regulatory
agencies in other countries. In order to sell godpcts, we and the products we manufacture msstha certified by our individual OEM
customers. If any of the material authorizationgggprovals qualifying us to supply our producteeigoked or suspended, then the sale of the
subject product would be prohibited by law, whicbuld have an adverse effect on our business, fiaboendition, and results of operations.

From time to time, the FAA or equivalent regulatagencies in other countries propose new reguktiorthanges to existing regulations,
which are usually more stringent than existing fatjons. If these proposed regulations are adogtebdenacted, we may incur significant
additional costs to achieve compliance, which cdwslde a material adverse effect on our busingsasndial condition, and results of
operations.

Our future success will depend, in part, on oulitglib develop new technologies.

Virtually all of the products produced and soldusyare highly engineered and require sophistica@cufacturing and system-integration
techniques and capabilities. The commercial anéigowent markets in which we operate are charaetkby rapidly changing technologies.
The product and program needs of our governmentamanercial customers change and evolve reguladgordingly, our future
performance depends in part on our ability to idgmmerging technological trends, develop and nf@acture competitive products, and bri
those products to market quickly at cost-effecpiviees.

Potential product liability risks exist from thegglucts that we sell.

Our businesses expose us to potential productitiabsks that are inherent in the design, mantifes; and sale of our products and the
products of third-party vendors that we use orltedée currently maintain what we believe to betabie and adequate product liability
insurance. There can be no assurance, howevery¢hatll be able to maintain our product liabilitysurance on acceptable terms or that our
product liability insurance will provide adequat®fection against potential liabilities. In the avef a claim against us, a lack of sufficient
insurance coverage could have a material advefset @in our business, financial condition, and ftssef operations. Moreover, even if we
maintain adequate insurance, any successful claird hiave a material adverse effect on our busjriessicial condition, results of
operations, and on the ability to obtain suitabladequate insurance.

Increasing costs of certain employee and retireefits could adversely affect our results of opgerat.

Our earnings may be positively or negatively impddby the amount of income or expense we recorddopension and other postretirem
benefit plans. GAAP requires that we calculate memr expense for the plans using actuarial valnatiThese valuations reflect assumpt
relating to financial market and other economicdittons. Changes in key economic indicators camgkahe assumptions. The most
significant year-end assumptions used to estimasipn or other postretirement benefit expenséhfofollowing year are the discount rate,
the expected long-term rate of return on plan asseid expected future medical cost inflation.ddiion, we are required to make an annual
measurement of plan assets and liabilities, whiely result in a significant change to equity throagteduction or increase to other
comprehensive income. For a discussion regardimgdw financial statements can be affected by penand other postretirement benefit
plans accounting policies, see “Management’s Dsioasand Analysis—Critical Accounting Estimates &ulicies—Pension and Other
Postretirement Benefits” in Part Il, Item 7. AltligfuGAAP expense and pension or other postretirec@ritibutions are not directly related,
the key economic factors that affect GAAP expensaldvalso likely affect the amount of cash the campwould contribute to the pension
or other postretirement plans. Potential pensianirdmutions include both mandatory amounts requineder federal law, Employee
Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”), and distionary contributions to improve the plans’ fundtaltus.
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Our operating results and financial condition maydversely impacted by the current worldwide eatin@onditions.

We currently generate significant operating castv$l, which combined with access to the credit margeovides us with significant
discretionary funding capacity. However, currententainty in the global economic conditions resigjtirom the recent disruption in credit
markets poses a risk to the overall economy thalddmpact consumer and customer demand for outymts, as well as our ability to
manage normal commercial relationships with outamasgrs, suppliers, and creditors. If the curretuagion deteriorates significantly, our
business could be negatively impacted, includirghsareas as reduced demand for our products frelowadown in the general economy or
supplier or customer disruptions resulting fronhtay credit markets.

There are risks associated with owning our comnocks

Like any equity security, our common stock is sabje a number of risks that may adversely impactshare price including: there is a
limited trading market in our common stock; we nmay in the future be able to pay dividends on @mmmon stock; we may issue common
stock for acquisitions or other purposes that ctadlilutive to current stockholders; and we haagous anti-takeover defenses such as our
rights plan and our ability to issue preferred kttiat may discourage a potential acquirer.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

On December 1, 2009, we received a comment latter the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SE€lgted to its review of our Foi
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008@8 Form 10-K”), Form 1@ for the fiscal quarter ended September 30,
(“September 30, 2009 Form 10-Q”), and Definitive®r Statement on Schedule 14A for the 2009 annwdtimg of stockholders Proxy
Statement”) regarding our Compensation DiscussiahAnalysis disclosure (“CD&A").We responded to the SEC on December 16, Z
Subsequently, on January 8, 2010, February 12,,28id February 23, 2010 we received additional centnietters from the SEC on -
Proxy Statement in which the SEC requested us tndmur CD&A disclosure in our 2008 Form KO-We responded to the January 8, Z
and February 12, 2010 comment letters on Januar2@I0 and February 12, 2010, respectively, andiged the SEC with an amended
restated CD&A, incorporating the requested suppigaialisclosure by the SEC in their comment letteks of the date of the filing of tt
report on Form 1@, we are responding to the comment letter receimed-ebruary 23, 2010. We have included in thisudoent, wher
appropriate, information requested by the SEC stadf agreed to by us regarding certain comment rbpdhe SEC on the 2008 Form KO-
and September 30, 2009 Form QO-We still have unresolved comments regardingGb&A disclosure. We believe our responses adi
the SEC’s comments in all material respects. Weawihtinue to work to resolve these comments WithSEC.
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Item 2. Properties.

At December 31, 2009, we had 171 facilities worldisyiincluding manufacturing, metal treatment servaerospace component overhaul,
engineering, selling, and other facilities and austrative offices. Of these, we owned 45 locatiand leased the remaining 126 facilities.

Our principal physical properties as of December2®D9, are described below:

Location Description Segment Total Sq. Ft. Owned®
Cheswick, Pennsylvan Manufacturing Flow Control 698,000
East Farmingdale, New YofR Manufacturing Flow Control 270,000
Mississauga, Ontario, Cana Manufacturing Flow Control 195,000
Chester, Wales United Kingdom Metal Treatment ServicesShot Peening ar Metal Treatment 200,000
Wing Forming
Shelby, North Carolin. Manufacturing Motion Control 168,000

The aggregate remaining properties leased and quagezhch business segment, are as follows:

Segment Description Total Sg. Ft. Owned® Total Sq. Ft. Leased?
Metal Treatment Metal treatment service and other facilitie 919,000 982,000
and administrative office
Motion Control Manufacturing, aerospace component 139,000 944,000
overhaul, engineering, and other facilit
Flow Control Manufacturing, engineering, and other 438,000 1,165,000
facilities

(1) Sizes are approximate. Unless otherwise indicaiédwned properties are owned in fee, are notesulip any major encumbrance, and
are occupied primarily by factory and/or warehooperations

(2) In February 2003, we entered into a non-traditicadd — leaseback transaction with the Town of Babindustrial Development
Agency for our property located in E. Farmingd&lew York. Pursuant to the terms of the Lease, thenty acquired fee simple title
the property, and we are obligated to make leagmeats through 2014 to the Agency in lieu of payiegl estate taxes on said
property. The Lease is subject to cancellation euthpenalty on 90 days notice, and title revertkhia us upon the repayment of any
tax savings realized by L

The Company also leases 30,000 square feet obaffiace for its corporate headquarters locatedrisighany, New Jersey.

Our Cheswick, Pennsylvania facility is our largestation and is considered material to our busiogesations. The loss of this facility could
result in significant manufacturing delays. Theldlinigs on the properties referred to in this Iten@&ell maintained, in good condition, and
are suitable and adequate for the uses preseritly beade of them. Management believes the prodeictpacity of our properties is adeqt
to meet our anticipated volume for the foreseetlilee.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, we and ouridigiges are subject to various pending claimsslaitg, and contingent liabilities. We do |
believe that the disposition of any of these mattiedividually or in the aggregate, will have ateral adverse effect on our consolidated
financial position or results of operations.

We have been named in approximately 204 pendinguasvthat allege injury from exposure to asbedtoaddition, to date, we have secured
dismissals with prejudice and without prejudicepproximately 139 and 119 lawsuits, respectivatg are currently in discussions for
similar dismissal of several other lawsuits, andehaot been found liable or paid any material simaney in settlement in any case. We
believe that the minimal use of asbestos in out @ad current operations and the relatively noabiie condition of asbestos in our products
makes it unlikely that we will face material liaibjlin any asbestos litigation, whether individyatlr in the aggregate. We do maintain
insurance coverage for these potential liabiliied we believe adequate coverage exists to coyaurzamticipated asbestos liability.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securitydolders.
Not applicable
PART II
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchasesf Securities.

MARKET INFORMATION

Our Common Stock is listed and traded on the NewkYatock Exchange under the symbol CW.

2009 2008
Stock Price Range High Low High Low
Common Stock
First Quarte! $ 36.06 $ 226: $ 50.1¢ $37.6%
Second Quarte 33.2C 27.3¢ 52.9¢ 41.3(
Third Quartel 36.67 27.52 56.07 41.62
Fourth Quarte 35.2( 27.91 45.31% 24.8(

As of January 1, 2010, we had approximately 5, &@jfstered shareholders of our Common Stock, $1a@@adue.
DIVIDENDS

In the third quarter of 2007, we increased our tgubrdividend payment to $0.08 per share, a 33&teise over the prior dividend of $0.06
per share and the fourth increase in the dividémces2000. Our quarterly dividend payments werestant in 2008 and 2009. Our quarterly
dividend payments were constant in 2008 and 2009.

2009 2008
Common Stock

First Quarte! $ 008 $ 0.0¢
Second Quarte 0.0¢ 0.0¢
Third Quartel 0.0¢ 0.0¢
Fourth Quarte 0.0¢ 0.0¢

Page 27



SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY CAMNENSATION PLANS

The following table sets forth information regamgliour equity compensation plans as of Decembe2@19, the end of our most recently
completed fiscal year:

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of future issuance
securities to be under equity
issued upon exercise Weighted average compensation plans
of exercise price of (excluding securities
outstanding options, outstanding options, reflected in the first
Plan category warrants, and rights warrants, and rights column)

Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs 4,411,723(a $32.79 2,266,702(b

Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotgers None Not applicable Not applicable

(&) Consists of 4,162,143 shares issuable upon exetmastanding options and vesting of performasttares, restricted shares, and
restricted stock units under the 2005 Omnibus Loegn Incentive Plan and the 1995 Long-Term Incenklan, 180,112 shares
issuable under the Employee Stock Purchase Pldrf®468 shares outstanding under the 2005 StackfBt NonEmployee Director
and the 1996 Stock Plan for NEmployee Directors

(b) Consists of 1,319,165 shares available for futytéoa grants under the 2005 Omnibus Long-Term lticerPlan, 889,298 shares
remaining available for issuance under the Empl&teek Purchase Plan, and 58,239 shares remaivdilgfale for issuance under the
2005 Stock Plan for N-Employee Directors
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The following performance graph does not constisaticiting material and should not be deemed fidedhcorporated by reference into any
of our other filings under the Securities Act oe tBecurities Exchange Act of 1934, except to ttemewe specifically incorporate this
information by reference therein.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the annual changhkerctimulative total return on our Company’s Comr8tack during the last five fiscal
years with the annual change in the cumulativd tetarn of the Russell 2000 index, the S&P Smal®a0 Index, and the S&P 5i
Aerospace & Defense Index. The graph assumes astment of $100 on December 31, 2004 and the reiment of all dividends paid
during the following five fiscal years.

CORMPARISON OF CTMULATIVE FIVE VEAR TOTAL RETURN
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Curtiss-Wright Corp 10C 95.7¢ 131.0] 178.37 119.5¢ 113.3¢
S&P SmallCap 600 Index 10C 107.6¢ 123.9¢ 123.5¢ 85.1¢ 106.97
Russell 200( 10C 104.5¢ 123.7¢ 121.8: 80.6¢ 103.8¢
S&P 500 Aerospace & Defense 10C 115.9: 145.0¢ 173.1: 109.87 136.9¢
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| tem 6. Selected Financial Date

The data presented in the following table is detifrem the audited financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(In thousands, except per share data) 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Net sales $1,809,69 $1,830,14 $1,592,12. $1,282,15! $ 1,130,92!
Net earning: 95,22 109,39( 104,32¢ 80,56¢ 75,28(
Total asset 2,142,04. 2,042,03! 1,985,56! 1,592,15! 1,400,28!
Total debt 465,09: $ 516,70¢ 511,90 364,87 364,90:
Basic earnings per she $ 21C % 24t % 23t % 18 $ 1.74
Diluted earnings per sha $ 208 % 241 % 23z % 182 $ 1.72
Cash dividends per she $ 03z $ 03z $ 028 % 024 $ 0.2C

All per share amounts have been adjusted to redlect-for-1 stock split on April 21, 2006.

See notes to the consolidated financial statenfenesdditional financial information.
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| tem 7. Managemern’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

Analytical Definitions

Throughout management’s discussion and analydisaricial condition and results of operations, tdrens “incremental” and “basalte use

to explain changes from period to period. The tdnoremental” is used to highlight the impact aditibns had on the current year results,
for which there was no comparable prior-year peridterefore, the results of operations for acgois# are incremental for the first twelve
months from the date of acquisition. The remairboginesses are referred to as the “base” businesmgrowth in these base businesses is
referred to as “organic.” In 2009, we changed th#ndtion of “organic” to exclude the effect of feign currency translation. In the results
presented below, the prior years’ data has beeateelsfor comparability. We feel this change pregidreater transparency to the readers of
our results of operations.

Therefore, in 2009, our organic growth calculatidnsnot include the operating results related 102009 acquisitions of Nu-Torque, EST
Group, Inc., and Skyquest Systems Ltd. Similary2009, our organic growth calculations excludesnimonths of operating results of our
2008 acquisitions for VMETRO SA and Mechetronicdditg Limited, and eight months of operating resddtr Parylene Coating Services,

as they are considered incremental. We sold owrFatoduct line located in Brecksville, Ohio and oammercial aerospace repair and
overhaul business located in Miami, Florida on MaR009 and May 9, 2008, respectively. The resfltsperations for these businesses have
been removed from the comparable prior year pefimdgurposes of calculating organic growth figuaesl are included as a reduction of our
incremental results of operations from our acqioiss.

COMPANY ORGANIZATION

Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finarcondition and Results of Operations begins waittoverview of our company,
followed by economic and industry-wide factors irofrdg our company and the markets we serve, a skson of the overall results of
operations, and finally a more detailed discussiothose results within each of our reportable apeg segments.

We manage and evaluate our operations based qndtiects and services we offer and the differethigtries and markets we serve. Based
on this approach, we have three reportable segmfeots Control, Motion Control, and Metal TreatmeRor further information on our
products and services and the major markets séxywedr three segments, refer to the Business Omgmsriin Part |, Item | of this annual
report on Form 10-K. The following charts represaunt sales by market for 2009 and 2008:
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Market Analysis and Economic Factors

In 2009, Curtiss-Wright generated strong finanpiiformance due to continuing demand for our adedmroducts, improved operating
performance, and the diversification of our corekets: defense, energy, commercial aerospace, @melg industry. Despite the macro-
economic impacts of a significant U.S. financialrke decline as well as a volatile energy markat substantially impacted global demand,
Curtiss-Wright produced healthy sales and profé thits highly diversified product portfolio antrée operating segments that are solidly
positioned in our core markets.
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Our strong defense sales growth of 15% was driyeindreased demand for our technologies acroswatiches of the military. In particular,
we experienced strong growth in our naval markett88%6 due to the ramp up of the Virginia class sulmegorogram and ongoing work on
the CVN-78 and CVN-79 aircraft carriers and in gaitar the Electro-Mechanical Aircraft Launch Syst€‘EMALS”) program. In ground
defense, we achieved robust growth of 11% dued@ased demand for our embedded computing techeslog new domestic programs
and upgrades, as well as a number of foreign mjlpéatforms. In aerospace defense, we achievedtprof 15%, benefiting from solid
positions on nearly every U.S. fighter jet progras:well as increased content on helicopters anthaned aerial vehicles. There are
indications defense spending will increase butsibwer rate after several years of significantéases as supplemental budgets decrease,
development programs are delayed, and the curr@miristration looks to decrease troops stationedaah

Our defense market growth was offset by a 10% dedl our commercial markets, which experiencecelogemand for certain products and
services because of the global financial crisises@homic decline. In particular, we experienceaisicantly lower demand in our general
industrial market of 25%, a decline of 17% in oilramd gas markets, and a decline of 15% in ourroensial aerospace market. These
declines were partially offset by strong growthoim power generation market of 15% due to a contion®f significant maintenance work
on operating reactors and increased productiore@nreactors internationally.

Economic Factors Impacting Our Marke

Looking forward, we believe that our commercial keds will continue to experience pressure fromglobal economic downturn, but our
unique and highly engineered products, which guecafly provided through long-term programs, wibindinue to generate demand. U.S.
defense spending levels are expected to grow miaderélowever, higher costs for labor will likelgauce funding available for development
and production programs. We expect the commereigispace market to remain stable in the near-temewa program deliveries
successfully ramp production and drive demand forenfuel efficient designs and the global economadovery stimulates the travel and
transportation industries. In addition, we expegitthued demand in our energy markets, fueled balnuclear power construction, as well
as the focus on resource independence and envirdahigsues.

General Economy

Many of our industrial businesses are driven igédgpart by global economic growth, especially i thited States. In 2009, the U.S.
economy, as measured by real gross domestic pr@@&iofP"), continued to deteriorate significantlyrihg the first half of the year reflecting
the global economic recession sparked by declmése housing market, a massive downward corre@tidine financial markets, and a
significant decline in energy demand. Despite theegnment intervention with the Treasury Departrisehtoubled Asset Relief Program
(“TARP”) in 2008, considerable economic softnesaaaed during the first half of 2009 because ofdbeerely restricted access to capital,
reduced economic demand, and a decline in induptdgaluction and capacity utilization rates. In @0the broader economy is expected to
begin to recover, and we are cautiously optimigtat our commercial businesses will experience angd demand in the second half of the
year. We believe the substantial backlog for oumrcial nuclear power technologies and healthyatetdor commercial aircraft deliveri
in the near-term, combined with the strong positéour defense programs, should generate statuétgble returns.

Defense

During 2009 approximately 42% of our business ithanmilitary sector, predominantly in the Unite@i8s, and characterized by long-term
programs and contracts driven primarily by the UD8partment of Defense (“DoD”) budgets and fundigls. In 2009, U.S. military
spending levels, as measured by the U.S. DoD figndiegan to slow after years of strong growth. H@vefunding on critical platforms as
well as technology upgrades provided solid groviitte U.S. defense budget request for 2010, a leadétigator of our defense market,
increased approximately 4%, including supplemespiahding of approximately $130 billion. We haveelwiversified portfolio of products
and services that supply all branches of the Uiltany and also participate in several foreignitaily programs,.
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We have content on many high performance defersgfophs including: aircraft carriers, submarinesstdoyers, and the F-18 Super Hornet
for the U.S. Navy; the U.S. Coast Guard Deepwategnam; the F-16 Falcon, F-22 Raptor, V-22 Ospagygl Unmanned Aerial Vehicle
programs, such as the Global Hawk, for the U.SFairce; and the UH-60 Black Hawk, AH-64 Apache, @tt+47 Chinook helicopters, the
Abrams Tank, the Bradley Fighting Vehicle, and $teyker for the U.S. Army. We also provide a varief products to non-U.S. military
programs in Europe, the Asia Pacific region, theldié East, South America, and Canada. In additi@nare involved in many of the future
military systems that are currently in developmenth as the F-35 JSF, P-8 Poseidon, the Expedlijidfighting Vehicle, the CVN aircraft
carrier shipboard aircraft launching and arrestipgtems, the Electromagnetic (“EM”) Gun progrand amext-generation advanced motor.

The Defense Appropriation Bill for Fiscal Year 20b@luded significant changes to programs importar@urtiss-Wright. The F-22 Raptor
production program and the Army’s Future Combat&@ys program were canceled, along with the DDG H¥¥droyer program after
construction of the first three ships that werevimesly authorized. However, the budget also inethdonfirmation or addition of new
programs such as continued support and fundingggmning construction of two Virginia Class subimeas in FY2011, a restart of the DDG
51 Class destroyer construction program, and tiotieof the Ohio Class SSBN submarine replacemesgram with $495 million of
Research and Development (“R&D”) funding.

In 2009, the U.S. Navy and its prime contractonstiomed contracting for the components and systepsired for the construction of eight
Virginia-class submarines under a multi-year carit(adMYC”), reaffirming its commitment to provideability to the submarine program, its
workforce, and supplier base after achieving sigaift cost and construction schedule reductionsgtis3eWright has received $382 million in
awards for secondary propulsion systems, generatainges, and critical function pumps from the UN&wvy which will generate a long-term
revenue stream.

In aerospace defense, we anticipate incrementdirigron programs such as the F-35, Global Hawk,Ra8das they transition from
development to production programs, as well asngtaeemand for helicopters, such as the Black H8elahawk, and Night Hawks, which
continue to be in high utilization in both Iraq aAffjhanistan. In ground defense, new productiorersénd resets on the Bradley Fighting
Vehicle have largely been fulfilled, reducing demam 2010. While we anticipate ground vehicle madzation programs will continue to be
funded, the timing is uncertain and likely to des® in the short-term after years of rapid gromtimfthe supplemental defense budgets.
However, current platforms, such as the AbramsgdBsa and Stryker, have strong momentum, and wieipate future spending will
continue to leverage technology upgrades onto thexgams, as well as the development of newer ethand unmanned platforms.

While the core defense budget is expected to grodermately, reductions in supplemental spendingyedsas the trimming of procurement
and investment accounts, could negatively impaetall’demand for some of our technologies. In tharfierm, however, the global war on
terror, emerging security challenges around thbgyland the need to replace waut-equipment make precipitous reductions unlikéile
DoD funding fluctuates year-by-year and programpbygram, the primary risk facing us would be thenieation of a nuclear program, such
as the aircraft carrier or submarine. Although wenitor the budget process as it relates to progiamich we participate, we cannot
predict the ultimate impact of future DoD budgets.

Commercial Aerospace

Approximately 12% of our revenue is derived frora tilobal commercial aerospace market. Our primaecyd in this market is Original
Equipment Manufacturer (“OEM”) products and sersife commercial jets. However, we have expandegthre regional and business jet
sectors with new content on the Cessna, Embraéd,_earjet platforms, and we are providing incregsiontent to commercial helicopters.
Our Motion Control segment primarily provides fligtontrol and utility actuation systems, sensansl, @ther electronics to Boeing as well as
electronic products to Airbus. Our Metal Treatmssgment forms all of the wing skins for Airbus eaft and also services highly stressed
components on turbine engines, landing gear, andhéti structures. Demand for our commercial aesosproducts and services is primarily
driven by increased customer production levelduiting new platforms for both Boeing and Airbus;rieased demand for Sikorsky
helicopters, and our successful introduction of peaducts for existing programs.

Our commercial aerospace business is expectednaimestable in 2010 as we are well positioned bofahe commercial aerospace
platforms in production and development. The lardeser of our commercial aerospace business iBIQB&rts, which is highly dependent
new aircraft production. Industry data expects aesp
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decline in 2010 in commercial aircraft deliveripgmarily due to continued delays in new programd Bmited financing alternatives, which
should be offset by higher demand for OEM partefienish inventories, which were depleted dueakha@onservation measures during
2009, and an improving outlook for both regionadl &isiness jets. Global airline traffic is anotlmglicator for long-term growth in the
commercial aerospace industry, and economic gravhe of the primary drivers of global airlineffrademand. The global economy
continued to contract in 2009 due to the lingefmpacts of the financial crisis, and global trafficparticular deteriorated. However, we
expect to see the beginning of increased orde2810, as capacity picks up and industry destockottpms. In addition, our diversification
into business, regional, and helicopter marketsilshprovide expanded opportunities in our aerosjparsness.

Oil and Gas

Approximately 15% of our revenue is derived frora thil and gas market. We provide critical-functi@ives, process vessels, and control
electronics to this market through our Flow Cons®yment as well as Metal Treatment services dmyhgressed metal components. Our
significant portfolio of advanced technologies flois market includes integrated systems technotodgseloped for secondary refining
processes such as delayed coking, catalytic crgckimd hydrotreating, as well as a large portfofisafety-related valve technologies and
digital process control electronics, which provmietection throughout the entire refinery, as waslin petrochemical and other processing
plants.

The most prevalent driver impacting this marketapital spending by refiners for maintenance, ugpgsacapacity expansion, safety
improvements, and compliance with environmentalil&ipns. Refiner profitability and global crudé piices in general will impact their
capital spending levels. In 2009, refining margirese negatively impacted by a dramatic plummetlicasts and weakening fuel demand
globally due to the economic recession. While ditgs began improving late in the year, refinerygmes have remained low, indicating
reduced capital expenditures in the near-term. Hewave believe a base level of maintenance cagihding will result in continued
demand for our products, in particular for our pres-relief valve technologies and field servi@ssrefineries opportunistically service or
upgrade equipment which has been operating atdipiacity in recent years. Additionally, global eowimental concerns will drive
incremental spending to comply with more stringemissions standards. Finally, as global dependencetural resources persists, oil
exploration deepens, and transport requirementsrwidle anticipate additional opportunities to pdavour flow control products to meet
these challenges. While we temper our outlookHerdil and gas market based on a number of cumaritet and geopolitical events, we take
a long-term view that energy and energy producti@msmission, and consumption will continue tovie a foundation of economic
strength.

Power Generatiol

Approximately 19% of our revenues are derived ftbmmcommercial power generation market, where ypelsua variety of highly
engineered products and services, including reacmolant pumps, control rod drive mechanisms, \@glugotors, containment doors, bolting
solutions, and engineering planning and suppovices through our Flow Control segment. In additie are one of a small number of
companies which provides N-stamp quality assuraecéfication necessary for supplying nuclear pleaipment. Many of the companies
that originally participated in the nuclear powéarn construction market years ago have since @xitis market.

Our strong growth in recent years is a result efthS. plant recertification process. Nearly altref 104 operating U.S. nuclear power plants
have applied for or will be applying for plant ligxtensions as they reach the end of their cuA@tear operating lives. As of December 31,
2009, approximately 59 plants have received pifmektensions, applications from 18 additionahtdahave been submitted and are pending
approval, and letters of intent to apply have badmitted from 21 more plants with expected appbcasubmittal dates from 2010 through
2017.

In addition to plant recertifications, there argesal emerging factors that could precipitate gpoe@sion in commercial nuclear power dem
over the next several years. Continued growthaball demand for electricity, especially in devetapcountries with limited supply, will
require increased capacity. The Energy Informagigancy forecasts that electricity demand will irase by more than 1% annually through
2030. In addition, the continued supply constraamtd environmental concerns attributed to the ocadependence on fossil fuels have led to
a reassessment of the value of nuclear technoleglyeamost efficient and environmentally friendbuece of energy available today. As a
result, we expect growth opportunities both doneadlif and internationally, although the timing aflers remains uncertain. Domestically,
plant life extensions are ongoing and applicatimng&pproximately 25 new power plants have beemstid to the Nuclear Regulatory
Commission (“NRC"). Thus far, the Westinghouse ABQ@eactor design has been selected for 14 ofdtenpal new reactors. Our
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Flow Control segment has significant content onAR4000 reactor, the only Generation Ill+ advandesign certified by the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission. In 2008, we were awardedrdract to provide reactor coolant pumps (“RCPe¥)three AP1000 power plants to be
built in the United States.

Internationally, new nuclear plant constructiomdsive. Currently there are approximately 53 neacters under construction, 142 more
planned, and another 327 proposed. In particulainaintends to expand its nuclear power capadslisignificantly through the construction
of new nuclear power plants over the next severaty. In September 2007, we were awarded contrétttdVestinghouse Electric Company
and China’s State Nuclear Power Technology CorpmrdtSNPTC”) to provide RCPs and associated tetdgyofor four AP1000 power
plants to be built in China. With these developreantderway, our Flow Control segment is well positid to take advantage of the
expansion in this industry over the next decade.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared with YeaedbDdcember 31, 2008

For the year ended December 31, 2009, sales fa@dhgpany were $1,810 million. This was a decre&$20 million, or 1%, from $1,830
million in 2008. The decrease in sales was largeken by a decrease in organic sales of $37 millin2%. The decline in organic sales was
driven by a reduction in our Metal Treatment segnoéi$51 million and partially offset by an increais our Motion Control segment of $15
million. Organic sales for our Flow Control segmesre essentially flat over the prior year periodremental sales from our 2008 and 2009
acquisitions and divestitures were $43 million &.2r'he remaining sales decline of $27 million or #&s due to the unfavorable effects of
foreign currency translation.

Across the company, we experienced significantetdas in organic sales within our general indastidil and gas, and commercial
aerospace markets due to generally weak globalbeci@erconditions. The decline in sales to the gdnedustrial market is attributed to
depressed sales for our automotive, industrialrobptoducts, and services across all of our segsn&tonomic pressures on our customers
in the oil and gas market caused delays for newrgsthcement for our coker valve products as wsebtaer valves and services within our
Flow Control segment. Similarly in our commerciat@space market, we experienced a decline in demvihioh our Metal Treatment
segment and, to a lesser extent, delayed ordenstémrated sensing products within our Motion Colgegment. While challenged in several
markets, we continue to experience strong growtiuinpower generation and defense markets whidieproffset the aforementioned
decreases. The increase within our power generatarkets, primarily in our Flow Control segmensuked from higher sales of valves and
engineering services to plant operators, as wekastor coolant pumps for the AP1000 nuclear ogacfn increase was realized across all
our defense markets. Our Motion Control segmentstiamhg growth in the aerospace, ground and nafahde markets and our Flow Con
segment had strong growth in the naval defenseehdvlost notably, the growth in our navy and aeaasgpdefense markets was driven by
increased sales on the Ford class aircraft candrGlobal Hawk Unmanned Aerial Vehicle prograrespectively.

Backlog decreased 3% to $1,627 million at Decer8tie2009, from $1,679 million at December 31, 2008w orders declined by $502
million ($1,730 million versus $2,232 million), 82% during 2009. In 2008, we received a large oirdexcess of $300 million related to our
next-generation reactor coolant pumps for the ARIf@lear power plants that did not recur in theent year. Acquisitions, net of
divestitures, contributed an incremental $44 millio new orders from the comparable period in 2008.

Operating income for 2009 was $169 million, whigdtkased $27 million, or 14%, from $197 millior2i@08. Organic operating income
decreased by approximately $30 million in 2009, levbur 2008 and 2009 acquisitions, net of divestguhad $6 million in incremental
operating losses. Our Metal Treatment and Flow @bsegments’ organic operating income declined %irth 14%, respectively, mainly due
to under-absorption of overhead costs resultingfsignificantly lower volumes in our general indiedtand oil and gas markets, offset
partially by cost reduction programs. The decréaseir Metal Treatment and Flow Control segments partially offset by an increase in-
Motion Control segment’s organic operating incorh8%%6. This increase was the result of several @mnring events that negatively
impacted the margins in 2008 as well as current gaangs realized from cost reduction programgiaDic research and development,
selling, general, and administrative costs remaassgntially flat as a percentage of sales oveprilbe year due to cost reduction programs.
Please refer to Note 10 to Condensed Consolidatesh€ial Statements for more information regarding restructuring. Foreign currency
translation had an additional favorable impact®féillion on our results in 2009 versus 2008.
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Net earnings for 2009 totaled $95 million or $2@@8 diluted share, a decrease of 13% as compa®&tD@million or $2.41 per diluted she

in 2008. As compared to the prior year period,ltieer operating income noted above was partialfgeifby a $4 million decrease in interest
expense and a $10 million decrease in tax expémseest expense decreased for 2009, as compaaD8& due to lower average interest
rates partially offset by higher debt levels. Offiective tax rate for 2009 was 34.4% compared t@%bin the same period of 2008. Our 2009
effective tax rate included a tax benefit principalue to a Canadian tax rate change which wasfigroffset by an increase in state tax
expense. The 2009 effective tax rate was also &olpimpacted by an increase in research and dewedot tax credits from our Canadian
and U.K. operations.

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared with Yeaedbdcember 31, 2007

For the year ended December 31, 2008, sales fdZahgpany were $1,830 million. This was an increz#sk238 million, or 15%, from $1,5¢
million for 2007. The increase was mainly due to 2008 and 2007 acquisitions, partially offset loy divestiture of Curtiss-Wright
Accessory Services, which generated $140 millioiménemental sales. Organic sales increased $10@dmbor 6%, for 2008. The increase in
organic sales was led by an increase in our Flomti@bsegment of $67 million, followed by increase®ur Motion Control and Metal
Treatment Segments of $25 million and $10 milli@spectively. Foreign currency translation negétivapacted sales by $5 million, or less
than 1%, for 2008.

In our base businesses, higher sales to the pamergtion and defense markets drove our orgares gabwth, partially offset by lower sales
to the general industrial and oil and gas markdigher organic sales of $93 million to the powengmation market were primarily driven by
our Flow Control segment as a result of a $75 arilincrease in sales for our next generation reactolant pumps for the AP1000 nuclear
reactors for China and the United States. Orgaal&sdo the defense markets increased $33 milliith,increased sales to the ground and
aerospace defense markets of $21 million and $1Bmirespectively, driven primarily by our MotidBontrol segment’s embedded
computing products. The increased sales to thengrdafense market relates primarily to contenth@nBradley Fighting Vehicle, driven by
the Improved Bradley Acquisition System (“IBAS”)ggram, while the increases in sales to the aerespeiense markets was mainly due to
increased demand for our embedded computing predisetd in various U.S. Air Force and U.S. Army paogs. Partially offsetting these
increases was a decline in sales to the genenastindl and oil and gas markets of $16 million &8dmillion, respectively. The decrease in
sales to the general industrial market was driwea Hecline in demand for shot peening servicerimMetal Treatment segment resulting
from depressed sales in the automotive industrg.détrease in the oil and gas market was due étag oh the timing of new order
placement for our coke deheading systems and ¢laigkialytic cracking units in our Flow Control segmh This came as a result of a
significant hurricane season, which shut downrnitéd operations in a number of refineries aloreg@ulf Coast, followed by tightening of
the financing markets and general economic conditauring the fourth quarter.

Backlog increased 29% to $1,679 million at Decen#igr2008 from $1,304 million at December 31, 200&w orders increased by $362
million ($2,232 million versus $1,870 million), @8%. This increase was driven by new orders inFdawv Control segment for the Virginia
class submarine and aircraft carrier programs dsasestrong orders in our Motion Control segmemtdmbedded computing products. Our
Flow Control segment also received a large ordeexcess of $300 million, for reactor coolant purapghree new AP1000 power plants to
be built domestically. Acquisitions, net of divéstes, contributed an incremental $119 million @worders from the comparable period in
2007.

Operating income for 2008 was $197 million, an @ase of $17 million, or 10%, from $179 million i@ . Organic operating income
increased by approximately $12 million in 2008, efdur 2008 and 2007 acquisitions, net of divestguhad $3 million in incremental
operating income. The increase in organic operatiogme was driven by our Flow Control and Metadtment segments, which had org
operating income growth of 28% and 4%, respectivegrtially offsetting this increase was a declimeur Motion Control segment of 5%.
While the Company’s operating income increasedraipg income margins declined 60 basis points0t@% in 2008 from 11.3% in 2007.
There were several key events that negatively itggamargins in 2008, including delays in certaimatercial aerospace programs, a write-
off of deferred contract costs after receipt obatcact cancellation in the fourth quarter of 2088¢ an increase in our inventory reserve due
to the change in status of the Eclipse bankrugdey.organic selling, general, and administrativeteancreased by 11% in 2008, ahead of our
organic sales growth of 6%. This increase was lardiven by higher labor and benefit costs to supthe Company’s growing

infrastructure. Organic research and developmestsatecreased as a percentage of sales,
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mainly due to the completion of the design phashefreactor coolant pumps for the AP1000 nucleactors. In addition, foreign currency
translation had a favorable impact on operatingnme of $2 million.

Net earnings for 2008 totaled $109 million or $2p&t diluted share, an increase of 5% as compar8#iG4 million or $2.32 per diluted sh:

in 2007. As compared to the prior year period,Higher operating income noted above was partidfsedby a $2 million increase in interest
expense and a $10 million increase in tax expdnggErest expense increased in 2008, as compar2@Di, due to higher average outstanding
debt associated with the funding of our acquisgjamhich was partially offset by a decrease inrggerates. Our effective tax rate for 2008
was 35.3% as compared to 32.3% in 2007. In 200*eemived a tax benefit related to tax law chanigé€sanada, the United Kingdom, and
Germany.

Segment Performance

We operate in three principal operating segmentherbasis of products and services offered anétetmserved: Flow Control, Motion
Control, and Metal Treatment. See Note 18 to thesGlidated Financial Statements for further segrfirancial information. The following
table sets forth revenues, operating income, opgratargin, and the percentage changes on thass,ifer 2009 as compared with the prior
year periods, by operating segme

Year Ended December 31, Percent Changes
(In thousands, except percentages) 2009 2008
2009 2008 2007 vs. 2008 vs. 2007
Sales
Flow Contro $ 985,17: $ 971,74« $ 790,32¢ 1.4% 23.(%
Motion Contro 621,03¢ 594,37t 546,95 4.5% 8.7%
Metal Treatmer 203,48( 264,02( 254,83¢ (22.9%) 3.€%
Total Curtiss-Wright $ 1,809,69! $ 1,830,14 $ 1,592,12 (1.1%) 14.%
Operating Income:
Flow Contro $ 92,72 $ 102,39 $ 77,40: (9.4%) 32.2%
Motion Contro 80,94¢ 60,35¢ 60,91( 34.1% (0.€%)
Metal Treatmer 19,89: 52,14: 50,88( (61.9%) 2.5%
Total Segmen 193,56: 214,89! 189,19 (9.€%) 13.€%
Corporate & Othe (24,247 (18,339 (20,009 32.2% 83.2%
Total Curtiss-Wright  $ 169,31¢ $ 196,56: $ 179,18 (13.%) 9.7%
Operating Margins:
Flow Contro 9.4% 10.5% 9.8%
Motion Contro 13.(% 10.2% 11.1%
Metal Treatmer 9.8% 19.7% 20.(%
Total Segmen 10.7% 11.7% 11.9%
Total Curtiss-Wright 9.4% 10.7% 11.5%

Note: The 2008 and 2007 segment financial datable@s reclassified to conform to our 2009 finansialtement presentatio

Flow Control
Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared with YeaedbD@cember 31, 2008

Our Flow Control segment reported sales of $98%anifor 2009. This was a year over year incredsgl8 million, or 1%, from $972

million. The increase was mainly due to our 2008ugsitions of EST and Nu-Torque, partially offsgtdur divestiture, which previously
generated $20 million, or 2% of incremental sal&ganic sales were flat for 2009; however, we s@ong increases in both our power
generation and defense markets of $41 million é8&rillion, respectively. These increases wereetfiily declines in the oil and gas market
of $52 million and the general industrial marke®&6 million. The remaining sales decline of $6limil was due to unfavorable effects of
foreign currency translation.
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Organic sales remained flat as compared to the peiar; however, we experienced significant fluttues across all of our major markets.
Increased sales to the power generation marketmeialy driven by domestic nuclear sales, as wesgpced increased demand for plant
maintenance projects. These projects, driven bingrof refurbishment cycles, can vary in timingrfrgeriod to period. We also experienced
increased sales of our next generation reactomabpump for the AP1000 nuclear reactors beingtococted in China and the United States.
Increased sales to the defense market were maielyadour naval defense programs and the productidrord class aircraft carriers, most
notably our Electro-Magnetic Aircraft Launching $m (“EMALS”). Our Virginia class submarine prodiaect and development programs
also had increased sales. Offsetting these incse@see decreased sales to the domestic oil anchgdeet which resulted from delays in the
timing of new order placement for our coker produetsulting from more restrictive financial marketduced energy demand, and weak
economic conditions globally. Traditional oil andsgvalve products also generated lower sales da@dovnturn in capital spending and
maintenance expenditures by our customers. Pgrafetting the decreased sales to the domedtandigas market was increased demand
for our international services in refinery repairgintenance, and spares. Our general industriddendeclined due to lower demand for our
industrial control products and automotive produesulting from depressed economic conditions.

Backlog increased 1% to $1,182 million at Decen@ier2009 from $1,167 million at December 31, 2008w orders declined by $347
million ($980 million versus $1,327 million), or 26during 2009. This decrease was a result of &larder in excess of $300 million in the
prior year related to our next-generation reactmiant pumps for the AP1000 nuclear power plaras did not recur in the current year.
Acquisitions, net of divestitures, contributed aoremental $17 million to new orders from the corapée period in 2008.

Operating income for 2009 was $93 million for olm Control segment. This was a decrease of $1omilor 9%, as compared to $102
million in 2008. Organic operating income decreaBgd million from the prior year. Organic operatingome margins decreased 150 basis
points to 9.1% in 2009 from 10.6% in 2008. Our migaperating income was primarily impacted by #t $h sales mix toward lower margin
products as well as changes in long-term contizats in the current year and prior year. Operatiraggins were also negatively impacted by
the under-absorption of overhead costs resultiogn fsignificantly lower volumes in the oil and gaslayeneral industrial markets. These
declines were patrtially offset by increased volumesur commercial nuclear power market and lowgreases due to cost reduction
programs. Our 2009 acquisitions contributed $2iomlbf incremental operating income in 2009, whigs primarily due to a gain of $2
million recognized on the acquisition of Nu-Torqudich was accounted for as a bargain purchaser @udgisition accounting that became
effective January 1, 2009. Foreign currency traimsichad an additional favorable impact of $3 roiflior 3% on our results in 2009 versus
2008.

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared with YeaedBeécember 31, 2007

Our Flow Control segment reported sales of $97Hanifor 2008. This was an increase of $181 million23% from $790 million in 2007.
This increase was mainly due to our 2007 and 2@@8iaitions of Benshaw, Valve Systems and Cont&tsgntech, which generated $116
million, or 15%, in incremental sales. Organic satereased $67 million, or 9%, in 2008. Organiesgrowth was driven by an increase in
sales to the power generation market of $89 milveinich was partially offset by a decrease in stdebe oil and gas and defense markets of
$12 million and $5 million, respectively. Foreigarcency translation negatively impacted sales byn#iBon, or less than 1%, for 2008.

Higher organic sales to the power generation mawkeet primarily driven by increased sales of $78iomi for our next generation reactor
coolant pumps for the AP1000 nuclear reactors fun&€and the United States. The remaining incregmsales to the power generation ma
resulted from higher demand for our engineeringises and fasteners products related mainly to t@aance projects for nuclear power
plants that were driven by timing of refurbishmewtles, both scheduled and unscheduled plant ositadggch can vary in timing from perit
to period. The decrease in sales to the oil andrgaket resulted from a delay in the timing of nender placement for our coke deheading
systems, fluidic catalytic cracking units, and totdeating equipment due to a significant hurrica@ason, which shut down or limited
operations in a number of refineries along the @alést, followed by a tightening in the financingrkets and general economic conditions
during the fourth quarter. Partially offsettingghiecrease in the oil and gas market was increfsmadnd for our traditional valve products,
engineering services, and field service work aseeies increased their capital spending and miaamee expenditures.
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Within our defense markets, we experienced a dedtirsales to the ground defense market of $4anilielated to the diversion of funds
away from the U.S. Army’s EM Gun program in suppafrthe war effort and a decline in sales of $llimilto the naval and other defense
markets. Lower sales to the U.S. Navy of motors@amkrators for submarines and aircraft carridedae to a wind-down in the funded
contracts as well as a delay in funding for develept work on the electro-magnetic launching sysiare partially offset by higher
production work on the DDG 1000 Destroyer and @ndase in pumps and instrumentation control deviglased to the timing of
procurement cycles.

Backlog increased 40% to $1,167 million at Decen#ier2008, from $835 million at December 31, 200&w orders increased by $312
million ($1,327 million versus $1,015 million), 84.%, during 2008. Acquisitions contributed an imeemtal $100 million to new orders to
2008 from the prior year. In 2008, we also receigédrge order, in excess of $300 million, relatedur next-generation reactor coolant
pumps for the AP1000 nuclear power plants as veefild 4 million in new orders for submarine andraitccarrier programs.

Operating income for 2008 was $102 million for &lmw Control Segment. This was an increase of $om or 32%, from $77 million in
2007. Organic operating income increased $21 millay 28%, due to improved margins on higher saddsmes and better cost performance
and improved profitability on several long-term tacts in the oil and gas and power generation etariddditionally, the operating income
of the prior year was adversely impacted by a $aniloss on fixed-price pump development contsagtth the U.S. Navy. Our acquisitions
contributed $4 million in incremental operatingante. The unfavorable effect of foreign currencyoperating income was $1 million, or I¢
than 1% for 2008.

Motion Control
Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared with YeaedBeécember 31, 2008

Our Motion Control segment reported sales of $62liam for 2009. This was an increase of approxieha$27 million, or 4%, from $594
million. This increase was mainly due to our 200uasitions of VMetro ASA and Mechetronics Holdingsnited, partially offset by our
2008 divestiture, which generated $21 million, &,4n incremental sales. Organic sales increaseglLBymillion, or 3%, for 2009; however,

a strong increase in the defense markets of $4milas largely offset by decreases in the commakaerospace markets of $14 million and
general industrial markets of $13 million due te #tonomic slowdown. The remaining sales declirg9ahillion was due to the unfavorable
effects of foreign currency translation.

Organic sales growth was realized across all ofwajor defense markets. We experienced an incieasg aerospace and ground defense
markets of $27 million and $9 million, respectiveline increase in the aerospace defense markenaiaty due to increased demand for our
integrated sensing and embedded computing produai®mestic and international military program&lsas the Global Hawk, F-22 Raptor,
F-35 JSF, and various helicopter programs incluthegBlackhawk. The improvement in the ground de¢emarket was driven primarily by
higher sales of embedded computing products fdstand light armored vehicles. Increased produaiimthe TOW Improved Target
Acquisition System accounted for the majority aétkales increase, while the remaining increaggannd defense sales was due to higher
production and development on the Expeditionarhfiig Vehicle, Stryker, and Abrams Fighting Vehiplatforms. Partially offsetting the
increase in our defense markets was a declindés sathe commercial aerospace and general iridustarkets. The decrease in sales to the
commercial aerospace and general industrial mavkatsmainly due to lower demand for both our embkddmbmputing and sensor and
controller products which is attributable to weadst@l economic conditions.

Backlog decreased 13% to $443 million at DecemtefB809 from $510 million at December 31, 2008. Neders declined by $94 million
($547 million versus $642 million), or 15% durin@@®. This was mainly due to reductions in our comuaéaerospace and general indus
markets. Acquisitions, net of divestitures, conitéd an incremental $26 million to new orders fiitve comparable period in 2008.
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Operating income for 2009 was $81 million for ouotMn Control segment. This was an increase ofriRlion, or 34%, from $60 million in
2008. The segment realized incremental lossespybajmately $8 million in 2009, which are mainlyjlated to intangible amortization
expenses that generally run higher in the earbary. Organic operating income increased by $2lilomis organic operating income marg
increased 320 basis points to 13.3% in 2009 frorh%0n 2008. There were several nonrecurring evibiatisnegatively impacted the margins
in 2008, including the Eclipse bankruptcy, lowenrgias due to delays on the Boeing 700 series ptapand a write-off of deferred contract
costs after receipt of a contract cancellatiorhanfburth quarter. Conversely, the 2009 marginewesitively impacted by favorable mix,
increased volume on contracts, and lower expersesting from cost containment efforts. Foreigrrency translation had an additional
favorable impact of $8 million or 13% on our restitt 2009 versus 2008.

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared with Yeaedbdcember 31, 2007

Our Motion Control segment reported sales of $584am for 2008. This was an increase of approxiehat$47, or 9%, from $547 million in
2007. The sales increase was achieved throughshatig organic growth of $25 million, or 5%, and agquisitions of IMC Magnetics
Corporation and VMETRO ASA, patrtially offset by c2008 divestiture, which generated $23 million4®t, in incremental sales. The
increase in organic sales was driven mainly by ériglales in the ground and aerospace defense mafkg26 million and $14 million,
respectively. This was partially offset by lowelesato the general industrial and commercial aegrospnarkets of $4 million and $2 million,
respectively. Foreign currency translation negifivepacted sales by approximately $1 million, @sd than 1%, for 2008.

Ground defense product sales were driven primbyiliaigher sales of embedded computing producttafiks and light armored vehicles.
Upgrades on the Bradley Fighting Vehicle platforru@unted for the majority of our sales increaseyaexperienced additional volume on
the IBAS program, while the remaining increase das to higher sales on the TOW Improved Target Asitijpn System, the amphibious
Expeditionary Fighting Vehicle, and the Armored @#y Vehicle programs. These increases were plgroéset by reductions in ground
vehicle subsystems for the Future Combat Systehesirprovement in the aerospace defense markemasady due to increased demand on
various U.S. Air Force and U.S. Army programs, saslthe F-22 Raptor, Global Hawk unmanned aerfaicles F-35 JSF, V-22 Osprey, 16
Falcon, and various helicopter programs. Our eméeédomputing products account for the majorityhef increase as our COTS market
continues to be strong, and our ability to offeoanplete embedded computing solution has contribtatehis increasing demand. The dec

in sales to the general industrial market was edlab lower demand for our fuel control valves witthe engineered systems division, while
lower revenues in the commercial aerospace mar&et due to a realignment of production effortsranEclipse program.

Backlog increased 9% to $510 million at December2BD8 from $467 million at December 31, 2007. Neders increased by $41 million
($642 million versus $601 million), or 7%, durin@@8B. This increase was primarily due to contractsior our embedded computing
products. Acquisitions also contributed an incretak$18 million to new orders to 2008 from the pryear.

Operating income was $60 million for our Motion @ahsegment in 2008. This was essentially flat@spared to $61 million in 2007.
Organic operating income decreased $3 million,%r While our 2008 and 2007 acquisitions, net ogdtiture, contributed $1 million in
incremental operating losses. Despite the incrigaseles, organic operating margins declined 1Gsk@oints from 11.1% in 2007 to 10.1%
in 2008. We experienced lower margins due to delagemmercial aerospace programs such as thededipd Boeing 700 series platforms,
a write-off of deferred contract costs after reteifpa contract cancellation in the fourth quartard an increase in inventory reserve due to a
change in status of the Eclipse bankruptcy. Foreignency translation favorably impacted operativpme by $4 million, or 6%, for 2008.
Although foreign currency translation had an unfabte impact on sales for this segment, the neaani operating income was favorable
mainly due to the Canadian operations having &afgignt amount of sales denominated in U.S. doltard operating costs in Canadian
dollars. Thus, changes in the foreign currencysrdirectly impact the operating costs with no dtisg impact on sales.
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Metal Treatment
Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared with Yeaedbdcember 31, 2008

Our Metal Treatment segment reported sales of $20i®n for the year ended 2009. This was a de@ed$61 million or 23% from $264
million. Organic sales decreased $51 million, o¥%18 2009. Organic Sales to the general indust@hmercial aerospace, and oil and gas
market decreased by $36 million, $11 million, afdndillion, respectively. The decline in sales was tb the weak global economic
environment which resulted in a reduction in demaabss all primary service offerings, most notathlgt peening services. The decrease in
organic sales was partially offset by our 2008 &itjan which contributed $2 million in sales. Themaining sales decline of $11 million w
due to the unfavorable effect of foreign curreneypslation.

Operating income for 2009 was $20 million for ouetsl Treatment Segment. This was a decrease aih$iB@n or 62% as compared to $52
million for the year ended 2008. Organic operatim@pme decreased by approximately $30 million dythre quarter, while incremental
operating income had a minimal impact. Organic afieg income declined, primarily due to lower voksrand the under-absorption of
overhead costs as a result of the rapid declisalies. The impact of this decline was partiallseffoy lower expenses resulting from cost
containment efforts. Foreign currency translatiegatively impacted operating income for 2009 by#Bon.

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared with Yeaedbdcember 31, 2007

Our Metal Treatment segment reported sales of $26ibn for 2008. This was an increase of $9 mitlji@r 4%, from $255 million. The sales
increase was achieved through strong organic grof#10 million, or 4%, while our acquisition cointed $1 million in incremental sales
growth. The increase in organic sales was driveméneased sales in all of the segment’s major atarkxcept for the general industrial
market. Sales to the commercial aerospace mar&eedhe organic growth with a $7 million increaseiothe prior year period followed by
increased sales to the power generation market afifion. In addition, the oil and gas and aeraspdefense market contributed $4 million
and $2 million, respectively, to the year-over-ysales growth of the segment. The higher saldseteaammercial aerospace market was
driven by higher demand for our European shot peeand North American coatings services to OEMstduecreased production
requirements. Sales to the power generation market higher than the prior year due to a shot peedévelopment project and increased
demand for our European shot peening servicesirtneased sales to the oil and gas and aerospéaresdemarkets were driven by higher
demand for our European and North American shatipgeservices, respectively. These sales incraemses partially offset by a sales decl
of $9 million to the automotive market as a resfillepressed sales in the industry. The declinemast prominent in our North American
shot peening business. Foreign currency translaggatively impacted sales by approximately $2iami|lor 1%, for 2008.

Operating income for 2008 was $52 million for ouetsl Treatment Segment. This was an increase ofiffibn, or 2%, as compared to $51
million for 2007. Organic operating income incredbg approximately $2 million due primarily to thegher sales volume and higher mar
generated by the shot peening development prajdtile organic operating income increased, operatiaggin was flat at 20.0%. A slight
improvement in gross margin was partially offsethligher operating expenses. The improvement insgreergin was the result of favorable
sales mix and productivity gains, partially offegtincreased labor costs and start up costs assdeiath opening new facilities in Austria,
China, and Spain. The operating expense increasesraarily due to increased labor costs to supierigrowth of the business. Foreign
currency translation negatively impacted operaitmegpme for 2009 by $1 million.

Corporate and Other Expenses

Non-segment operating costs consist mainly of pensigrense associated with the Curtiss-Wright Perians, environmental remediation
and administrative expenses, unallocated medics@ssociated with the pooling of self-insurarasgts; net foreign transaction gains/losses,
certain legal costs, and other income and expeoisdirectly associated with the ongoing performaoicthe segments. We had non-segment
operating costs of $24 million, $18 million, andXillion in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.
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Pension expense associated with the Curtiss-WHghsion Plans was $18 million, $8 million, and $iiom in 2009, 2008, and 2007,
respectively. The 2009 pension expense includeddhection of an immaterial error related to pperiods. In addition, in 2009, the pension
expense included a settlement charge resulting fhr@metirement of a key executive and his elediioreceive his pension benefit as a single
lump sum payout. Excluding these adjustments,nbeasing pension expense over the three yeardpses due to increased service, inte
costs, and the recognition of previously unamodtiosses.

Net foreign exchange transaction losses amount#g toillion, $5 million, and $3 million in 2009, 28, and 2007, respectively. The hig

2008 loss was primarily due to a forward currerapsaction to provide downside protection of thehqaurchase price for the VMETRO
acquisition. As a result of this transaction angl sfgnificant strengthening of the U.S. dollar thalbsequently occurred, we realized a net cast
savings and reduction in the purchase price ofapmately $4 million and $7 million, respectivefypm the offer date and recorded a pretax
charge of $3 million during 2008.

Interest Expens

Interest expense decreased $4 million in 2009 agpaced to 2008. The decrease was due to lowerganterest rates, partially offset by
higher debt levels. Our average outstanding deleased 8% in 2009, which was mainly due to thdifumof our acquisitions, while our
average rate of borrowing decreased 90 basis pgeatsover year.

Provision for Income Taxe

Our effective tax rates for 2009, 2008, and 200& 34.4%, 35.3%, and 32.3%, respectively. For &rrthformation on the changes in
effective tax rates, see Note 11 to the Consolitlgtrancial Statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources and Uses of Cash

We derive the majority of our operating cash inflisam receipts on the sale of goods and servicdscash outflow for the procurement of
materials and labor; cash flow is therefore sulijig@echarket fluctuations and conditions. A substdrgortion of our business is in the defense
sector, which is characterized by long-term consradost of our long-term contracts allow for sealdiilling points (progress or milestone)
that provide us with cash receipts as costs argried throughout the project rather than upon emtttompletion, thereby reducing working
capital requirements. In some cases, these payroantsxceed the costs incurred on a project.

Operating Activities

Our working capital was $313 million at Decembey 3009, a decrease of $37 million from the workiagital at December 31, 2008, of
$350 million. Our ratio of current assets to cutd@bilities was 1.6 to 1 at December 31, 2009 &8 to 1 at December 31, 2008. Cash and
cash equivalents totaled $65 million in the aggrega December 31, 2009, up from $61 million atémeber 31, 2008. Excluding the impact
of cash and the working capital changes due t@oquisitions and divestitures, our working capitatreased $31 million. This decrease was
mainly caused by an increase in short-term debthvwvas mainly due to $75 million of private placerndebt maturing in September of
2010. See Financing Activities section for furtirdormation. The decline in working capital, assted with our increase in short-term debt,
was partially offset by a decrease in our curreoti@ed expenses, a decrease in accounts payatllanancrease in accounts receivable.

Our current portion of long-term debt and shortrtelebt was $81 million at December 31, 2009, anthifi®on at December 31, 2008. Our
long-term debt was $384 million at December 31,2@0decrease of $129 million from $513 milliorDetcember 31, 2008. The decrease in
long-term debt was mainly due to $75 million invaite placement debt maturing in September of 2810l as additional payments made
against our revolving line of credit based upoorsgrfourth quarter cash flows. Days sales outstendi December 31, 2009, improved to 44
days from 49 days at December 31, 2008, while itorgriurnover declined to 4.3 turns at December2BD9, as compared to 4.6 turns at
December 31, 2008.
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Cash and cash equivalents totaled $61 million énajgregate at December 31, 2008, down from $8ibmat December 31, 2007.
Excluding the impact of cash and the working cdgit@nges due to our acquisitions and dispositianworking capital increased $15
million due to increases in inventory and receieabbffset by an increase in deferred income patgn&he inventory increases were the
result of delayed customer shipments and the sigalf long lead material for our long-term contsadccounts receivable increased due to
higher sales volume as sales in December 2008 higier than December 2007. These increases wetiallyanffset by an increase in
deferred income mainly due to advance paymentsvedté&om Westinghouse related to the AP 1000 @ogr

Investing Activitie:

We have acquired forty-five businesses since 20@llexpect to continue to seek acquisitions thatansistent with our long-term growth
strategy. A combination of cash resources, fun@dave under our credit agreement, and proceens éur Senior Notes were utilized to
fund our acquisitions, net of dispositions, whiotated $68 million and $49 million in 2009 and 208&spectively. As indicated in Note 2 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements, some o&oguisition agreements contain purchase price sd@rgs and contingent payments, such
as potential earn-out payments and working capiplstments. During 2009, we paid a net amounahflion in such payments relative to
prior year acquisitions. Additional acquisitiondiwdiepend, in part, on the availability of finankciasources at a cost of capital that meet our
stringent criteria. As such, future acquisitiofisny, may be funded through the use of our cashcash equivalents, through additional
financing available under the credit agreementhyugh new financing alternatives.

Our capital expenditures were $76 million in 208204 million in 2008, and $54 million in 2007. Cagbiexpenditures relate primarily to new
and replacement machinery and equipment, the ekgaaénew product lines within the business segsieand new facilities. During 2009,
we continued expansion of our facilities for ongpoperations as well as investments in new prolilues, primarily in support of the AP10
program, and new facilities. In the fourth quad&P009, we substantially completed the expansidhese facilities.

Financing Activities

On August 10, 2007, the Company and certain cfutssidiaries amended and refinanced its existieditcfacility and entered into a Second
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (“Credit A&grent”). The proceeds available under the Credit@gent are to be used for
working capital, internal growth initiatives, fumdj of future acquisitions, and general corporat@ases. Our available credit under the cr
facility increased from $400 million to $425 millidrom a syndicate of banks, led by Bank of AmeriaA. and JP Morgan Chase Bank,
N.A. as the c-arrangement banks. The Credit Agreement also teném accordion feature which can expand the dvareit line to a
maximum aggregate amount of $600 million. The cainsm membership has remained relatively the sarhe.Credit Agreement extends
maturity from July 23, 2009 to August 10, 2012which time all amounts then outstanding under thed® Agreement will be due and
payable. In addition, the Credit Agreement proviftesmproved pricing and more favorable covenantris, reduced facility fees, and
increased availability of the facility for letteo$ credit. Borrowings under the Credit Agreemerdriaterest at a floating rate based on market
conditions. In addition, our interest rate and lefdacility fees are dependent on certain finahcatio levels, as defined in the Credit
Agreement. We are subject to annual facility feeshe commitments under the Credit Agreement. meation with the Credit Agreement,
we paid customary transaction fees that have befamrdd and are being amortized over the termefttedit Agreement. We are required
under the Credit Agreement to maintain certainrfgial ratios and meet certain financial tests st restrictive of which is a debt to
capitalization limit of 60% and a cross defaultypsion with our other senior indebtedness. As of&meber 31, 2009, we were in compliance
with all covenants and had the flexibility to isaagditional debt of approximately $1 billion withaexceeding the covenant limit defined in
the Credit Agreement. We would consider other faiag alternatives to maintain capital structureabak and ensure compliance with all «
covenants. We had $100 million and $155 milliot@mrowings outstanding (excluding letters of creditder the Credit Agreement at
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, resplyctivee unused credit available under the Crediteggent at December 31, 2009 was
$267 million. In light of the recent economic catatis and liquidity environment, and given the euatrvolatility within the credit markets,
many lenders have presented unattractive termsa@miitions by seeking more restrictive lending [smns and higher interest rates that 1
limit our borrowing capacity and increase our aafdborrowing. However, the Company has evaluate@adisition and believes that its Credit
Agreement with the bank consortium provides suffitishort-term access to financing should our djpeyaash flows be insufficient to fund
our operations.
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On December 1, 2005, we issued $150 million of %®enior Series Notes (the “2005 Notes”). Our 2808s mature on December 1, 2017
and are senior unsecured obligations, equal it afpayment to our existing senior indebtedness, &Y our option, can prepay at any time
all or any part of our 2005 Notes, subject to a @aakole payment in accordance with the terms oNb& Purchase Agreement. In
connection with our 2005 Notes, we paid customaegsfthat have been deferred and are being amoavazdhe term of our 2005 Notes. We
are required under the Note Purchase Agreemenatotamn certain financial ratios, the most resivietof which is a debt to capitalization
limit of 60%. The note also contains a cross defardvision with our other senior indebtednessofABecember 31, 2009, we were in
compliance with all covenants.

In November 2005, we unwound our interest rate sagapements with notional amounts of $20 milliod &0 million, which were
originally put in place to convert a portion of dixed interest on the $75 million 5.13% Senior &oand $125 million 5.74% Senior Notes,
respectively, to variable rates based on spec#jmdads over six-month LIBOR. The unwinding of thewap agreements resulted in a
minimal net loss, which has been deferred andirsgb@mortized over the remaining term of the unded debt.

On September 25, 2003 we issued $200 million ofd@étotes (the “2003 Notes”). The 2003 Notes canzi$75 million of 5.13% Senior
Notes that mature on September 25, 2010 and $1HBnrof 5.74% Senior Notes that mature on Septar@be 2013. Our 2003 Notes &
senior unsecured obligations and are equal in o§paiyment to our existing senior indebtedness, &/eur option, can prepay at any time
or any part of our 2003 Notes, subject to a makelevhayment in accordance with the terms of theeNtatrchase Agreement. In connection
with our 2003 Notes, we paid customary fees thaelimeen deferred and are being amortized oveethestof the 2003 Notes. We are
required under the Note Purchase Agreement to miainertain financial ratios, the most restrictdfavhich is a debt to capitalization limit
60% and a cross default provision with our oth@iceindebtedness. As of December 31, 2009, we wetempliance with all covenants.

Our industrial revenue bonds, which are collateealiby real estate, were $9 million at Decembef809 and December 31, 2008. The loans
outstanding under the 2003 and 2005 Notes, RewpRirdit Agreement, and Industrial Revenue Bondsuaaiable interest rates averaging
3.89% for 2009 and 4.81% for 2008.

Future Commitment

Cash generated from operations, which includesastgpayments of approximately $25 million to $28iam, estimated income tax payme
of approximately $50 million to $60 million, andditional working capital requirements should besidared adequate to meet our planned
capital expenditures of approximately $70 million$80 million and expected dividend payments ofrapimnately $15 million. Additionally,
we are committed to potential earn-out paymentswr2009 acquisition of Skyquest Systems Limited an acquired earn-out payment
assumed with the 2008 purchase of VMETRO, whicheatenated to be between approximately $5 milliod $6 million in 2009. There can
be no assurance, however, that we will continugeteerate cash flow at the current level. If castegeted from operations is not sufficient to
support these operating requirements and inveatitigities, we may be required to reduce capitpleexitures, refinance a portion of our
existing debt, or obtain additional financing.

In 2010, our capital expenditures are expecteddtude the construction of new facilities, expans existing facilities to accommodate r
product lines, and the purchase of new and refaebisnachinery and equipment.

The following table quantifies our significant fuéucontractual obligations and commercial committses of December 31, 2009:

(In thousands) Total 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter
Debt Principal Repayments $ 465,08 $ 8098. $ 98 $ 100,10: $ 12510¢ $ 10¢ $ 158,69(
Interest Payments on Fixed Rate

Debt 95,00¢ 18,25« 15,44( 15,44( 13,51 8,26¢ 24,09:

Operating Lease 147,90( 22,56¢ 22,49¢ 19,29¢ 16,98: 15,49( 51,06¢

Total $ 707,98 $ 121,79¢ $38,037 $ 134,837 $ 15560 $23,86: $ 233,85
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@ Amounts exclude a $0.1 million adjustment to thevalue of long-term debt relating to the Companyyiterest rate swap

agreements that were settled in cash during 2

We do not have material purchase obligations. Mbsur raw material purchase commitments are maéetty pursuant to specific contract
requirements.

We will have funding requirements for our pensideng in the future. For further information on @ension commitments, see Note 16 to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

We enter into standby letters of credit agreemantsguarantees with financial institutions and @ungrs primarily relating to guarantees of

repayment on our Industrial Revenue Bonds, futerfopmance on certain contracts to provide prodantsservices, and to secure advance
payments we have received from certain internatiomstomers. At December 31, 2009, we had continiggrilities on outstanding letters of
credit due as follows:

(In thousands) Total 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter @

Letters of Credi $ 5751 $ 37,16( % 403 $ 964 $ 1,08C $ 95¢ $ 13,31¢

@ Amounts indicated as thereafter are letters ofitretich expire during the revolving credit agreernterm, but will automatically

renew on the date of expiration. In addition, antewxclude bank guarantees of approximately $3amil
Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our consolidated financial statements and accomipgmpotes are prepared in accordance with genasatigpted accounting principles in the
United States of America. Preparing consolidatedrfcial statements requires us to make estimateassumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and esggrThese estimates and assumptions are affgcthd bBpplication of our accounting
policies. Critical accounting policies are thosatttequire application of management’s most difficsubjective, or complex judgments, often
as a result of the need to make estimates aboeffiwets of matters that are inherently uncertaith may change in subsequent periods. We
believe that the following are some of the moréical judgment areas in the application of our artimg policies that affect our financial
condition and results of operations:

Revenue Recognitic

The realization of revenue refers to the timingt®fecognition in our accounts and is generallysidered realized or realizable and earned
when the earnings process is substantially compledeall of the following criteria are met: 1) pgaisive evidence of an arrangement exists;
2) delivery has occurred or services have beereredg 3) our price to our customer is fixed or dateable; and 4) collectability is
reasonably assured.

We record sales and related profits on productimhsgervice type contracts as units are shippedigaénd risk of loss have transferred or as
services are rendered. This method is used in @ialM reatment segment and in some of the busimgsswithin the Motion Control and
Flow Control segments that serve non-military megke

For certain contracts in our Flow Control and Mati@ontrol segments that require performance ovaxtended period before deliveries
begin, sales and estimated profits are recordeapplying the percentage-of-completion method obaating. The percentage-of-completion
method of accounting is used primarily for our defe contracts and certain long-term commercialreotys. This method recognizes revenue
and profit as the contracts progress towards caiopld-or certain contracts that contain a sigaifichnumber of performance milestones, as
defined by the customer, sales are recorded basmudachievement of these performance milestones péformance milestone method is
output measure of progress towards completion riratigms of results achieved. For certain fixe@@gontracts, where none or a limited
number of milestones exist, the cost-to-cost methaged, which is an input measure of progresatdwompletion. Under the cost-to-cost
input method, sales and profits are recorded basdHe ratio of costs incurred to an estimate stxat completion. Under our percentage-of-
completion methods of accounting, a single estich&ital profit margin is used to recognize prodit Each contract over its entire period of
performance.

Application of percentage-of-completion methodsesfenue recognition requires the use of reasoraizalependable estimates of the future
material, labor, and overhead costs that will lmaiired and a disciplined cost estimating systemhith all functions of the business are
integrally involved. These estimates are determined
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based upon industry knowledge and experience oéogineers, project managers, and financial stafse estimates are significant and
reflect changes in cost and operating performamaaighout the contract and could have a significapact on our operating performance.
Adjustments to original estimates for contract rexe estimated costs at completion, and the estdnatal profit are often required as work
progresses throughout the contract and as experamt more information is obtained, even thougtstiope of work under the contract may
not change. These changes are recorded on a ciraddasis in the period they are determined todmessary.

Under the percentage-of-completion method of actiognprovisions for estimated losses on uncomgletntracts are recognized in the
period in which the likelihood of such losses agtedmined. However, future costs associated wisttsoteferred in anticipation of future
contract sales and certain loss development cdatnagy be deferred if follow-on production ordens deemed probable. Amounts
representing contract change orders are includegvienue only when they can be estimated reliatditheir realization is reasonably
assured. Certain contracts contain provisionshierédetermination of price and, as such, managetieéers a portion of the revenue from
those contracts until such time as the price has fiealized.

Some of our customers withhold certain amounts fileenbillings they receive. These retainages aneigdly not due until the project has
been completed and accepted by the customer.

Inventory

Inventory costs include materials, direct labod paarchasing and manufacturing overhead costs,hadrie stated at the lower of cost or
market, where market is limited to the net realizatalue. We estimate the net realizable valueuofimventories and establish reserves to
reduce the carrying amount of these inventoriggetaealizable value, as necessary. We contineajuate the adequacy of the inventory
reserves by reviewing historical scrap rates, amdlguantities as compared with historical and teje usage levels, and other anticipated
contractual requirements. The stated inventoryscarst also reflective of the estimates used inyapgpkhe percentage-of-completion revenue
recognition method.

We purchase materials for the manufacture of comptnfor sale. The decision to purchase a set ifpaita particular item is influenced by
several factors including: current and projectddeprfuture estimated availability, existing anajpcted contracts to produce certain items,
and the estimated needs for our businesses.

For certain of our long-term contracts, we utilpregress billings, which represent amounts biliedustomers prior to the delivery of goods
and services and are recorded as a reduction émtiory and receivables. Amounts are first appliedrtbilled receivables and any remainder
is then applied to inventory. Progress billings geaerally based on costs incurred, including dicests, overhead, and general and
administrative costs.

Pension and Other Postretirement Bene

In consultation with our actuaries, we determireedppropriate assumptions for use in determiniadiétbility for future pension and other
postretirement benefits. The most significant elsthassumptions include the number of employeesmitheceive benefits, their tenure,
their salary levels, their projected mortality, egfed return on plan assets, the discount ratestagbetermine plan obligations, and the tre
in the costs of medical and other health care litsriafthe case of the postretirement benefit @blans. Changes in these assumptions, if
significant in future years, may have an effecban pension and postretirement expense, assogatesdon and postretirement assets and
liabilities, and our annual cash requirements talfthese plans.

The discount rate used to determine the benefigatibns of the plans as of December 31, 2009 tlaménnual periodic costs for 2010
remained at 6.0% for all the U.S. pension planstaadEMD postretirement benefit plan to reflectreat economic conditions. The rate
reflects the hypothetical rate at which the praddienefit obligations could be effectively setttegaid out to participants on that date. We
determined our discount rate based on a rangectdfria including the rates of return on high-qyaliixed-income corporate bonds available
at the measurement date and the related expectatiotufor the obligations. The discount rate foe Curtiss-Wright postretirement benefit
plan decreased to 5.0% in 2009 to reflect the shaoldration of liabilities of this closed plan. $hihange caused an increase to the benefit
obligation. The rate of compensation increasetergension plans remained at 4.0%, which reflbet®kperience over the past years and the
Company’s expectation of future salary increases.al§o utilized the RP 2000 mortality tables witbrtality improvements projected to

2010 for the U.S. pension and postretirement beplkfns.
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The overall expected return on assets assumptioasisd on a combination of historical performarfdh® pension fund and expectations of
future performance. The historical returns are meiteed using the market-related value of assetg;wik the same value used in the
calculation of annual net periodic benefit coste Tharket-related value of assets includes the retiog of realized and unrealized gains and
losses over a five-year period, which effectivalgrmges the volatility associated with the actwafgrmance of the plan’s assets from year to
year. Over the last ten years the me-related value of assets had an average annudlgfi&.5%, whereas the actual returns averaged 4.3%
during the same period. These averages were signify impacted by 2008 underperformance, partiafiiget by 2009 performance that
exceeded expectations. Expected future performiardetermined by weighting the expected returngémh asset class by the plan’s asset
allocation. The expected returns are based on tiemg-capital market assumptions utilizing a tenrytgmae horizon. We have consistently
used the 8.5% rate as a long-term overall avertger, and although the financial markets undequeréd in 2008 and negatively impacted
our historical results, we consider the 8.5% ratie a reasonable assumption of the future long-tevestment returns.

The long-term medical trend assumptions start witlurrent rate that is in line with expectationstfee near future. The trend’s rate is then
graded down over time until it reaches an ultinrate that is close to expectations for growth infFGDhe reasoning is that medical trends
cannot continue to be higher than the rate of GE®th in the long term. The health care cost tnetds used to determine the benefit
obligations of the plans as of December 31, 2008,the annual periodic costs for 2010 were on dialitrend of 9.5% grading down to an
ultimate trend of 5.5% in 2014. Any change in tkpeztation of these rates to return to a normatdllstiould have an impact on the amour
expense we recognize.

The timing and amount of future pension incomexgrease to be recognized each year is dependeheatetnographics and expected
earnings of the plan participants, the expectestést rates in effect in future years, inflatiomgl ahe actual and expected investment retur
the assets in the pension trust.

Given the rebound in the financial markets in 2@@®wing the underperformance in 2008, the fund&dus of our domestic qualified
pension plan increased by $7 million. However,gharp decline in the financial markets has expddhe future cash funding requirements
and increased our future pension expense. We etgpeontribute approximately $158 million to thisup over a four year period beginning
2011. Additionally, we expect pension expense & #illion associated with this plan in 2010.

The following table reflects the impact of changeselected assumptions used to determine the €usid¢us of the Company’s pension plans
as of December 31, 2009 (in thousands, exceptdiargmtage point change):

Increase in

Percentage Benefit Increase in
Assumption Point Change Obligation Expense
Discount rate (0.25%) $ 12,74¢ $ 1,63(
Rate of compensation incree 0.25% 7,721 1,83
Expected return on asst (0.25%) — 87C

See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfenfurther information on our pension and pdatenent plans, including an estimate of
future cash contributions.

Environmental Reservt

We provide for environmental reserves on a sitsitgybasis when, in conjunction with internal anteenal legal counsel, it is determined 1

a liability is both probable and estimable. In maages, the liability is not fixed or capped whenfirst record a liability for a particular site.
If only a range of potential liability can be estitad and no amount within the range is more prabtitan another, a reserve will be
established at the low end of that range. At siteslving multiple parties, we accrue environmetiabilities based upon our expected share
of the liability, taking into account the financiahbility of our other jointly liable partners. dgment is required when we make assumptions
and estimate costs expected to be incurred for@mwviental remediation activities because of, amathgr factors, difficulties in assessing
extent and type of environmental remediation tpédormed, the impact of complex environmental tatjons and remediation technologies,
and agreements between potentially responsibléepdd share in the cost of remediation. In esimgathe future liability and continually
evaluating the sufficiency of such liabilities, weigh certain factors including our participation
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percentage due to a settlement by or bankruptoyhafr potentially responsible parties, a changaeérnenvironmental laws requiring more
stringent requirements, an increase or decrease iastimated time required to remediate, a chamtie estimate of future costs that will be
incurred to remediate the site, and changes imtdoby related to environmental remediation. Wendbbelieve that continued compliance
with environmental laws applicable to our operadionll have a material adverse effect on our finalncondition or results of operation.
However, given the level of judgment and estimatiead in the recording of environmental resertas,reasonably possible that materially
different amounts could be recorded if differerguamptions were used or if circumstances were tagdasuch as environmental regulations
or remediation solution remedies.

As of December 31, 2009, our environmental resetotaded $21 million, the majority of which is logrm. Approximately 75% of the
environmental reserves represent the current \aloar anticipated remediation costs and are restadinted primarily due to the uncertainty
of timing of expenditures. The remaining environmaéneserves are discounted to reflect the timaesaf money since the amount and tirr
of cash payments for the liability are reasonalgiedminable. We use a discount rate of 4%, whighr@pmates an amount at which the
environmental liability could be settled in an asnéngth transaction with a third party. All enviroental reserves exclude any potential
recovery from insurance carriers or third-partyaleggctions.

Purchase Accountin

We apply the purchase method of accounting to oguiaitions. Under this method, we allocate the cbdusiness acquisitions to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on thdimastd fair values at the date of acquisition, camiyreferred to as the purchase price,
allocation. As part of the purchase price allogaiéor our business acquisitions, identifiable mgiale assets are recognized as assets apart
from goodwill if they arise from contractual or ethlegal rights, or if they are capable of beingasated or divided from the acquired busil
and sold, transferred, licensed, rented, or exaddnbhe purchase price is allocated to the undeyltangible and intangible assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based on their respecéivariarket values, with any excess recorded aswjitlotlVe determine the fair values of s
assets and liabilities, generally in consultatiathwhird-party valuation advisors. Such fair vakssessments require significant judgments
and estimates such as projected cash flows, discatas, royalty rates, and remaining useful liteg can differ materially from actual
results. The fair value of assets acquired (netsh) and liabilities assumed of our 2009 acqoisitiwere estimated to be $81 million and
million, respectively. The initial fair values agsed to certain of these acquisitions are prelinyimad may be revised prior to finalization,
which is to be completed within a reasonable pemadater than twelve months from the acquisitiate.

See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statenentsrther information on our purchase accounting
Goodwill

We have $648 million in goodwill as of December 2Q09. Generally, the largest separately identdi@sset from the business that we
acquire is the value of their assembled workforedsch includes the additional benefit receivedrirmanagement, administrative, marketing
and business development, scientific, engineenmgtachnical employees of the acquired business.stibcess of our acquisitions, include
the ability to retain existing business and to sgstully compete for and win new business whidbeaised on the additional benefit received
from management, administrative, marketing andrimssi development, scientific, engineering and teehskills and knowledge of our
employees, rather than on productive capital (phat equipment, and technology and intellectugbgrty). Therefore, because intangible
assets for assembled workforces are part of gobdhdl substantial majority of the intangible asdet our acquired business acquisitions are
recognized as goodwill. Additionally, the valueigasd to goodwill for our business acquisitionatsludes the value that we expect to
realize from cost reduction measures that we implerfor our acquired businesses.

The recoverability of goodwill is subject to an aahimpairment test based on the estimated fairevaf the underlying businesses. The te
performed in the fourth quarter, which coincideimthe completion of our five-year strategic opeigplan. Additionally, goodwill is tested
for impairment when an event occurs or if circums&s change that would more likely than not redbedair value of a reporting unit below
its carrying amount. The first step is to identifyy potential impairment by comparing the carrymatue of the reporting unit to its fair value.
If a potential impairment is identified, the secatép is to measure the impairment loss by comgdhia implied fair value of goodwill with
the carrying value of the goodwill on the reportingjt.

Page 48




Our methodology for determining the fair value akporting unit is estimated using an income apghraghich discounts future net cash
flows to their present value at a rate that refi¢lse Company’s cost of capital, otherwise knowthasdiscounted cash flow method (“DCF”).
These estimated fair values are based on estirmffesire cash flows of the businesses. Factoectiffg these future cash flows include the
continued market acceptance of the products amitseroffered by the businesses, the developmemdwfproducts and services by the
businesses and the underlying cost of developrttenfuture cost structure of the businesses, atudeftechnological changes. In addition to
the income approach, we utilize market multiplasclamparable companies to our reporting units. singh impairment would be recognized
in full in the reporting period in which it has berlentified.

In 2009, we conducted additional sensitivity analys assess the risk for potential impairment 8agmn changes in the key assumptions in
our goodwill valuation test. We reviewed reportingjts that had significant changes in their ecomoimilicators and adjusted for select
changes in the risk adjusted discount rate to dendioth the current return requirements of theketaand the risks inherent in the reporting
unit, expected long-term growth rate and cash fiowjections to determine if any decline in therestied fair value of a reporting unit could
result in a goodwill impairment. Based upon ouriiddal analysis, it was determined that there weyémpairments for the select reporting
units, however, the fair value of our Oil & Gas@gjng unit was not substantially in excess otasrying amount, as the fair value exceeded
the carrying value by approximately 10%. The amadrgoodwill for our Oil and Gas reporting unit anmted to $95 million at December .
2009. Going forward, we will continue to monitoetherformance of this reporting unit in relatiorthe key assumptions in our analysis. If
management determines that impairment existsntpairment will be recognized in the period in whitts identified.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets are generally the resudtqfiisitions and consist primarily of purchasathtwlogy, customer related intangibles, and
trademarks. Intangible assets are recorded atftieiralues as determined through purchase acit@yritased on estimates and judgments
regarding expectations for the estimated futurerdfix earnings and cash flows arising from follmwsales. Definite-lived intangible assets
are amortized on a straight-line basis over thaineted useful lives, which range from 1 to 20rgewhile indefinite-lived intangible assets
are not amortized. Indefinite-lived intangible dssare reviewed for impairment annually based endiscounted future cash flows.
Additionally, we review the recoverability of alitangible assets, including the related usefuklivehenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounhtmgt be recoverable. We would record any impaitniethe reporting period in which it
has been identified.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncem

New accounting pronouncements have been issuedhahécnot effective until after December 31, 208&. further discussion of ne
accounting standards, see Note 1 to the Consdliddtencial Statements.

| tem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative DisclosuresAbout Market Risk.

We are exposed to certain market risks from chaimgiggerest rates and foreign currency exchantgsras a result of our global operating
and financing activities. We seek to minimize argtenial risks from foreign currency exchange raietfiations through our normal operat
and financing activities and, when deemed appraprtArough the use of derivative financial insteunts. We do not use such instruments for
trading or other speculative purposes. We useddatioreign currency contracts to manage our coyreate exposures during the year er
December 31, 2009. Information regarding our actingrpolicy on financial instruments is containeadNote 1-L to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The market risk for a change in interest ratedeslarimarily to our debt obligations. Our intereste exposure was 76% and 68% fixed at
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, resphlyctivee variable rates on the Industrial Revenuad®oare based on market rates. As of
December 31, 2009, a change in interest rates ofv@etd have an impact on consolidated interest es@®f approximately $1.1 million.
Information regarding our 2005 and 2003 Notes, Reéng Credit Agreement, and Interest Rates Swapsigained in Note 12 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Financial instruments expose us to counter-pagglitrisk for nonperformance and to market risk for changes in @sieand foreign curren:
rates. We manage exposure to counter-party ciigklithrough specific minimum credit standards, déification of counter-parties, and
procedures to monitor concentrations of credit.risle monitor the impact of market risk on the fafue and cash flows of our investments
by investing primarily in investment grade interlestiring securities, which have short-term matsgitiWe attempt to minimize possible
changes in interest and currency exchange ra@mdonnts that are not material to our consolidagedlts of operations and cash flows.

Although the majority of our sales, expenses, aghdlows are transacted in U.S. dollars, we demasrket risk exposure to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, primarily aslétes to the value of the U.S. dollar versus thead#n dollar, the British pound, the euro,
the Norwegian kroner, and the Swiss franc. Anyificamt change against the U.S. dollar in the valfithe currencies of those countries in
which we do business could have an effect on osinless, financial condition, and results of operei If foreign exchange rates were to
collectively weaken or strengthen against the ddila10%, net earnings would have been reducedooeased, respectively, by
approximately $1 million as it relates exclusivedyforeign currency exchange rate exposures.
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| tem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dati

C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the years ended December 31, (In thousands epter share data) 2009 2008 2007
Net sales $1,809,691  $1,830,14 $1,592,12.
Cost of sale: 1,214,15 1,214,06. 1,068,50!
Gross profit 595,53: 616,07¢ 523,62
Research and development cc (54,645 (49,61%) (47,929
Selling expense (106,18 (107,309 (92,129
General and administrative expen (265,38() (262,599 (204,389
Operating incom: 169,31¢ 196,56: 179,18
Interest expens (25,06¢) (29,045 (27,387
Other income (expense), r 1,00¢ 1,58t 2,36¢
Earnings before income tax 145,25¢ 169,10: 154,17:
Provision for income taxe (50,03¢) (59,717 (49,849

Net earningt $ 9522, $ 109,39( $ 104,32
Net earnings per shat

Basic earnings per she $ 21C % 248 $ 2.3t

Diluted earnings per sha $ 208 % 241 % 2.32

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



C ONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31, (In thousandexcept share data) 2009 2008
Assets:
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 6501 $ 60,70¢
Receivables, ne 404,53¢ 395,65¢
Inventories, ne 285,60t 281,50t
Deferred tax assets, r 48,77 37,31«
Other current asse 33,561 26,83
Total current asse 837,50: 802,01¢
Property, plant, and equipment, | 401,14¢ 364,03:
Goodwill 648,45 608,89¢
Other intangible assets, r 242,50t 234,59¢
Deferred tax assets, r 1,994 23,12¢
Other asset 10,43¢ 9,351
Total asset $2,142,04.  $2,042,03
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Current portion of lon-term debt and sh¢-term debt $ 8098: $  3,24¢
Accounts payabl 129,88 140,95«
Accrued expense 90,85¢ 103,97:
Income taxes payab 4,212 8,21z
Deferred revenu 167,68: 138,75:
Other current liabilitie: 50,70¢ 56,54
Total current liabilities 524,31¢ 451,68
Long-term deb 384,11: 513,46(
Deferred tax liabilities, ne 25,54¢ 26,85(
Accrued pension and other postretirement benesits 120,93( 125,76.
Long-term portion of environmental resen 18,80« 20,375
Other liabilities 41,57( 37,13t
Total liabilities 1,115,28. 1,175,26!
Contingencies and Commitments (Notes 12, 15, 1d 180
Stockholder Equity:
Common stock, $1 par value, 100,000,000 sharesardil at December 31, 2009 and 2008; 48,213,4@2 an
47,903,187 shares issued at December 31, 2009088 espectively; outstanding shares were 45,62
at December 31, 2009 and 45,064,839 at Decemb&088 48,21« 47,90:
Additional paic-in capital 111,70 94,50(
Retained earning 980,59( 899,92¢
Accumulated other comprehensive I (19,605 (72,557
1,120,901 969,78(
Less: Common treasury stock, at cost (2,589,29@: skt December 31, 2009 and 2,838,348 shares at
December 31, 200¢ (94,149 (103,019
Total stockholder equity 1,026,75 866,76:
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $2,142,04.  $2,042,03

See notes to consolidated financial statements.






C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

For the years ended December 31, (In thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net earning: $ 9522 $ 109,39( $ 104,32
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cashiged by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic 76,48( 74,25 62,69¢
Net loss on sales and disposals of -lived asset: 1,917 804 38¢
Gain on bargain purcha (1,939 — —
Deferred income taxe (6,470 (6,370 (8,149
Shar-based compensatic 15,26¢ 13,66: 10,91:
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nbtuisinesses acquired and dispose
Decrease (increase) in receivak 9,25( (20,230) (63,999
Decrease (increase) in inventor 17,81¢ (46,569 (50,290
(Decrease) increase in progress paym (8,579 8,22 (2,274
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and acerpetse (30,56%) 8,58 31,07¢
Increase in deferred reven 28,724 33,33: 53,06¢
Increase (decrease) in income taxes pay (12,32¢) (4,049 (6,020
(Decrease) increase in net pension and postretirelinabilities 19,65¢ 11,41¢ 5,54(
Decrease (increase) in other current and-term asset 2,31¢ 2,25( (2,669
(Decrease) increase in other current and-term liabilities (11,199 (4,88¢) 4,52(
Total adjustment 101,35¢ 70,43: 34,80¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 196,57¢ 179,82: 139,13¢
Cash flows from investing activitie
Proceeds from sales and disposals of -lived asset: 3,78¢ 8,14: 174
Acquisitions of intangible asse (679 (311 (3,722
Additions to property, plant, and equipm: (75,647 (103,65) (54,437
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acqu (68,627) (48,557 (289,34
Net cash used for investing activiti (141,150 (144,389 (347,329
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings of deb 711,05¢ 598,00t 751,50(
Principal payments on de (762,759 (622,58() (604,56()
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 10,551 9,90t 9,661
Dividends paic (14,559 (14,38)) (12,440
Excess tax benefits from sh-based compensatic 37¢ 1,54¢ 2,59(
Net cash (used for) provided by financing actig (55,329 (27,517 146,75:
Effect of exchanc-rate changes on ca 4,20( (13,747 3,44¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 4,30¢ (5,81%) (57,999
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 60,70¢ 66,52( 124,51
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 6501 $ 60,708 $ 66,52(
Supplemental disclosure of investing activiti
Fair value of assets acquired from current yeauia@tpns $ 81,10 $ 133,15¢ $ 315,84:
Additional consideration paid (received) on prieay acquisition 1,83t (1,447 9,43:
Liabilities assumed from current year acquisiti (22,107 (75,15¢) (35,706)
Cash acquire (27€) (7,999 (227)
Gain on bargain purcha (2,939 — —
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acqu $ 68,62 $ 48557 $ 289,34

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDEF EQUITY

(In thousands)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common
Stock

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive  Comprehensive
Retained
Earnings

Income (Loss) Income (Loss)

Treasury
Stock

January 1, 2007

$47,533 $

69,887 $716,030 $ 55,806

$(127,182)

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings
Pension and postretirement adjustments, net
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net

— 104,328

$ 104,328
11,587
25,934

11,587
25,934

Total comprehensive income

$ 141,849

Adjustment for initial application of accounting for

uncertainty in income taxes, net
Dividends paid
Stock options exercised, net
Share-based compensation
Other

— (505) —

—  (12,440) —
2,198 — —
7,816 — —
(351) — —

10,515
3,096
351

December 31, 2007

$47,715 $

79,550 $807,413 $ 93,327

$(113,220)

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings
Pension and postretirement adjustments, net
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net

— 109,390 —
(87,313)
(78,743)

$ 109,390
(87,313)
(78,743)

Total comprehensive loss

$ (56,666)

Adjustment for pension and postretirement
measurement date change, net

Dividends paid

Stock options exercised, net

Share-based compensation

Other

—  (2,494) 178

—  (14,381) —
6,050 — —
9,278 — —
(378) — —

5,439
4,385
378

December 31, 2008

$47,903 $

94,500 $899,928 $ (72,551)

$(103,018)

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings
Pension and postretirement adjustments, net
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net

— 95,221

$ 95,221
16,350
36,596

16,350
36,596

Total comprehensive income

$ 148,167

Dividends paid

Stock options exercised, net
Share-based compensation
Other

311

—  (14,559) —
6,085 — —
11,431 — —
(309) — —

4,727
3,833
309

December 31, 2009

$48,214 $111,707 $980,590 $ (19,605)

$ (94,149)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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N OTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Curtiss-Wright Corporation and its subsidiarie® (t@orporation”) is a diversified multinational m#acturing and service company that
designs, manufactures, and overhauls precision agpemis and systems and provides highly engineeostlipts and services to the
aerospace, defense, automotive, shipbuilding, peiag, oil, petrochemical, agricultural equipmeatlroad, power generation, security, and
metalworking industries. Operations are condudbedugh 59 manufacturing facilities and 67 metadtingent service facilities

A. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of Curtiss-Wright and its majority-ownedbsidiaries. All significant intercompany
transactions and accounts have been eliminated.

B. Use of Estimates

The financial statements of the Corporation havenh@epared in conformity with accounting princgptgenerally accepted in the United
States of America, which requires management toeneakimates and judgments that affect the repartezlint of assets, liabilities, revenue,
and expenses and disclosure of contingent assetgaailities in the accompanying financial staterse The most significant of these
estimates includes the estimate of costs to comfdeg-term contracts under the percentage-of-cetigpl accounting methods, the estimate
of useful lives for property, plant, and equipmeish flow estimates used for testing the recovidsabf assets, pension plan and
postretirement obligation assumptions, estimatemf@ntory obsolescence, estimates for the valnand useful lives of intangible assets,
warranty reserves, legal reserves, and the estiofiditéure environmental costs. Actual results rdifer from these estimates.

C. Revenue Recognition

The realization of revenue refers to the timingt®fecognition in the accounts of the Corporatoil is generally considered realized or
realizable and earned when the earnings procastbh&antially complete and all of the followingteria are met: 1) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists; 2) delivery has occurred ofices have been rendered; 3) the Corporagipnice to its customer is fixed or determina
and 4) collectability is reasonably assured.

The Corporation records sales and related profitsroduction and service type contracts as unishipped and title and risk of loss have
transferred or as services are rendered, netiofi@sd returns and allowances. Sales and estinpatdits under certain long-term contracts
are recognized under the percentage-of-completigthads of accounting, whereby profits are recoqtedrata, based upon current estimates
of direct and indirect costs to complete such @t In addition, the Corporation also recordssahder certain longerm government fixe
price contracts upon achievement of performancestthes as specified in the related contracts.elsoss contracts are provided for in the
period in which the losses become determinableisis in profit estimates are reflected on a cativg basis in the period in which the
basis for such revision becomes known. The exdetbedillings over cost and estimated earningsoog-term contracts is included in
deferred revenue.

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of money market fundscantmercial paper that are readily convertible tash, all with original maturity dates of
three months or less.

E. Inventory

Inventories are stated at lower of production ¢psncipally average cost) or market. Productiosts@re comprised of direct material and
labor and applicable manufacturing overhead.
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F. Progress Payment:

Certain long-term contracts provide for the intehitings as costs are incurred on the respectirgracts. Pursuant to contract provisions,
agencies of the U.S. Government and other custoanergranted title or a secured interest in thelledbcosts included in unbilled
receivables and materials and work-in-process degdun inventory to the extent of progress paymeitsordingly, these progress payments
received have been reported as a reduction ofladbi¢ceivables and inventories, as presented tad\®and 4.

G. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are carried atlesstaccumulated depreciation. Major renewals atiefments are capitalized, while
maintenance and repairs that do not improve omelxtiee life of the asset are expensed in the péhieg are incurred. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method based tipprstimated useful lives of the respective assets

Average useful lives for property, plant, and equét are as follows:

Buildings and improvemen 5 to 40 year:
Machinery, equipment, and ot 3 to 15 year:

H. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are generally the result of aifipris and consist primarily of purchased techggl@ustomer related intangibles,
trademarks and service marks, and technology leeri3efinite lived intangible assets are amortized straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, which range from 1 to 28rgewhile indefinite lived intangible assets aot amortized. Indefinite lived intangible
assets are reviewed for impairment annually basatie@ discounted future cash flows. See Note Tuidher information on other intangible
assets.

I. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Corporation reviews the recoverability of alifj-term assets, including the related useful Jivd®never events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouiat lohg-lived asset might not be recoverable. ltinegl, the Corporation compares the
estimated undiscounted future net cash flows tadteted asset’s carrying value to determine whdtiere has been an impairment. If an
asset is considered impaired, the asset is wiibevn to fair value, which is based either on disted cash flows or appraised values in the
period the impairment becomes known. In 2009, thep@ration recognized $1.1 million related to thétevdown of two facilities that were
associated with the business restructuring plarettvere no such write-downs in 2008 or 2007.

J. Goodwill

Goodwill results from business acquisitions. Thep@oation accounts for business acquisitions hycaling the purchase price to tangible
and intangible assets and liabilities. Assets aeduand liabilities assumed are recorded at th@ivalues, and the excess of the purchase
price over the amounts allocated is recorded adwjitio The recoverability of goodwill is subject m annual impairment test or whenever an
event occurs or circumstances change that woule fit@ly than not result in an impairment. The innpeent test is based on the estimated
fair value of the underlying businesses. Goodwilpairment tests performed as of October 31, 20098 2and 2007 concluded that no
impairment charges were required as of those daezsNote 6 for further information on goodwiill.

K. Pre Contract Costs

The Corporation, from time to time, incurs costbégin fulfilling the statement of work under a sifie anticipated contract that has yet to
obtain from a customer. If it is determined thad thcoveries of these costs are probable, the wilbtse capitalized, excluding any start-up
costs which are expensed as incurred. When ciranoss change and the contract is no longer deernbdlge the capitalized costs will be
recognized in earnings. There were no costs in 20092007 that were written off. There were $1.Bioni in capitalized costs that were
deemed not probable and recognized into earningsgdR008. Capitalized pre contract costs were $8llfon and $5.3 million at December
31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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L. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Accounting guidance, requires certain disclosuegairding the fair value of financial instrumentsielio the short maturities of cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payabteaccrued expenses, the net book value of fimeseial instruments is deemed to
approximate fair value. See Notes 8 and 12 foh&rrinformation.

M. Research and Development

The Corporation funds research and developmentanagfor commercial products and independent researd development and bid and
proposal work related to government contracts. greent costs include engineering and field supfuorhew customer requirements.
Corporation-sponsored research and developmert acsexpensed as incurred.

Research and development costs associated withneesisponsored programs are charged to inventahaenrecorded in cost of sales when
products are delivered or services performed. Fuecsived under shared development contracts @@ustion of the total development
expenditures under the shared contract and arershetas research and development costs.

N. Environmental Costs

The Corporation establishes a reserve for a patesrivironmental remediation liability on a site $ie basis when it concludes that a
determination of legal liability is probable andthmount of the liability can be reasonably estaddtased on current law and existing
technologies. Such amounts, if quantifiable, reéftee Corporation’s estimate of the amount of tadtility. If only a range of potential

liability can be estimated and no amount within tiuiege is more probable than another, a reservdeviéstablished at the low end of that
range. At sites involving multiple parties, the Gomation accrues environmental liabilities basedruis expected share of the liability, tak
into account the financial viability of other joiptiable partners. Such reserves, which are regtbguarterly, are adjusted as assessment anc
remediation efforts progress or as additional imfation becomes available. Approximately 75% of@wmeporation’s environmental reserves
as of December 31, 2009 represent the current wdlaeticipated remediation costs and are not distad primarily due to the uncertainty of
timing of expenditures. The remaining environmentgkrves are discounted to reflect the time vafusoney since the amount and timing
cash payments for the liability are reliably detgrable. All environmental reserves exclude any ptidgrecovery from insurance carriers or
third-party legal actions. See Note 15 for add#ilanformation.

O. Accounting for Share-Based Payments

The Corporation follows the fair value based methbdccounting for share-based employee compemsatioich requires the Corporation to
expense all share-based employee compensatiore-Based employee compensation is primarily a neh-eapense since the Corporation
settles these obligations by issuing the shar€udiss-Wright Corporation instead of settling swttigations with cash payments.

Compensation expense for all non-qualified shat@og, performance shares, performance-basedatestishares, time-based restricted
stock, and performance-based restricted stock imitcognized on a graded schedule over the riggsirvice period for the entire award
based on the grant date fair value. Compensatiparese is based on the fair value on the grant date.

P. Capital Stock

The Corporation is authorized to repurchase 900sb@des under its existing stock repurchase progPamthases are authorized to be made
from time to time in the open market or privatebgnotiated transactions depending on market and otimglitions, whenever management
believes that the market price of the stock dog¢sdequately reflect the true value of the Corporaand, therefore, represents an attractive
investment opportunity. The shares are held atandtreissuance is recorded at the weighted-avesieThrough December 31, 2009, the
Corporation had repurchased 210,930 shares unidgrrigram. There was no stock repurchased duffg,2008, and 2007 and the
Corporation does not intend to repurchase any stthnéng 2010.
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Q. Earnings Per Share

The Corporation is required to report both basioiegs per share (“EPS”), based on the weightedaaenumber of Common shares
outstanding, and diluted earnings per share, bais¢ke basic EPS adjusted for all potentially ditishares issuable. The calculation of EPS
is disclosed in Note 13.

R. Income Taxes

The Corporation accounts for income taxes using#iset and liability method. Under the asset atiiliiy method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for future tax consequemnattributable to differences between the firdrstatement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective taxebathe effect on deferred tax assets and liaslif a change in tax laws is recognized in the
results of operations in the period the new lavesesracted. A valuation allowance is recorded tocedhe carrying amounts of deferred tax
assets unless it is more likely than not that aasdets will be realized.

The Corporation records amounts related to uneenmtaome tax positions, by (1) prescribing a minimrecognition threshold a tax position
is required to meet before being recognized irfittencial statements, (2) the measurement of tbene tax benefits recognized from such
positions. The Corporatiog'accounting policy is to classify uncertain incaiave positions that are not expected to be resdlvete year as
non-current income tax liability and to classifyarest and penalties as a component of “sellingegg, and administrative expenses”. See
Note 11 for further informatior

S. Foreign Currency Translation

For operations outside the United States of Amehaaprepare financial statements in currenciberahan the U.S. dollar, the Corporation
translates assets and liabilities at period-enth@xge rates and income statement amounts usinfpedigverage exchange rates for the
period. The cumulative effect of translation adjushts is presented as a component of accumuldied @mprehensive income within
stockholders’ equity. This balance is affected dmgfgn currency exchange rate fluctuations andhbyacquisition of foreign entities. Gains/
(losses) from foreign currency transactions ar@uded in other income(expense) within the resultsperations, which amounted to $(4.7)
million, $14.3 million, and $(6.5) million for thgears ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 200 &atasgy.

T. Derivatives

The Corporation uses financial instruments, sudiogard exchange and currency option contractbetige a portion of existing and
anticipated foreign currency denominated transastid he purpose of the Corporation’s foreign cwyetisk management program, which
began in 2007, is to reduce volatility in earnimgised by exchange rate fluctuations. All of thevd¢ive financial instruments are recorded at
fair value based upon quoted market prices for @atge instruments, with the gain or loss on thesesactions recorded into earnings in the
period in which they occur. These gains/(losses)cassified as general and administrative expengée Consolidated Statements of
Earnings and amounted to $2.5 million and $(19.iljan for the years ended December 31, 2009 ar@82@espectively. The Corporation
does not use derivative financial instruments fading or speculative purposes.

U. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Adoption of New Standart

Employer¢ Disclosures about Postretirement Benefit Plan Ass

In December 2008, new guidance was issued on emdogisclosures about pension and other postneting benefit plan assets and is
effective for filings ending after December 15, 200he new guidance requires an employer to diedlogestment policies and strategies,
categories, fair value measurements, and significamcentration risk among its postretirement bi¢pédn assets. The adoption of this
guidance required the Corporation to provide addél disclosures, see Note 16 to the ConsolidaitehEial Statements.
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Subsequent Event

In May 2009, new guidance was issued on subsegwents, which established general standards oLatiog for and disclosure of events
that occur after the balance sheet date but béfaecial statements are issued or are availabtetissued. Specifically, it provides the pe
after the balance sheet date during which managewofi@reporting entity should evaluate eventg@ndactions that may occur for potential
recognition or disclosure in the financial statetsethe circumstances under which an entity shreddgnize events or transactions occurring
after the balance sheet date in its financial states, and the disclosures that an entity shoukkrabout events or transactions that occurred
after the balance sheet date. The new guidanceffegive for interim or annual financial periodsdéng after June 15, 2009. The adoptio
this guidance requires the Corporation to provididiteonal disclosures or adjustments to the finahsiatements if material subsequent events
occur. The Corporation has evaluated the perianh fiecember 31, 2009 through February 23, 2010 ardibtermined that there are no
material subsequent events.

Fair Value Disclosures and Measurements

In April 2009, new guidance was issued on interistldsures about fair value instruments, which ecka consistency in financial reporting
by increasing the frequency of fair value disclesuiThe new guidance relates to fair value discésstor any financial instruments that are
not currently reflected on a Corporatisrdalance sheet at fair value. Prior to the effedtiate of this new guidance, fair values for thesset
and liabilities were only disclosed once a yeare fibw guidance requires these disclosures on geglydrasis, providing qualitative and
guantitative information about fair value estimdimsall those financial instruments not measuredhe balance sheet at fair value. The
adoption of this guidance required the Corporattoprovide additional quarterly disclosures.

Effective January 1, 2008, the Corporation adopa accounting guidance on fair value measuremg&htsnew guidance defines fair val
establishes a framework for measuring fair valugeinerally accepted accounting principles, and edpaisclosures about fair value
measurements. The new guidance was effective éo€Ctrporation for all non-financial assets and financial liabilities as of January 1,
2009. It enables the reader of the financial stetémto assess the inputs used to develop thossineezents by establishing a hierarchy for
ranking the quality and reliability of the inforniat used to determine fair values and requiresabsgts and liabilities carried at fair value be
classified and disclosed in one of the followingethcategories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets or liabilitie
Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobdésinputs that are corroborated by market ¢

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroteat®y market dat:
Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial tements

Effective January 1, 2009, the Corporation adop#a accounting guidance on non-controlling interéstconsolidated financial statements.
The new guidance amends the accounting and regdaimon-controlling interests in a consolidatedsidiary and the deconsolidation of a
subsidiary. Included in this guidance is the reguient that non-controlling interests be reportethéequity section of the balance sheet. The
new guidance is effective for fiscal years andrimgperiods within those fiscal years, beginningoorafter December 15, 2008. The adoption
of this guidance did not have an impact on the G@ifion’s results of operations or financial corutit

Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and HedgiActivities

Effective January 1, 2009, the Corporation adop®a accounting guidance on disclosures about derévanstruments and hedging
activities. The new guidance requires disclosufdmw and why an entity uses derivative instrumedsv derivative instruments and related
hedged items are accounted for, and how derivatsteuments and related hedged items affect aty&nfinancial position, financial
performance, and cash flows. The new guidancdeéstidfe for financial statements issued after Nolenil5, 2008. The adoption of this
guidance required the Corporation to provide addél disclosures, see Note 8 to the Consolidatedri€ial Statements.
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Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Asse

Effective January 1, 2009, the Corporation adop&a guidance on the determination of the usefeldifintangible assets. The new guida
amends the factors an entity should consider irldging renewal or extension assumptions usedtermaéning the useful life of recognized
intangible assets. This new guidance applies patisiedy to intangible assets that are acquiredvitdially or with a group of other assets in
business combinations and asset acquisitions. &wegnidance was effective for financial statemésgsed for fiscal years and interim
periods beginning after December 15, 2008. The tmlopf this guidance did not have a material impacthe Corporation’s results of
operations or financial condition.

Business Combination

Effective January 1, 2009, the Corporation adop&a accounting guidance on business combinatidms nEw guidance changed the
accounting treatment for certain specific items|uding, but not limited to: acquisition costs generally expensed as incurred; non-
controlling interests are valued at fair valuehat acquisition date; acquired contingent liab#itége recorded at fair value at the acquisition
date and subsequently measured at either the higlsecch amount or the amount determined undetiegiguidance for non-acquired
contingencies; in-process research and developanenmtcorded at fair value as an indefinite-livei@dmgible asset at the acquisition date;
restructuring costs associated with a business ir@tibn are generally expensed subsequent to th@sition date; and changes in deferred
tax asset valuation allowances and income tax taioges after the acquisition date generally affecome tax expense. The new guidance
also includes several new disclosure requiremartsagplies prospectively to significant businessisimations for which the acquisition date
was on or after the beginning of the first anneglarting period beginning on or after December2lR8, as well as recognizing adjustments
to uncertain tax positions through earnings om@djuisitions regardless of the acquisition date iffipact of the adoption of this guidance
resulted in the gain on a bargain purchase foatgiisition of Nu-Torque of $1.9 million. See N@téo the Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information.

In April 2009, new guidance was issued on accogrtin assets acquired and liabilities assumedhnsiness combination that arise from
contingencies, which amends the provisions relaidde initial recognition and measurement, subsetjimeasurement and disclosure of
assets and liabilities arising from contingenciea business combination. The new guidance witlydarward the requirements for acquired
contingencies, thereby requiring that such conticges be recognized at fair value on the acquisitiate if fair value can be reasonably
estimated during the allocation period. Otherwesdities would typically account for the acquireshtingencies in accordance with the
previous guidance on accounting for contingendibg. new guidance applies to business combinatmnatiich the acquisition date was on
or after the beginning of the first annual repagtperiod beginning on or after December 15, 200& ddoption of this guidance did not have
a material impact on the Corporation’s resultspdrations or financial condition. See Note 2 fatHar information.

Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective

Fair Value

In August 2009, new guidance was issued to progiddance on measuring the fair value of certaieraditive investments. The new guide
provides direction on measuring the fair valueiabilities. The guidance clarifies that the quopeite for an identical liability, when traded
an asset in an active market, is also a Level lssmesnent for that liability when no adjustmentte tjuoted price is required. In the absence
of a Level | measurement, an entity must use omaare of the following valuation techniques to estte fair value:

A valuation technique that uses a quoted price:

. Of an identical liability when traded as an a:

. Of a similar liability or of a similar liability whn traded as an as:
Another valuation technique (for example a markeahocome approach), including one of the following:

. A technique based on the amount an entity wouldtpasansfer the identical liabilit

. A technique based on the amount an entity wouldivedo enter into an identical liabili
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Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverabl

In September 2009, new guidance was issued onuevemangements with multiple deliverables. The gaidance modifies the
requirements for determining whether a deliverable be treated as a separate unit of accountimgrbgving the criteria that verifiable and
objective evidence of fair value exists for undefad items, establishes a selling price hierarohetp entities allocate arrangement
consideration to separate units of account, regire relative selling price allocation methoddbrarrangements, and expands required
disclosures. The new guidance is effective fordigears beginning after June 15, 2010. The Cotjporés currently assessing the future
impact of this new accounting update to its comsad financial statements.

Certain Revenue Arrangements That Include Softwdtkments

In September 2009, new guidance was issued onrcegtzenue arrangements that include software alesn&he new guidance amended |
guidance on software revenue recognition to excfrate scope all tangible products containing batfiveare and non-software elements that
function together to interdependently deliver theduict's essential functionality. The new guidance isaiffe for fiscal years beginning aft
June 15, 2010. The Corporation is currently assggbie future impact of this new accounting updatés consolidated financial statements.

V. Correction of Immaterial Error Related to Prior Periods

In the third quarter of 2009, the Corporation relear a pre-tax adjustment of $3.8 million to inceepsension expense on the Curtiss-Wright
Pension and Restoration Plans, due to a calculatimm made by the external actuary, affecting lloeh2008 and 2009 valuations ($2.0 and
$1.8 million, respectively). This error did notedt the results of operations in any operating egras pension expense is recorded within
the Corporate & Other line as disclosed in Notedlthe Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Corporation concluded that the impact of thiereon the current and prior periods was not nialtéw the Corporation’s 2009 or 2008
consolidated balance sheets, statements of earsitaggment of cash flows or footnote disclosures.

2. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITION OF LONG LIVED ASSET

The Corporation acquired five businesses and désposone product line in 2009, with three of tkguired businesses described in more
detail below. The two remaining acquisitions hadiggregate purchase price of $5.5 million and werehased by the Flow Control
segment. The disposition of a product line in thevFControl segment for $2.5 million was not regares discontinued operations as the
amounts are not considered significant. The Cotporalso acquired four businesses and disposed@business in 2008. Three of the
acquired businesses and the disposition are deslribmore detail below. Four businesses were asdjin 2007, all of which are described
in more detail below.

The acquisitions have been accounted for as pugshasler the guidance for business combinationsrenthe excess of the purchase price
over the estimated fair value of the net tangilolé imtangible assets acquired is generally recoadegbodwill. One of the acquisitions
resulted in an excess of the fair value of assaiaieed over the purchase price, and was accotiates a bargain purchase under the revised
accounting standard for business combinations tffem 2009. The bargain purchase resulted inia igathe consolidated statement of
earnings and was recorded in general and admitivgtrexpenses. The Corporation has allocated thehpse price, including the value of
identifiable intangibles with a finite life basegan final analysis, including input from third pagppraisals. Purchase price allocations will
be finalized no later than twelve months from asiiain.

The results of the acquired businesses have bekmad in the consolidated financial results of @wporation from the date of acquisitior
the segment indicated as follows:
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FLOW CONTROL
EST Group, Inc.

On March 5, 2009, the Corporation acquired allilseied and outstanding stock of EST Group, IncST'B, and certain assets and liabilities
from Township Line Realty, L.P. for $40.0 million cash. Under the terms of the Stock Purchase Agrt the Corporation deposited $4.2
million into escrow as security for potential indeification claims against the seller. The escrovoan will be held for a period of eighteen
months, provided that 50% of the escrow will beaskd after twelve months subject to amounts teall for pending claims. In addition, a
separate escrow of $0.9 million was establishéddemnify the Corporation for a pending product naaty claim outstanding at the time of
acquisition. This holdback will be released to eitthe Corporation or seller upon resolution ofwaaranty claim. Management funded the
purchase from the Corporation’s revolving creddilfty.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beeratial to the net tangible and intangible assetsiatjwith the remainder recorded as
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfaisws:

(In thousands)

Accounts receivabl $ 3,24«
Inventory 4,20¢
Property, plant, and equipme 7,32¢
Other current asse 1,10¢
Intangible asset 12,50(
Current and nc-current liabilities (2,742
Net tangible and intangible ass 25,64+
Purchase pric 40,00(
Goodwill $ 14,35¢

The Corporation has estimated that the goodwill béltax deductible and the Corporation will adjiirgtse estimates based upon final ana
including input from third party appraisals.

EST provides engineered products and compreheregpadr services for heat management and coolingsssutilized in the energy and
defense markets. EST had 99 employees as of thefitite acquisition and is headquartered in HdtfieA with additional locations in
Baytown, TX, Baton Rouge, LA, and a sales officéhi@a Netherlands. Revenues of the acquired buswess$19.6 million for the fiscal ye
ended September 30, 2008.

Nu-Torque

On January 16, 2009, the Corporation acquired iceatsets of the Nu-Torque division (“Nu-Torquef)lgyco Valves & Controls LP. The
purchase price of the acquisition was $5.3 millimoash after giving effect to post-closing custoyredjustments as provided for in the Asset
Purchase Agreement and the assumption of ceradiilifies of Nu-Torque. Management funded the pasehfrom the Corporation’s

revolving credit facility.

The acquisition has been accounted for as a bapgmahase under the guidance for business combisatrhe purchase price of the
acquisition has been allocated to the net tangibtkintangible assets acquired, with the excefisedfair value of assets acquired over the
purchase price recorded as a gain. The Corporhtisrestimated that $0.8 million of the acquiredngible assets will be tax deductible.

(In thousands)

Accounts receivabl $ 85%
Inventory 4,32¢
Property, plant, and equipme 161
Other current asse 47
Intangible assel 2,90(
Current and nc-current liabilities (1,027
Net tangible and intangible ass 7,26¢
Purchase pric 5,332

Gain on Bargain Purcha $ 1,93i
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Nu-Torque is a designer and manufacturer of eleatrat hydraulic valve actuation and control devicgsarily for Navy ships. Nu-Torque is
located in Redmond, WA and had 37 employees dseadate of the acquisition. Revenues of the acdiiusiness were $7.9 million for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2008.

Benshaw, Inc.

On July 31, 2007, the Corporation acquired allislseed and outstanding stock of Benshaw, Inc. (88aw”). The purchase price of the
acquisition, subject to customary adjustments asiged for in the Stock Purchase Agreement, wasparoximately $102.6 million in cash.
Under the terms of the Stock Purchase AgreemeniCtrporation deposited $7.9 million into escrove@surity for potential indemnification
claims against the seller. Any amount of holdbaskaining after the claims for indemnification hdeen settled, will be paid as follows: (i)
an initial release of one-half of the holdback las®unts held in reserve to cover pending claimfitemnification in 12 months after the
closing date and (ii) a final release of the renmagjrbalance of the holdback less amounts heldsere to cover pending claims for
indemnification in 18 months after the closing d#&elaim has been made against the full escroarua pending satisfactory resolution of
preacquisition tax liabilities of the seller. Sonfehe preacquisition tax liabilities of the sell@ve been satisfactorily resolved either for and
against seller resulting in the partial releasthefescrow to the seller and the Corporation, as#ise may be. Claims against the remaining
balance of the escrow still exist for potentialgmguisition tax liabilities of the seller. Furthesre, the Corporation had deposited an addit
$2.5 million into escrow in consideration for thet@ntial receipt of a material sales order withateadar year 2007. This sales order was not
received, and the amount in escrow was returnéuket@€orporation in 2008 as a reduction of purclpa®e. Management funded the
acquisition from the Corporation’s revolving crefditility.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beeratha to the net tangible and intangible assetsimzt] with the remainder recorded as
goodwill, on the basis of fair values as of Decen8ie 2009, as follows:

(In thousands)

Accounts receivabl $ 16,05¢
Inventory 13,29(
Property, plant, and equipme 7,75(
Other current asse 43¢
Intangible asset 36,647
Current and nc-current liabilities (11,859
Net tangible and intangible ass 62,32:
Purchase price, including capitalized acquisitiosts 102,69t
Goodwiill $ 40,37¢

The excess of the purchase price over the fairevafuhe net assets acquired is $40.4 million atebeber 31, 2009, including foreign
currency translation adjustment losses of $0.lionilIThe Corporation has determined that the golbd#ocated to the U.S. entities of $39.4
million is tax deductible.

Benshaw designs, develops, and manufactures misstaal motor control and protection product s@us for leading original equipment
manufacturers (“OEMs”) and industrial customersngleaw provides turnkey motor and machine contrdl@otection solutions for OEM
customers. Benshaw is headquartered in Pittsb&gmsylvania and has nine facilities in the UnBéates and two in Canada. Revenues of
the acquired business were $82.0 million for therymded December 31, 2006.

Valve Systems and Controls

On June 1, 2007, the Corporation acquired cersseta and certain liabilities of Valve Systems @odtrols, L.P. (“VSC"). The purchase
price of the acquisition was $78.0 million in casdter giving effect to customary post-closing athusnts as provided for in the Asset
Purchase Agreement, plus the assumption of cdigditities of VSC. Under the terms of the Assetéhase Agreement, the Corporation
deposited $3.8 million into escrow as securitydotential indemnification claims against the selfeany amount of holdback remaining after
the claims for the indemnification have been sétidss amounts held in reserve to cover pendinmsléor indemnification would be paid in
twelve months after the closing date. Since nardaivere made, the funds held
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in escrow were released to the seller. Managenuaaieid the purchase from the Corporation’s availeash and revolving credit facility.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beeratial to the net tangible and intangible assetsimzt] with the remainder recorded as
goodwill, on the basis of fair values. The excefsthe purchase price over the fair value of theassets acquired is $52.1 million at Decer
31, 2009. The Corporation has determined that doelwill is tax deductible.

VSC, is a provider of critical valve, automationgdacontrols solutions for all facets of flow cortoperations to the oil and gas market. VSC
is headquartered in Houston, Texas, with satalffiees in Baton Rouge, Louisiana and Seoul, Séttea. Incremental revenues of the
acquired business were approximately $40.0 mill@rthe year ended December 31, 2006.

Scientech, LLC

On May 8, 2007, the Corporation acquired certagesand certain liabilities of Scientech, LLC ({#dech”). The purchase price of the
acquisition was $61.4 million in cash after giviefect to customary post-closing adjustments asigeal for in the Asset Purchase
Agreement, the settlement of a pokising indemnification claim against the selled&sussed below, and the assumption of certdbilitias
of Scientech. Under the terms of the Asset PurcAgseement, the Corporation deposited $5.8 milliio escrow as security for potential
indemnification claims against the seller. Any amitoof holdback remaining after the claims for indgfication have been settled will be p:
as follows: (i) an initial release of one-half betholdback less amounts held in reserve to cosmdipg claims for indemnification in 12
months after the closing date and (ii) a final aske of the remaining balance of the holdback lessuats held in reserve to cover pending
claims for indemnification in 18 months after tHesing date. Since no claims were made within tiitial 12 month holdback period, one-
half of the holdback was released to the sellewéi@r, a claim was made prior to the expiratiothef18 month holdback period against the
remaining full amount of the holdback pending $atitory resolution of such claim with the sellehelclaim was satisfactorily resolved with
the seller resulting in the payment to the Corpornadf $0.8 million from the escrow. The balanceltwd escrow funds were released to the
seller. Management funded the purchase from thpdation’s available cash and revolving creditlfgci

The purchase price of the acquisition has beeratha to the net tangible and intangible assetsimxt] with the remainder recorded as
goodwill, on the basis of fair values. The excefsthe purchase price over the fair value of theassets acquired is $31.1 million at Decer
31, 2009. The Corporation has determined that $3@I®n of the goodwill will be tax deductible.

Scientech is a global provider of commercial nucfEaver instrumentation, electrical componentscidey hardware, process control
systems, and proprietary database solutions whechianed at improving safety and plant performaeéfigiency, reliability, and reducing
costs. Scientech is headquartered in Idaho Fdl$d, and has multiple facilities throughout thetebh States. Revenues of the acquired
business were $45.7 million for the year ended Bber 31, 2006.

MOTION CONTROL
Skyquest Systems Limited

On December 18, 2009, the Corporation acquiredfdhe issued and outstanding capital stock of 8kgt|Systems Limited (“SSL” or
“Skyquest”). The purchase price of the acquisitguhject to customary adjustments provided foha$tock Purchase Agreement, was £10.0
million ($16.1 million) in cash at closing and thssumption of certain liabilities. In addition, tB&ck Purchase Agreement provides for
additional consideration to the selling sharehadmmtingent upon SSL exceeding certain salesttaoyer a two-year period. Based on the
estimated amount of sales over the two year meamumeperiod, the Corporation recorded a liabilityh® estimated fair value of the
contingent consideration in the amount of $2.9iomill classified as a level 3 liability in the faialue hierarchy. Under the terms of the Stock
Purchase Agreement, the Corporation depositedrillibn ($2.4 million) into escrow as security fpotential indemnification claims against
the seller. Any amount of holdback remaining affter claims for indemnification have been settleli bé paid as follows: (i) an initial relez
of one-third of the holdback less amounts heldeserve to cover pending claims for indemnificafiod2 months after the closing date and
(i) a final release of the remaining balance & hivldback less amounts held in reserve to covedipg claims for indemnification in 24
months after the closing date. Management funde@dquisition from the Corporation’s available cash
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The purchase price of the acquisition has beeratha to the net tangible and intangible assetsiasztjwith the remainder recorded as
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfaisws:

(US dollars in thousands)

Accounts receivabl $ 1,63t
Inventory 1,44¢
Property, plant, and equipme 18¢
Other current asse 52
Intangible asset 7,74¢
Current Liabilities (1,519
Deferred Income Taxe (2,270)
Contingent consideratic (2,925
Net tangible and intangible ass 4,35¢
Purchase pric 16,14:
Goodwiill $ 11,78¢

Skyquest is a supplier of aircraft video displagsorders, and video/radar converters for survattaaircraft applications in the aerospace
defense markets. Skyquest’s display and recordbntdogy supports demanding airborne surveillanissions with proven reliability in
harsh environments. Key products include the Vislemagement System (“VMS”), which provides fullyegrated systems that enable
observers and pilots to independently select, vawd, record images simply and with maximum fidelithe Corporation also develops
lightweight, airworthy standard and High Definiti¢tD”) video recorders for airborne surveillance.

Located in Basildon, United Kingdom, SSL was fornfiesin two businesses, Skyquest Ltd. and Real-TinseoW Ltd., founded in 1996 and
1998, respectively. SSL is a part of the Corporasidotion Control segment within the Embedded Catimg division. Revenues of the
acquired business were £5.0 million ($8.0 milliéor)the year ended December 31, 2009.

VMETRO ASA

On October 15, 2008, the Corporation completediantary cash tender offer for all of the issued antstanding capital stock of VMETRO
ASA (“WMETRO") at Norwegian Kroner (“NOK”) 12.06 peshare. The purchase price of the acquisitionM@& 292.3 million ($46.3
million) in cash and the assumption of NOK 148 ioill ($23.5 million) of net debt. Management fundleel acquisition from the
Corporation’s revolving credit facility. VMETRO fgart of the Corporation’s Motion Control segmenthivi the Embedded Computing
division. Revenues of the purchased business wterlllion NOK ($52.5 million) for the period end&kcember 31, 2007.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beeratha to the net tangible and intangible assetsimxt with the remainder recorded as
goodwill, on the basis of estimated fair valuese Bixcess of the purchase price over the fair valitiee net assets acquired is NOK 297
million ($51.5 million) at December 31, 2009. Theogwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

As part of the acquired liabilities of VMETRO, tmrporation established a $7.6 million restructgrecrual as of the acquisition date for
costs to exit the activities of certain facilitiéscluding lease cancellation costs and exterrgalland consulting fees, as well as severance an
relocation costs for certain employees of the aeglubusiness. The major activities of these cldaettities will be integrated into other
existing embedded computing facilities. Employekstified for involuntary termination consist ofgeéneers, sales personnel, and
administrative and executive staff. The exit atitag are scheduled to be completed by the firsttquaf 2010. See Note 10 for further
financial information regarding this restructuriagcrual.

VMETRO is a supplier of commercial off-the-shelCOTS") board and system-level embedded computindymts for applications in
aerospace, defense, industrial, communicationnagaical markets. Key products provide real-time paotimg capabilities, higldensity rada
processing, data recording, and network storagemsys Application of these products as componensgsilesystems enables improved
response time and critical protection in server stodage appliances, utility mapping, and groumeprating radar.
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VMETRO operates globally with its headquarters pridcipal engineering located in Oslo, Norway. Adihial sales, engineering, and
distribution networks are established in GermamgnEe, the United States, and the United Kingdom.

Mechetronics Holdings Limited

On October 1, 2008, the Corporation acquired athefissued and outstanding capital stock of Me&ohé&ts Holding Ltd. and all subsidiaries
(“Mechetronics”). The purchase price of the acdigisi subject to customary adjustments providedrfdhe Stock Purchase Agreement, was
£1.3 million ($2.3 million) in cash and the assuioptof certain liabilities. Under the terms of tBeock Purchase Agreement, the Corporation
deposited £0.2 million ($0.4 million) into escrow security for potential indemnification claims agt the seller. Any amount of the
holdback remaining after the claims for the indeiination have been settled less amounts held &rveso cover pending claims for
indemnification will be paid 14 months after thesihg date. Since no claims were made, the funidsilhescrow were released to the seller.
Management funded the acquisition from the Corpamat available cash. The business is a part oCihwporation’s Motion Control segment
within the Integrated Sensing division. Revenuethefpurchased business were approximately £5lm{$10.0 million) for the period
ended July 31, 2008.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beeratha to the net tangible and intangible assetsimxt] with the remainder recorded as
goodwill, on the basis of estimated fair valuese Bixcess of the purchase price over the fair va@litiee net assets acquired is £2.2 million
($3.5 million) at December 31, 2009. The goodvelhbt deductible for tax purposes.

Mechetronics is a global supplier of solenoids soi@noid valves to OEMs. A solenoid is an electronatic actuator used as a mechanical
switch or integrated with a valve to provide cohtnopneumatic or hydraulic systems. The Mechetsmiroducts are used in a variety of
applications including business machines, switchged vehicle braking systems.

Mechetronics is a solenoid supplier in the Unitedgdom. Operations are headquartered in a 27,008rsefoot facility in Bishop Auckland,
United Kingdom, and include a new production fagibpened in Zhuhai, China in 2007.

Curtiss-Wright Accessory Services

On May 9, 2008, the Corporation sold its third-padmmercial aerospace repair and overhaul busloeaged in Miami, Florida for $8.0
million. The determination was made to divest theibess because third-party repair work was nogidened a core business of the
Corporation. This business was part of the Motiemi@®I| segment and contributed $18.5 million iresadnd $1.8 million in pretax income

the year ended December 31, 2007. On the datdepftka business had assets of $8.7 million arfulii@s of $1.1 million, which combined
with transaction costs of $0.7 million, resultedi$0.3 million loss, which is classified as a rgéhn of Other Income, net on the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings. The Corparatid not report the disposal as discontinued dimraias the amounts are not considered
significant. On March 31, 2008, the Corporationfpened a goodwill impairment test of the portiontieé reporting unit that was retained
concluded that no impairment charges were required.

IMC Magnetics Corporation

On September 1, 2007, the Corporation acquiretth@lissued and outstanding stock of IMC MagnetiogpGration (“IMC”). The purchase
price of the acquisition, subject to customary atipents as provided for in the Stock Purchase Ageeé was for approximately $37.5
million in cash. Under the terms of the Stock PasghAgreement, the Corporation deposited $3.8amillito escrow as security for potential
indemnification claims against the seller. Any amitoof holdback remaining after the claims for indgfication have been settled will be p:
as follows: (i) an initial release of $0.5 millitess amounts held in reserve to cover pending sl&mindemnification in 12 months after the
closing date and (ii) a final release of the renmgjrbalance of the holdback less amounts heldserte to cover pending claims for
indemnification in 24 months after the closing d&tewever, a claim has been made prior to the atipit of the 24 month holdback period
against the remaining full amount of the holdbaehkding satisfactory resolution of such claim wiik seller. The claim was satisfactorily
resolved with the seller resulting in the releasthe full amount of the escrow funds to the selManagement funded the acquisition from
Corporation’s revolving credit facility.
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The purchase price of the acquisition has beeratha to the net tangible and intangible assetsimt] with the remainder recorded as
goodwill, on the basis of fair values. The excefsthe purchase price over the fair value of theassets acquired is $17.6 million at Decer
31, 2009. The goodwill is not deductible for taxmses.

IMC produces solenoids, fans, motors, and speeidiproducts for numerous aerospace, commercialinaogtrial applications. IMC’s
products are used by leading OEMSs in a varietyppliaations such as fuel control systems, engieedllanding gear, wheel brake systems,
and aircraft hydraulic directional controls. IMChisadquartered in Tempe, Arizona, and has a priodguiecility in Nogales, Mexico.
Revenues of the acquired business were $14.4 miiiothe year ended December 31, 2006.

METAL TREATMENT
Parylene Coating Services

On September 4, 2008, the Corporation acquire@ioesssets and certain liabilities of Parylene Dga$ervices, Inc. (“PCS”). The purchase
price of the acquisition was $7.6 million after igiy effect to customary post-closing adjustmentprasided for in the Asset Purchase
Agreement (“APA”) and the assumption of certaitbiities of PCS. Under the terms of the APA, theiwation held back 10% of the sale
price as security for potential indemnificationigia against the seller. Any amount of the holdb@&eckaining after the claims for the
indemnification have been settled less amountsihelgserve to cover pending claims for indemnifarawill be paid in eighteen months
after the closing date. Management funded the mseetrom the Corporation’s revolving credit fagilit

The purchase price of the acquisition has beerathal to the net tangible and intangible assetsiasztjwith the remainder recorded as
goodwill on the basis of fair values. The excesthefpurchase price over the fair value of theaissets acquired is $5.0 million at December
31, 2008. The Corporation has determined that tloelgill is tax deductible.

PCS applies parylene coatings primarily for the ivedddevice industry. PCS applies parylene coattogredical devices, including coronary
artery stents, rubber/silicone seals, and wire floagrmandrels used in the manufacture of cathetdms.conformal coating provides lubricity;
resistance to solvents, radiation, and bacterid;isalso biocompatible. In addition to medical laggtions, parylene coatings are uniquely
suited for use in niche electronic, oil and gasl ganeral industrial applications. PCS is headguedtand operates one facility in Katy,
Texas. Revenues of the acquired business weren$Rigén for the year ended December 31, 2007.

3. RECEIVABLES

Receivables include current notes, amounts bitbexlistomers, claims, other receivables, and uchi@enue on long-term contracts,
consisting of amounts recognized as sales butithed bSubstantially all amounts of unbilled recailes are expected to be billed and
collected in the subsequent year.

Credit risk is generally diversified due to theg@mumber of entities comprising the Corporatianistomer base and their geographic
dispersion. The Corporation is either a prime @wtbr or subcontractor to various agencies of ti& Government. Revenues derived
directly and indirectly from government sourcesrtiarily the U.S. Government) were 42%, 36%, and 38%onsolidated revenues in 2009,
2008, and 2007, respectively. Accounts receivab&edirectly or indirectly from these governmenteas represented 34% of net receivables
for both December 31, 2009 and 2008. No singleotnist accounted for more than 10% of the Corporatioet receivables as of December
31, 2009 and 2008.
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The Corporation performs ongoing credit evaluatiohigs customers and establishes appropriate athees for doubtful accounts based upon
factors surrounding the credit risk of specifictomsers, historical trends, and other informatione Eomposition of receivables is as follows:

(In thousands)December 31,

2009 2008

Billed receivables

Trade and other receivabl $ 264,19: 286,12:
Less: Allowance for doubtful accour (3,997) (4,829

Net billed receivable 260,19: 281,29¢

Unbilled receivables

Recoverable costs and estimated earnings not | 163,11! 135,51:
Less: Progress payments appl (28,770 (21,15))

Net unbilled receivable 144,34! 114,36(

Receivables, ne $ 40453¢ $ 395,65

The net receivable balance at December 31, 200@idead $7.1 million related to the Corporation’©9@&cquisitions.

4. INVENTORIES

Inventoried costs contain amounts relating to lterga contracts and programs with long productiotiesy;, a portion of which will not be
realized within one year. Inventories are valuethatlower of cost (principally average cost) orked The composition of inventories is as

follows:

(In thousands)December 31,

2009 2008
Raw materia $ 131,10¢ 126,79¢
Work-in-process 67,35! 63,19¢
Finished goods and component pi 84,67 82,65:
Inventoried costs related to U.S. Government ahdrdbn¢-term contract: 53,597 60,72:
Gross inventorie 336,73( 333,36°

Less: Inventory reserve (39,739 (34,287
Progress payments applied, principally ezldb lon-term contract: (11,389 (17,576
Inventories, ne $ 285,60t 281,50¢

The net inventory balance at December 31, 200@idez] $7.3 million related to the Corporation’s 2@@guisitions.

5. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

The composition of property, plant, and equipmerad follows:

(In thousands)December 31, 2009 2008

Land $  20,97( 19,62(
Buildings and improvemen 170,46¢ 127,59!
Machinery, equipment, and ot 574,54: 533,80(
Property, plant, and equipment, at ¢ 765,97¢ 681,01!
Less: Accumulated depreciati (364,83() (316,98
Property, plant, and equipment, | $ 401,214¢ $ 364,03
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Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@089, 2008, and 2007 was $50.1 million, $47 oni and $43.5 million,
respectively.

6. GOODWILL
Goodwill consists primarily of the excess purchpsee of acquisitions over the fair value of the assets acquired.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwillZ609 and 2008 are as follows:

Flow Motion Metal

(In thousands) Control Control Treatment Consolidated

December 31, 20C $ 29483 $ 251,18 % 24.40¢ $ 570,41¢
Goodwill from 2008 acquisition — 58,58¢ 5,061 63,64
Change in estimate to fair value of net assetsigsmijin prior year: 58C 343 — 922
Additional consideration of prior ye¢ acquisitions, net of dispositic 517 (1,090 — (579
Foreign currency translation adjustm (20,33¢) (14,187 (995) (25,519
December 31, 20C $ 28559 $ 29483t $ 28,47C $ 608,89¢
Goodwill from 2009 acquisition $ 1561 $ 11,78 $ —  $ 27,39
Change in estimate to fair value of net assetsigemjin prior year: (37 (3,662) — (3,699
Additional consideration of prior ye¢ acquisitions, net of dispositic 544 61¢ 3 1,16¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm 6,34( 7,971 382 14,69:
December 31, 20C $ 308,05 $ 31154 $ 28,85f $ 648,45:

During 2009, the Corporation finalized the allooatdf the purchase price for all businesses acdyirer to 2009. Approximately $14.4
million and $5.0 million of the goodwill on acquisins made during 2009 and 2008, respectivelyedudtible for tax purposes.

The Corporation completed its annual goodwill innpeant testing as of October 31, 2009, 2008, and 20@ concluded that no impairment
charges were required as of those dates.

7. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Intangible assets are generally the result of aitiprs and consist primarily of purchased techggl@ustomer related intangibles, and
trademarks. Intangible assets are amortized owdulisses that range between 1 and 20 years.

The following table summarizes the intangible assetjuired (including their weighted-average uskfaek) by the Corporation during 2009
and 2008. No indefinite lived intangible assetseyaurchased in 2009 or 2008.

(In thousands, except years data) 2009 2008
Amount Years Amount Years
Technology $ 10,67¢ 983 % 7,60¢ 11.2
Customer related intangibl 16,427 13.1 20,11¢ 10.1
Other intangible asse 1,58¢ 7.C 3,39¢ 9.1
Total $ 28,68¢ 112 $ 31,12 10.2
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The following tables present the cumulative comipmsiof the Corporation’s acquired intangible asset of December 31.:

(In thousands)

Accumulated

2009 Gross Amortization Net
Technology $13587¢ $ (44,05) $ 91,82¢
Customer related intangibl 174,88« (54,619 120,27(
Other intangible asse 38,88 (8,479 30,40¢
Total $349,65( $ (107,149 $242,50¢
(In thousands) Accumulated
2008 Gross Amortization Net
Technology $121,94¢ $ (33,867 $ 88,08:
Customer related intangibl 153,11¢ (38,440 114,67:
Other intangible asse 37,96¢ (6,129 31,84:
Total $313,02¢ $ (78,43() $234,59¢
The following table presents the changes in théaktnce of other intangible assets during 2009:

Customer Other

Related Intangible
(In thousands) Technology Intangibles Assets Total
December 31, 20C $ 88,08 $ 11467 $ 31,84: $234,59¢
Acquired during 200! 10,67¢ 16,427 1,58¢ 28,68¢
Change in estimate of fair value related to pureh@ge allocatiol (309) 322 (140 (1273)
Amortization expens (8,85¢€) (14,455 (3,089 (26,400
Net foreign currency translation adjustm 2,231 3,30z 20¢ 5,745
Total $ 91,82¢ $ 120,27( $ 30,408 $242,50¢

Included in other intangible assets at DecembeRB29 and 2008, are $9.9 million of intangible &ss®t subject to amortization. The
Corporation completed its annual test of impairnanndefinite lived intangible assets during tleeifth quarter of 2009, 2008, and 2007, and

concluded there was no impairment of value.

Amortization expense for the years ended Decembe2@®9, 2008, and 2007 was $26.4 million, $27.ianj and $19.2 million,
respectively. The estimated future amortizationezyge of purchased intangible assets is as follows:

(In thousands)

2010 $ 23,57¢
2011 22,19(
2012 20,89¢
2013 19,58¢
2014 18,39

8. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“UGAAP”) require certain disclosures regarding fiie value of financial instruments.
Due to the short maturities of cash and cash etgritg accounts receivable, accounts payable, @rded expenses, the net book value of

these financial instruments is deemed to approxarfait value.
Forward Foreign Exchange and Currency Option Coats:

The Corporation uses financial instruments, sudiogard foreign exchange and currency option @iy, to hedge a portion of existing and
anticipated foreign currency denominated transastid he purpose of the Corporaf's foreign currency risk management program



reduce volatility in earnings caused by exchange
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rate fluctuations. Guidance on accounting for deie instruments and hedging activities requiapanies to recognize all of the deriva
financial instruments as either assets or liab#itat fair value in the Consolidated Balance SHested upon quoted market prices for
comparable instruments. In accordance with thidauie, the Corporation does not elect to receidgdaccounting treatment and thus
records forward foreign exchange and currency optantracts at fair value, with the gain or losglmse transactions recorded into earnings
in the period in which they occur. The Corporatitmes not use derivative financial instruments fadihg or speculative purposes.

The net fair value of these instruments is $(0.B)an at December 31, 2009. These instrumentxhssified as other current liabilities and
other current assets. The Corporation utilizesdtbeask pricing that is common in the dealer markéhe dealers are ready to transact at 1
prices which use the mid-market pricing conventiod are considered to be at fair market value. @apen the fair value hierarchy, all of
the foreign exchange derivative forwards are vahteal Level 2. See tables below for informatiorttemlocation and amounts of derivative
fair values in the Consolidated Balance Sheetdanidative gains and losses in the ConsolidateteBtants of Earnings.

Fair Values of Derivative Instruments
(In thousands)

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2009
Balance Balance
Sheet Sheet
Location Fair Value Location Fair Value

Foreign exchange contrac

Other Current

Transactiona Other Current Asse' $ — Liabilities $ 342
Other Current

Forecastel Other Current Asse 41 Liabilities —

Total $ 41 $ 342

(In thousands)
Amount of Gain

Location of Gain (Loss) (Loss) Recognized
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Recognized in Income on in Income on
Instruments Derivatives Derivatives

Twelve Months
Ended
December 31, 2009

Foreign exchange contrac

Transactiona General and Administrative Expens $ 64¢

Forecaste: General and Administrative Expens 1,371

Total $ 2,02¢
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Debt

The estimated fair value amounts were determineithéyCorporation using available market informatidmch is primarily based on quoted
market prices for the same or similar issues d3egember 31, 2009. The estimated fair values o€Cibrporations fixed rate debt instrumet
at December 31, 2009 aggregated $362.0 million esathto a carrying value of $350.6 million. Thergarg amount of the variable interest
rate debt approximates fair value because thedsiteates are reset periodically to reflect curneatket conditions.

The fair values described above may not be indieaif net realizable value or reflective of futfae values. Furthermore, the use of diffel
methodologies to determine the fair value of carfadancial instruments could result in a differestimate of fair value at the reporting date.

9. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

(In thousands)December 31, 2009 2008

Accrued compensatic $ 60,18 $ 68,91t
Accrued commission 6,901 7,88:
Accrued interes 4,33¢ 5,40¢
Accrued taxes other than income ta 1,93¢ 5,31¢
Accrued insuranc 5,317 4,41¢
Other 12,18( 12,03¢
Total accrued expens $ 90,858 $ 103,97

Other current liabilities consist of the following:

(In thousands)December 31, 2009 2008

Warranty reserve $ 1347¢ $ 10,77
Litigation reserve: 11,50¢ 9,78:
Additional amounts due to sellers on acquisiti 11,817 9,53¢
Restructuring accrui 2,807 6,14¢
Reserves on loss contra 1,731 4,20t
Current deferred tax liabilit 2,74( 3,08
Current portion of pension and other postretirentiabtlities 2,37¢ 2,87¢
Loss on forward foreign currency contra 34z 2,43¢
Current portion of environmental resen 2,081 1,80¢
Other 1,82t 5,89¢
Total other current liabilitie $ 50,706 $ 56,54:

The accrued expenses and other current liabikti€ecember 31, 2009 included $2.2 million and $dllibn respectively, related to the
Corporation’s 2009 acquisitions.

The Corporation provides its customers with waiegnon certain commercial and governmental prodistmated warranty costs are
charged to expense in the period the related revenecognized based on the terms of the prodanianty, the related estimated costs, and
guantitative historical claims experience. Thesameges are adjusted in the period in which aatesiilts are finalized or additional
information is obtained. The following table pretsethe changes in the Corporation’s warranty resserv

(In thousands) 2009 2008

Warranty reserves at January $ 10,77 $ 10,77«
Provision for current year sal 7,53¢€ 7,38¢
Current year claim (4,012 (4,697
Change in estimates to |-existing warrantie (1,947 (2,059
Increase due to acquisitio 64¢ 97
Foreign currency translation adjustm 474 (730

Warranty reserves at December $ 1347¢ $ 10,77¢



Page 72



10. FACILITIES RELOCATION AND RESTRUCTURING

In connection with the acquisitions of VMETRO an@aéhetronics in 2008, the Corporation establishessucturing accrual of $7.6 million
in accordance with guidance on the recognitionadfilities in connection with a purchase businesslgination. These acquisitions are
consolidated into the Motion Control segment. Tberaal was established in the fourth quarter of@fa® $7.1 million, while the remaining
balance was recorded in 2009 for $0.5 million bageeh further analysis of the restructuring adtgt The restructuring accrual consists of
costs to exit the activities of certain facilitiéscluding lease cancellation costs and exterrgalland consulting fees, as well as costs to
relocate or involuntarily terminate certain empley®f the acquired business. As of December 319,266 Corporation has not completec
activities associated with the restructuring ansl éstimated the costs noted above. The remainistg eoe $1.7 million as of December 31,
2009. These costs are subject to adjustment upopletion of the activities, and will be accounted &s an adjustment to the purchase price
of the acquisition. The Corporation intends to ctatepthe majority of these activities in the figstarter of 2010.

In the first quarter of 2009, the Corporation cortetl to a plan to consolidate existing operatidmeiugh reductions in force and
consolidation of operating locations both domedficand internationally. This plan will impact tiidow Control, Motion Control, and Metal
Treatment segments. The decision was based oneavrefvarious cost saving programs undertakeroimection with the development of
the Corporation’s budget and operating plan forciingent year. The Corporation incurred businessalidation costs in 2009 of $5.6
million, consisting of severance costs to involuiltgerminate certain employees, relocation coskdt activities of certain facilities, includii
lease cancellation costs and external legal anguttmg fees. These costs were recorded in the @idased Statement of Earnings with the
majority of the costs affecting the cost of satgmeral and administrative expenses, selling, eselarch and development costs for $2.2
million, $2.8 million, $0.5 million, and $0.1 mitin, respectively. The liability is classified irhet current liabilities. During the later part of
2009, in connection with the finalization of ther@oration’s budget for 2010, additional consolidatopportunities were identified across all
segments. As such, the Corporation has not contpiest@lans associated with the restructuring aqubets to complete the majority of these
activities by the fourth quarter of 2010.

A summary by segment of the components of facdlitelocation and corporate restructuring chargeadquisitions and ongoing operations
and an analysis of related activity in the accasabf December 31, 2009 is as follows:

Severance Facility Relocation

and Benefits Closing Costs Costs Total
Flow Control
December 31, 20C $ — % —  $ —  $ —
Provisions 90¢ 10C 65€ 1,66¢
Payment: (852) (100 (65€) (1,609
Net currency translation adjustme — — — —
December 31, 20C $ 57 % — % — % 57
Total expected and incurred to d $ 209 3 29z % 95¢ $ 3,34
Mation Control
December 31, 200 $ 361€ $ 1902 $ 626 $  6,14¢
Provisions 3,492 90 50 3,632
Payment: (5,499 (939 (559 (6,989
Net currency translation adjustme (66) 22 — (44)
December 31, 20C $ 154 $ 108 % 128 $  2,75C
Total expected and incurred to d $ 811t $ 2228 % 826 $ 11,17




Severance Facility Relocation
and Benefits Closing Costs Costs Total
Metal Treatment
December 31, 20C $ — % —  $ —  $ —
Provisions 282 524 — 80¢€
Payment: (282) (5249) — (80€)
Net currency translation adjustme — — — —
December 31, 20C $ — % —  $ —  $ —
Total expected and incurred to d $ 282 % 524 % —  $ 80€
Total Curtiss-Wright
December 31, 200 $ 3616 $ 1902 $ 626 $  6,14¢
Provisions 4,68t 714 70€ 6,10:
Payment: (6,637) (1,559 (1,209 (9,399
Net currency translation adjustme (66) 22 — (44)
December 31, 20C $ 1602 $ 108 $ 128 $  2,80i
Total expected and incurred to d $ 1049 $ 304 $ 1,78 $ 15,32
Total expected and incurred to date through godc $ 552 $ 242« % 626 $  8,57¢
11. INCOME TAXES
Earnings before income taxes for the years endegbker 31 consist of:
(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Domestic $ 94698 $ 7197¢ $ 89,42
Foreign 50,56+ 97,12¢ 64,74¢
145,25¢ 169,10: 154,17
The provision for income taxes for the years erldedember 31 consists of:
(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Current:
Federa $ 33,04¢ $ 28,64« $ 35,17;
State 6,48¢ 8,90¢ 3,60z
Foreign 16,97« 28,53: 19,20¢
56,50¢ 66,08: 57,98
Deferred:
Federa (4,329 (5,410 (4,109
State 1,60( (1,704 337
Foreign (3,799 38¢ (4,372)
(6,522 (6,726 (8,149
Valuation allowanct 55 35€ —
Provision for income taxe $ 50,03¢ $ 59,71 $ 49,84:
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The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory tax rate for the years ended Decembgpr@icipally:

2009 2008 2007
U.S. federal statutory tax ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Add (deduct).

State and local taxes, net of federal ber 2.7 2.€ 1.8
Rate change 0.4 0.1 (2.
R&D tax credits 2.7 1.2 1.9
Foreign rate differentic 0.8 1.3 0.2
All other, net 1.2 0.1 (0.7)
Effective tax rate 34.4% 35.2% 32.2%

The 2009 effective tax rate included a tax berw#ff1.4 million principally due to a Canadian tate change which was offset by $2.0
million increase in state tax expense, net of feldeenefit, principally as a result of a reductinrstate rates thereby reducing the state def
tax assets. The 2009 effective tax rate was alswrdibly impacted by an increase in research andldpment tax credits from the Canadian
and U.K. operations. During 2009, the valuationatince increased principally due to foreign traimsteof $0.6 million. During 2008, a
valuation allowance of $5.0 million was establistimugh purchase accounting. An additional vatratillowance of $0.4 million was
established through income tax provision. The 28f@gctive tax rate included tax benefits of $4.1liom, including $3.2 million related to tt
tax law changes in Canada, the United Kingdom,@Gadnany and research and development credits fierd K. operations of $0.9 million.

The components of the Corporation’s deferred taetasand liabilities at December 31 are as follows:

(In thousands) 2009 2008

Deferred tax asset

Environmental reserve $ 7,961 % 8,97(
Inventories 15,20¢ 10,83¢
Postretirement/postemployment bene 15,75: 16,31(
Incentive compensatic 4,63¢ 5,18¢
Accrued vacation pa 4,892 4,781
Warranty reserv 3,632 3,28t
Legal reserve 3,76¢ 3,66¢
Shar-based paymen 7,82¢ 4,64¢
Retirement plan 40,17: 40,67
Net operating los 5,40¢ 2,16¢
Deferred revenu 9,13t 98¢
Other 8,851 14,54¢
Total deferred tax asse 127,24! 116,06(
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciatior 31,19¢ 19,93¢
Goodwill amortizatior 32,53: 25,331
Other intangible amortizatic 31,19: 31,97(
Other 3,92( 2,931
Total deferred tax liabilitie 98,83¢ 80,18(
Valuation allowanct 5,92¢ 5,37¢
Net deferred tax asse $ 22,48 $ 30,50¢
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflectedhe Corporation’s consolidated balance sheeteaeber 31 as follows:

(In thousands) 2009 2008

Net current deferred tax ass $ 48,771 $ 37,31
Net current deferred tax liabilitie 2,74C 3,087
Net noncurrent deferred tax ass 1,99 23,12¢
Net noncurrent deferred tax liabiliti 25,54¢ 26,85(
Net deferred tax assets (liabilitie $ 2248. $ 30,50¢

The Corporation has income tax net operating lasg/forwards related to international operationsygbroximately $18.9 million of which
$16.9 million have an indefinite life and $2.0 naili expire through 2018. The Corporation has stateme tax net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $0.1 million whickpére through 2023. The Corporation has recordddfarred tax asset of $5.4 million
reflecting the benefit of the loss carryforwards.

Management assesses the available positive antiveegaidence to estimate if sufficient future thbeincome will be generated to utilize
existing deferred tax assets. A significant pieiceljective negative evidence evaluated was thewtatiwe loss incurred over the three year
period ended December 31, 2009 in one of the Catjoor's foreign locations. Such objective evidetiggts the ability to consider other
subjective evidence such as projections for fuguosvth. Based on this evaluation, as of Decembe3@9, a valuation allowance of $5.9
million has been recorded, principally due to ne¢rating losses, in order to measure only the goui the deferred tax asset that more likely
than not will be realized. The amount of the defdriax asset considered realizable, however, dmiitjusted if estimates of future taxable
income during the carryforward period are reduced abjective negative evidence in the form of alative losses is no longer present and
additional weight may be given to subjective evitkeBuch as projections for growth.

Income tax payments of $69.5 million were madedA2 $65.3 million in 2008, and $62.1 million in@Q

No provision has been made for U.S. federal oridoréaxes on that portion of certain foreign sulasid< undistributed earnings considered
to be permanently reinvested, which at Decembe2309 was $143.8 million. It is not practicableegtimate the amount of tax that would be
payable if these amounts were repatriated to theetliStates; however, it is expected there woulchb@mal or no additional tax because of
the availability of foreign tax credits.

As of December 31, 2009, $0.3 million of the $3.iliam liability for unrecognized tax benefits rédato tax positions of an acquired entity
taken prior to their acquisition by the Corporati@nanges in acquired tax assets and liabilitidisaffect the income tax expense in the pe
of reversal. If recognized, the amount of potertaalbenefits net of federal benefit that would &opthe Corporation’s effective tax rate is
$2.3 million.

Interest costs related to unrecognized tax berafglassified as a component of “Interest exparest® in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. Penalties are recogagedcomponent of “Selling, general and adminisaxpenses.” The Corporation
recognized interest (income)/expense of ($0.2)ioniland $0.2 million for the years ended Decemlgi2B09 and 2008, respectively and
$0.1 million of penalties related to unrecognizaxl henefits for the year ended December 31, 2008.Corporation has recognized a liability
for interest of $0.5 million and penalties $0.3Iail as of December 31, 2009. As of December 3082the Corporation has recognized
liability for interest $0.7 million and penaltie®.2 million.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoaininrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007

Balance at January $ 4,44  $ 450z $ 3,261
Additions based on tax positions taken during argéeriod 53 59¢ 80z
Additions based on tax positions taken during tireent perioc 36¢ 35¢ 581
Reductions related to settlement of tax mat (4249) (347 (10
Reductions related to a lapse of applicable statiienitations (2,100 (39¢) (349
Foreign currency translatic 31 (26%) 217
Balance at December 2 $ 3372 $ 4,44t  $ 4,50z

In many cases the Corporation’s uncertain tax jpostare related to tax years that remain subgeekamination by tax authorities. The
following describes the open tax years, by majrijtasdiction, as of December 31, 2009:

United State:  1998- presen
Germany 2006- presen
Canade 2005- presen

The Corporation does not expect any significanhglea to the estimated amount of liability assodiatéh its uncertain tax positions through
the next twelve months. Unrecognized tax benefitgcognized, would affect the effective tax rate.

12. DEBT

Debt consists of the following:

(In thousands)December 31, 2009 2008

Industrial Revenue Bonds, due from 2010 througts: $ 9,19t $ 9,05¢
Revolving Credit Agreement, due 20 100,00( 154,50(
5.13% Senior Notes due 20 74,957 74,90(
5.74% Senior Notes due 20 125,05: 125,06¢
5.51% Senior Notes due 20 150,00( 150,00(
Other deb 5,88¢ 3,18¢
Total debt 465,09: 516,70¢
Less: Current Portion of Lorterm debt and She¢-term deb: 80,98: 3,24¢
Total Lon¢-term debi $ 384,11 $ 513,46(

The weighted-average interest rate of the Corpmrailndustrial Revenue Bonds was 0.81% and 2.322009 and 2008, respectively. The
weighted-average interest rate of the Corporati®@golving Credit Agreement was 1.60% and 3.8020@9 and 2008, respectively.

The fair value of the Corporation’s debt is preplareaccordance with the requirements of U.S. GAad’noted in Note 8. The estimated fair
value amounts were determined by the Corporatiorgwsrailable market information which is primarbigsed on quoted market prices for
the same or similar issues. The carrying amoutte@fndustrial Revenue Bonds approximates fairezalsithe interest rates on this variable
debt are reset periodically to reflect market cbods and rates. Fair values for the Corporatidimisd rate debt totaled $362.0 million and
$313.9 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, ret8pely. These fair values were estimated by mamesge. The fair values described
above may not be indicative of net realizable valueeflective of future fair values. Furthermoifee use of different methodologies to
determine the fair value of certain financial instents could result in a different estimate of Y@ilue at the reporting date.
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Aggregate maturities of debt are as follows(1):

(In thousands)

2010 $ 80,98:
2011 98
2012 100,10:
2013 125,10¢
2014 10¢€
Thereaftel 158,69(
Total $ 465,08

(1 Amounts exclude a $0.1 million adjustment to the fair value of long-term debt relating to the Corporation’s interest rate swap
agreements that were settled in cash during 2005.

Interest payments of $23.9 million, $26.5 milli@md $25.3 million were made in 2009, 2008, and 28&5pectively.

On August 10, 2007, the Corporation and certaibscubsidiaries amended and refinanced its exigtiadit facility and entered into a
Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (itCkgdeement”). The proceeds available under thed@Agreement are to be used for
working capital, internal growth initiatives, fumdj of future acquisitions, and general corporatpases. The Corporation’s available credit
under the credit facility increased from $400.0lionil to $425.0 million from a syndicate of banke by Bank of America, N.A. and JP
Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. as the co-arrangement bdmiesCredit Agreement also contains an accorddatufe which can expand the
overall credit line to a maximum aggregate amodi$6®0.0 million. The consortium membership hasairad relatively the same. The
Credit Agreement extends the maturity from JulyZK)9 to August 10, 2012, at which time all amouhé&n outstanding under the Credit
Agreement will be due and payable. In addition,@nedit Agreement provides for improved pricing andre favorable covenant terms,
reduced facility fees, and increased availabilityhe facility for letters of credit. Borrowings dar the Credit Agreement bear interest at a
floating rate based on market conditions. In additthe interest rate and level of facility fees dependent on certain financial ratio levels, as
defined in the Credit Agreement. The Corporatiosubject to annual facility fees on the commitmeamtder the Credit Agreement. In
connection with the Credit Agreement, the Corporapaid customary transaction fees that have befamrdd and are being amortized over
the term of the Credit Agreement. The Corporat®required under the Credit Agreement to maintaitain financial ratios and meet certain
financial tests, the most restrictive of which idebt to capitalization limit of 60% and a cros&ét provision with other senior indebtedne
As of December 31, 2009, the Corporation was ingl@nce with all covenants and had the flexibitiyissue additional debt of
approximately $1 billion without exceeding the coaat limit defined in the Credit Agreement. The @mation would consider other
financing alternatives to maintain capital struetbelance and ensure compliance with all debt anwsnThe Corporation had $100 million
and $154.5 million in borrowings outstanding (exithg letters of credit) under the Credit Agreemanbecember 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. The unused credit available undeCireslit Agreement at December 31, 2009 and 20085268.0 million and $208.0 million,
respectively.

On December 1, 2005, the Corporation issued $IBlion of 5.51% Senior Notes (the “2005 Notes"helr2005 Notes mature on December
1, 2017. The Notes are senior unsecured obligatiadsare equal in right of payment to the Corporgsi existing senior indebtedness. The
Corporation, at its option, can prepay at any tather any part of the 2005 Notes, subject to aerakole amount in accordance with the
terms of the Note Purchase Agreement. In conneetitinthe Notes, the Corporation paid customary fibat have been deferred and will be
amortized over the terms of the Notes. The Corpmras required under the Note Purchase Agreentemiaintain certain financial ratios, the
most restrictive of which is a debt to capitalimatiimit of 60% and a cross default provision wtitle Corporation’s other senior indebtedness.
As of December 31, 2009, the Corporation was ingl@nce with all covenants.

In November 2005, the Corporation unwound its ggérate swap agreements with notional amount@@fdillion and $60 million, which
were originally put in place to convert a portidrtiee fixed interest on the $75 million 5.13% Seriwtes and $125 million 5.74% Senior
Notes, respectively, to variable rates based ooifspe spreads over -month LIBOR. The unwinding of these swap agreesesgulted in a
net loss of $0.2 million, which has been deferned i@ being amortized over the remaining term efuhderlying debt.
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On September 25, 2003, the Corporation issued $200lion of Senior Notes (the “2003 Notes”). Thed3 Notes consist of $75.0 million of
5.13% Senior Notes that mature on September 2% 20d $125.0 million of 5.74% Senior Notes thaturabn September 25, 2013. The
Corporation intends to utilize these funds to gayD10 current obligations. The 2003 Notes ar@semsecured obligations and are equal in
right of payment to the Corporation’s existing sgrindebtedness. The Corporation, at its option,gr&pay at any time all or any part of the
2003 Notes, subject to a mak#role amount in accordance with the Note Purchagedément. The Corporation paid customary feeshinat
been deferred and will be amortized over the teshitke 2003 Notes. The Corporation is required uticke Note Purchase Agreement to
maintain certain financial ratios, the most resitrec of which is a debt to capitalization limit 60% and a cross default provision with the
Corporation’s other senior indebtedness. As of bde 31, 2009, the Corporation was in compliandé amny covenants.

At December 31, 2009, substantially all of the istrial revenue bond issues are collateralized byastate, machinery, and equipment.
Certain of these issues are supported by lettecgedit, which total $8.5 million. The Corporatibad various other letters of credit totaling
$49.0 million. Substantially all letters of credite included under the Credit Agreement.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Corporation is required to report both basioieas per share (“EPS”), based on the weighteda@mesnumber of Common shares
outstanding, and diluted earnings per share, bais¢ke basic EPS adjusted for all potentially diishares issuable.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Corporationntmadqualified share options outstanding of 1,038 €ifares and 1,078,379 shares,
respectively, which were not included in the comapioh of diluted EPS because to do so would haea lati-dilutive. Earnings per share
calculations for the years ended December 31, 2208, and 2007, are as follows:

Weighted-Average
Shares Earnings

(In thousands, except per share data) Net Income Outstanding Per Share
2009:
Basic earnings per she $ 95,22 45,231 $ 2.1C
Effect of dilutive securities

Employee sha-based compensation awa 38¢

Deferred director sha-based compensatic 69
Diluted earnings per sha $ 95,22 45,69t $ 2.0¢
2008:
Basic earnings per she $ 109,39( 44,71¢ $ 2.4
Effect of dilutive securities

Employee sha-based compensation awa 59¢€

Deferred director sha-based compensatic 62
Diluted earnings per sha $ 109,39( 45,37« $ 2.41
2007:
Basic earnings per she $ 104,32 44,31 $ 2.3t
Effect of dilutive securities

Employee sha-based compensation awa 60z

Deferred director sha-based compensatic 64
Diluted earnings per sha $ 104,32¢ 44,97¢ $ 2.3z

14. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Corporation maintains three share-based corafienglans under which it utilizes six differeotris of employee and non-employee
share-based compensation awards, as explainedlefuletail below, which include non-qualified shaptions, performance-based
restricted shares, time-based restricted stockparnidrmancedased restricted stock units. In addition, undeemmployee benefit program, 1
Corporation also provides an Employee Stock PuecPRdan (“ESPP”) available to almost all active egpks. Certain awards provide for
accelerated vesting if there is a change in control
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The compensation cost charged against income fptogmee and non-employee director share-based casapien programs during 2009,
2008, and 2007 is as follows:

(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007

Non-qualified share optior $ 6,272 $ 564t  $ 6,25¢
Employee stock purchase optic 3,56( 2,782 1,557
Performance shart 2,18¢ 2,021 1,63(
Performance restricted shal — 26& 26C
Restricted stock and restricted stock u 2,70C 2,34¢ 822
Other shar-based paymen 54¢ 59¢€ 384
Total shar-based compensation expense before income 15,26¢ 13,66: 10,91

Other share-based payments include restricted stwakds to normployee directors, who are treated as employepeseasribed by guidan
on share-based payments. The compensation coginieed follows the cost of the employee, whichrisnarily reflected as general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statemt# earnings. No cost was capitalized during®2@008, or 2007.

1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan and 2005 Long-Teroemtive Plan

Awards under the 1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan {895 LTI Plan”) consisted of three componentseHf@rmance units (cash), non-
qualified stock options, and non-employee diregrants. Under the 1995 LTI Plan approved by stolddrs in 1995 and as amended in 2002
and 2003, an aggregate total of 4,000,000 shar€smimon stock were approved for issuance. Issuafd@smmon stock to satisfy
employee option exercises will be made from thepGration’s treasury stock. The Corporation doesexpect to repurchase any shares in
2010 to replenish treasury stock for issuances radatisfy stock option exercises. The performantts that are paid in cash are recorded
as liabilities, while other awards are reflecte@quity.

Effective May 19, 2005, stockholders approved D@32l ong-Term Incentive Plan (the “2005 LTI Plallectively with the 1995 LTI
Plan, the “LTI Plans”), which superseded the 199% Rlan. The shares that were registered and riasgeed under the 1995 LTI Plan were
deregistered and then registered under the 200%1aFl. There are no new awards being granted uhdet995 LTI Plan and no remaining
allowable shares for future awards under the 1985Rlan. As of December 31, 2009 there were optiepsesenting a total of 0.7 million
shares outstanding under the 1995 plan.

Awards under the 2005 LTI Plan consist of six comgotds — performance units (cash), non-qualifiedesbptions, performance-based
restricted shares, time-based restricted stockpanfdrmance-based restricted stock units. Unde2€05 LTI Plan, an aggregate total of
5,000,000 shares of Common stock were registessdahces of Common stock to satisfy employee optierncises will be made from the
Corporation’s treasury stock. The Corporation dogtsexpect to repurchase any shares in 2010 tenispl treasury stock for issuances made
to satisfy stock option exercises. No more than@@®shares of Common stock or 100,000 sharestfated stock may be awarded in any
year to any one participant in the 2005 LTI P

Under the LTI Plans, the Corporation awarded tpgaformance units of 13.7 million, 13.6 million,cafh1.4 million in 2009, 2008, and 2007,
respectively, to certain key employees. The peréorce units are denominated in dollars and arerogerit upon the Corporation’s
satisfaction of performance objectives keyed tdeathg profitable growth over a period of threecfisyears commencing with the fiscal year
following such awards. The anticipated cost of samfards is expensed over the three-year performaeried, which amounted to $8.1
million, $9.4 million, and $7.3 million in 2009, 28, and 2007, respectively. The actual cost optréormance units may vary from the total
value of the awards depending upon the degree ithvithie key performance objectives are met.

Under the LTI Plans, the Corporation grants nonkifjed share options to key employees in the fouplarter of each year. Stock options
granted under the LTI Plans expire ten years #fiedate of the grant and are generally exercissbfellows: up to one-third of the grant
after one year, up to two-thirds of the grant afites years, and in full three years from the ddtgrant.

Page 80




Under the 2005 LTI Plan, the Corporation grantedgomance-based restricted shares, time-basedcteststock and stock units, and
performance-based restricted stock units to ceafihe Corporation’s officers and certain key ake@s, which are denominated in shares
based on the fair market value of the Corporati@dsimon stock on the date of grant. The performaased restricted stock units were
granted to officers of the Corporation in the fougtiarter of 2008 and 2007 and are contingent tip@satisfaction of performance objecti
keyed to achieving profitable growth compared tddmt and peers over a period of three fiscal yeamsmencing with the fiscal year
following such award. The performanbased restricted stock units were granted to cekiy employees in the first quarter of 2006 ande
contingent upon the satisfaction of performancedbjes keyed to achieving certain stretch opegdtinome goals in 2006. For those who
satisfied their one-year performance objectivesstises were awarded; however, these were tinréctedtfor an additional two years. The
Corporation granted restricted stock units to tfficers in September 2007 and 2006, which, undeitéhms of the agreements, will vest in
2016, and restricted stock to officers and certaiy executives in November 2008 and 2007, andicesdrstock units in 2009 which, under
the terms of the agreements, will completely veg2d12, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

In May 2003, the Corporation’s Board of Directorglastockholders approved an amendment to the 199®lan to authorize non-employee
directors to participate in the plan. The amendnmpeowided that each non-employee director couleixecthe equivalent of $15,000 of the
Corporation’s Common stock per year. The Board ioé€20ors approved and issued stock grants of 5&#eshof the Corporation’s Common
stock in 2005 to each of the eight non-employeeatiirs. The stock grants were valued at $15,008dbais the market price of the
Corporation’s Common stock on the grant date ane wepensed at the time of issuance.

As of December 31, 2009, there are 2,266,702 réntpallowable shares for issuance under the 200521an.
Nor-Qualified Share Options

The fair value of the non-qualified share optioresvestimated at the date of grant using a Blaclkli8sloption pricing model with the
assumptions noted in the following table. Expecteldtilities are based on historical volatility thie Corporation’s stock and other factors.
The Corporation uses historical data to estimageettpected term of options granted. The risk-fede for periods within the contractual life
of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yielde in effect at the time of grant.

2009 2008 2007
Risk-free rate 2.5% 2.72% 3.8&%
Expected volatility 29.61% 29.3% 23.6%
Expected dividend 1.22% 1.0€% 0.5¢%
Expected term (in year 6 6 7
Weightec-average gra-date fair value of optior $ 91¢ $ 89¢ $ 17.5C
A summary of employee stock option activity undex LTI Plans is as follows:
Weighted-
Average Aggregate
Weighted- Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Average Contractual Term Value
(000’s) Exercise Price in Years (000’s)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 256/ $ 30.1¢
Granted 731 30.91
Exercisec (129 19.3¢
Forfeited (67) 35.37
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 3,09¢ 3% 30.6¢ 7.2 $ 2,037
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 1,772 $ 29.3i% 5.7 $ 3,45¢

The total intrinsic value of stock options exerdisiiring 2009, 2008, and 2007 was $1.9 million1$8illion, and $8.7 million, respectively.
The table above represents the Corporation’s etiofaoptions fully vested
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and/or expected to vest as expected forfeitures@trenaterial to the Corporation and thereforerantereflected in the table above.

As noted above, non-qualified stock option awareeha graded vesting schedule. Compensation camtagnized on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period for each seplgragsting portion of each award as if each awaad im-substance, multiple awards. During
2009, 2008, and 2007, compensation cost assoaiatiechon-qualified stock options of $6.3 million5.$ million, and $6.3 million
respectively, was charged to expense. The Corporatis applied a forfeiture assumption of 7% inddleulation of such expense. As of
December 31, 2009, there was $5.6 million of ungaced compensation cost related to nonvested stoiiins, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1lassye

Cash received from option exercises during 2000828nd 2007 was $2.3 million, $2.6 million, and4$hillion, respectively. The total tax
benefit generated from options exercised duringd2@008, and 2007, was $0.5 million, $1.6 milliand $3.0 million, respectively. Tax
benefits received on exercised options which webgegt to expense under U.S. GAAP have been cretitdeferred taxes up to the amount
of benefit recorded in the income statement, Withdifference charged to additional paid in capiutddile tax benefits received on exercised
options that were not subject to expense have teslited to additional paid in capital.

Performance baseRestricted Shares, Time Based Restricted StodkParformance-based Restricted Stock Units

Since 2005, the Corporation granted performanceestend units to certain employees under the 200%lan, whose vesting is contingent
upon meeting various company-wide performance garagnd net income targets, both against budgetaradpercentage of sales against a
peer group. The nonvested shares are subjectfetime if established performance goals are ndt nreemployment is terminated other than
due to death, disability, or retirement. The sharesnontransferable while subject to forfeiturend-based restricted stock or restricted stock
units have also been granted to key executivesag@®09, 2008, and 2007. The nonvested restrittet & subject to forfeiture if
employment is terminated other than due to deathsability, and the units are subject to forfeitifremployment is terminated other than
due to death, disability, or retirement and aretramsferable while subject to forfeiture. A summafyhe Corporation’s nonvested
performance-based share, performance-based redtsbare, restricted stock, and restricted stoitkaativity for 2009 is as follows:

Weighted-Average

Shares/ Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Units Average Contractual Term Intrinsic Value
(000's) Fair Value in Years (000's)
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 961 $ 34.5%
Granted 318 30.9(C
Vested (16€) 30.07
Forfeited (44) 38.81
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 1,06¢ % 43.3¢ 15 $  33,30¢
Expected to vest at December 31, 2 70¢ % 47.5] 3.3 $ 22,20(

The grant-date fair values of performance share$ased on the closing market price of the stoctherdate of grant, and compensation cost
is amortized to expense on a straight-line basés the three-year requisite service period andmnagsuhat approximately 50% of the
performance shares will be forfeited. As forfeitasssumptions change, compensation cost will bestatjlon a cumulative basis in the period
of the assumption change. During 2006, it was dgtexd that 27,000 performance-based restricteceshaould eventually vest, and,
therefore, the Corporation had expensed $0.3 millic2008 and 2007. These shares vested on Jahu2099. The grant date fair values of
the restricted stock and restricted stock unitdbased on the closing market price of the stockeatlate of grant. The restricted stock and
restricted stock units contain only a service ctiodj and thus compensation cost is amortized peiese on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period, which ranged from 3.0rg¢a 10.1 years. As of December 31, 2009, thee$48.5 million of unrecognized
compensation cost related to nonvested performsimmess, restricted stock, and restricted stoclsuwitich is expected to be recognized ¢

a period of 3.3 years.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

The Corporation’s 2003 Employee Stock Purchase @t@n"ESPP”) enables eligible employees to puretihe Corporation’s Common stock
at a price per share equal to 85% of the loweheffair market value of the Common stock at thérbvégg or end of each offering period.
Each offering period of the ESPP lasts six months,
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with the first offering period commencing on Jaryuar 2004. Participation in the offering is limiteal10% of an employee’s base salary (not
to exceed amounts allowed under Section 423 offntieenal Revenue Code), may be terminated at amg kiy the employee, and
automatically ends on termination of employmentwiite Corporation. A total of 2,000,000 shares ofm@ion stock have been reserved for
issuance under the ESPP. The Common stock toysttesktock purchases under the ESPP will be nssled shares of Common stock.
During 2009, 310,513 shares were purchased unddeSiPP. As of December 31, 2009, there were Ollbms#hares available for future
offerings, and the Corporation has withheld $4.8ion from employees, the equivalent of 181,000reeaCompensation cost is recognized
on a straight-line basis over the six-month vesgiagod during which employees perform related ises: The Corporation recognized $0.1
million of tax benefit associated with disqualifgidispositions during 2009, all of which was credito additional paid in capital. Effective

of January 1, 2010, the look-back feature has bésrnated from the ESPP, thereby resulting inuke of the fair market value of the
common stock on the last day of the offering penadvhich the purchase price is based.

The fair value of the employee stock purchase pfations was estimated at the date of grant usiBlgek-Scholes option pricing model with
the weighted-average assumptions noted in theviollp table. Expected volatilities are based ondnisal volatility of the Corporation’s
stock. The Corporation uses historical data torext the expected term of options granted. Thefreskrate for periods within the
contractual life of the option is based on the U®asury yield curve in effect at the time of gran

2009 2008 2007
Risk-free interest rat 0.31% 2.7/% 4.2%
Expected volatility 60.02% 33.9% 30.02%
Expected dividend yiel 0.5% 0.35% 0.2%
Weightec-average option life (in year 0.5 0.t 0.5
Weightec-average gra-date fair value of optior $ 10.12 $ 11.5C $ 11.61

1996 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors and 28@igk Plan for Non-Employee Directors

The 2005 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (2&tock Plan”), approved by the stockholders iD52@rovided for the grant of stock
awards and, at the option of the non-employee ttirecthe deferred payment of regular stipulatedmensation and meeting fees in
equivalent shares. Under the 2005 Stock Plan, tmpdZation’s non-employee directors each receivaratual restricted stock award, which
is subject to a three-year restriction period comeingy on the date of the grant. For 2009, the vafube award granted in the first quarter
was $70,000 per director, and in 2008 and 2007vahee of the award granted was $50,000 per direTteese restricted stock awards are
subject to forfeiture if the non-employee direatesigns or retires by reason of his or her decismtrto stand for re-election prior to the
lapsing of all restrictions, unless the restricti@me otherwise removed by the Committee on Dire@nd Governance. The cost of the
restricted stock awards will be amortized overttiree year restriction period from the date of gransuch shorter restriction period as
determined by the removal of such restrictions. Neskected non-employee directors also receiveeatone five year restricted stock award,
which during 2008 and 2007 was valued at $25,00@0D9 there were no newly elected non-employestiirs. The total number of shares
of Common stock available for grant under the 286%k Plan may not exceed 100,000 shares. Durii§,ZD08 and 2007, the Corporation
awarded 18,168, 11,628, and 10,642, respectivieres of restricted stock under the 2005 Stock, Blawhich 12,490, 6,120, and 7,512
shares, respectively, have been deferred by cetii@ators.

The 1996 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors 8 %tock Plan”)approved by the stockholders in 1996, authorizedgtlant of restricte
stock awards and, at the option of the non-emplaolyextors, the deferred payment of regular stifgal@ompensation and meeting fees in
equivalent shares. Pursuant to the terms of thé $8&ck Plan, non-employee directors received aialinestricted stock grant of 7,224
shares in 1996, which became unrestricted in 28@ditionally, on the fifth anniversary of the iratigrant, those noemployee directors wt
remained a non-employee director received an axhditirestricted stock grant equal to the produchafeasing $13,300 at an annual rate of
2.96%, compounded monthly from the effective ddthe 1996 Stock Plan. In 2001, the amount perctirewas calculated to be $15,419,
representing a total additional grant of 3,110rietetd shares. The cost of the restricted stockdsvia being amortized over the five-year
restriction period from the date of grant. Priothe effective date of the 2005 Stock Plan, newdgted non-employee directors received
similar compensation under the terms of the 1996k5Plan upon their election to the Board.

Pursuant to election by non-employee directorgteive shares in lieu of payment for earned anerokf compensation under the 2005 and
1996 Stock Plans, the Corporation had providedifoaggregate additional

Page 83




69,468 and 62,077 shares at an average price dd42nd $25.51, respectively, as of December 319 20id 2008, respectively. During 2(
and 2008, the Corporation issued 9,833 and 11 H@riés, respectively, in compensation pursuantc¢h slections.

15. ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

The Corporation has continued the operation ofjtioend water and soil remediation activities at\eod-Ridge, New Jersey, site through
2009. The cost of constructing and operating titésvgas provided for in 1990 when the Corporatistablished a reserve to remediate the
property. The reserve balance as of December 3B, 2@as $6.1 million, which was essentially unchehffom the prior year balance. Even
though this property was sold in December 2001 Chwporation retained the responsibility for tresnediation in accordance with the sale
agreement.

The Corporation has been named as a potentialhpnssble party (“PRP”), as have many other corponatand municipalities, in a number
of environmental clean-up sites. The Corporatiantiooies to make progress in resolving these clémsigh settlement discussions and
payments from established reserves. Significaas sgmaining open at the end of the year are: Galldwucking landfill superfund site,
Fairfield, New Jersey; Sharkey landfill superfuiité sParsippany, New Jersey; and Chemsol, Inc.rbupe site, Piscataway, New Jersey.
Corporation believes that the outcome for any eséremaining sites will not have a materially aslweffect on the Corporation’s results of
operations or financial condition.

In the first quarter of 2005, the Corporation sitéd-airfield, New Jersey, property, which was ferty an operating facility for the
Corporation’s Motion Control segment. Under theesadreement, the Corporation has retained the me#plity to continue the ongoing
environmental remediation on the property. At tagedf the sale, remediation costs associatedthétlrairfield site were anticipated to be
incurred over three to five years with an estimatest of $1.5 million. During 2009 and 2008, thef@wation increased the remediation
reserve by $0.7 million and $0.4 million, respeelyy based upon revised operating projections.Jtwporation did not have increased costs
in 2007. As of December 31, 2009, the reserve alaras $0.9 million.

In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Corporation @ased the remediation reserve related to the Clldiveeking landfill superfund site by $4
million. The increase related to the estimated gdwater remediation for this site, which could spaar 30 years. During 2006, the
Corporation increased the remediation reserve b§ $llion based upon revised operating cost ptajes. Through 2009, the majority of 1
costs for this site have been for the soil reméthatAs of December 31, 2009, the reserve balarae$s.1 million.

The Corporation maintains several Nuclear Regwafmmmission (“NRC”) licenses necessary for theticmred operation of the EMD
facility in Cheswick, Pennsylvania. In connectioithithese licenses, the NRC requires financial i@sse from the Corporation in the forrr
a parent company guarantee representing estimaw@emental decommissioning and remediation cast®ciated with the commercial
operations covered by the licenses. In additiom Gbrporation has obligations for additional envimeental remediation costs at this facility,
which are ongoing. As of December 31, 2009, thar# in this reserve was $8.4 million. The Corporabbtained partial environmental
insurance coverage specifically for this facilithe policy provides coverage for losses due torasffesite pollution conditions, which are
pre-existing and unknown.

The Corporation’s aggregate environmental obligatibDecember 31, 2009 was $20.9 million compaoek2.2 million at December 31,
2008. Approximately 75% of the Corporation’s ennimental reserves as of December 31, 2009, reprsentirrent value of anticipated
remediation costs and are not discounted primdrily to the uncertainty of timing of expenditureke Temaining environmental reserves are
discounted using a rate of 4% to reflect the tiraki®@ of money since the amount and timing of cashments for the liability are reliably
determinable. All environmental reserves exclude@otential recovery from insurance carriers ordfparty legal actions. As of December
31, 2009, the undiscounted cash flows associatddtie discounted reserves were $8.3 million ardhaticipated to be paid over the next 30
years.

16. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Corporation maintains twelve separate andngisfiension and other postretirement benefit plemissisting of four domestic pensions
and other postretirement benefit plans and eigbarsge foreign pension plans. The Corporation raaistthe following domestic plans: a
qualified pension plan, a non-qualified pensiompknd a postretirement health-benefits plan (@rtiss-Wright Plans”), and a
postretirement health benefits plan for EMD empésye
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The foreign plans consist of three defined bemfitsion plans in the United Kingdom, two in Mexassumed in a 2007 acquisition, and one
plan each in Canada, Switzerland, and Norway. Towvily plan and one of the plans in the United Kiomgdvere assumed in 2008
acquisitions. The total projected benefit obligatielated to all foreign plans is $66.4 milliona€December 31, 2009. Each plan is further
described below.

Domestic Plans
The Curtiss-Wright Plans

The Corporation maintains a defined benefit penpian, the CW Pension Plan, covering all employseter four benefit formulas: a non-
contributory non-union and union formula for allf@ss-Wright (“CW”) employees, and a contributonyien and non-union benefit formula
for employees at the EMD business unit.

The formula for CW non-union employees is compasfed “traditional” benefit based on years of crediservice, the five highest
consecutive years' compensation during the lasyéams of service, and a “cash balangehefit. CW union employees who have negotial
benefit under the CW Pension Plan are entitledtereefit based on years of service multiplied lyamthly pension rate. Employees become
participants under the CW Pension Plan after oae gkservice and, due to recent changes in pefaignare vested after three years of
service. The formula for EMD employees covers hotlon and non-union employees and is designedtisfysthe requirements of relevant
collective bargaining agreements. Employee contiobs are withheld each pay period and are equbl3% of salary. The benefits for the
EMD employees are based on years of service angeasation.

Effective February 1, 2010, the Corporation hasraded the CW Pension Plan to close the traditioaaklt to new entrants. All new
employees hired on or after the effective date bélieligible for the cash balance benefit. The ainmemnt does not affect CW employees that
are subject to collective bargaining agreementngployees of EMD.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Corporationahadncurrent pension liability of $65.9 million a#d2.5 million, respectively. The
Corporation did not contribute funds to the CW Fam&lan in 2009 and due to recent changes to mgnaigulations we no longer expect to
make contributions in 2010. However, we do expechake a contribution of approximately $28 millior2011 and cumulative contributio
of approximately $158 million through 2014.

The Corporation also maintains a non-qualifiedaegton plan (the “CW Restoration Plan”) coverihgse employees of CW and EMD
whose compensation or benefits exceed the IRSdlioit for pension benefits. Benefits under the CigtBration Plan are not funded, and
such, the Corporation had an accrued pensionitiabifl $16.0 million and $14.1 million as of Deceent81, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The
Corporation’s contributions to the CW RestoratidanPare expected to be $0.7 million in 2010.

The Corporation provides postretirement health fisn® certain employees (the “CW Retirement PJahi 2002, the Corporation
restructured the postretirement medical benefitgéotain active employees, effectively freezing phan. The obligation associated with tk
active employees was transferred to the CW Perid@m The plan continues to be maintained foradtemployees. The Corporation had an
accrued postretirement benefit liability of $0.7limnh as of December 31, 2009 and 2008. Benefitteuthe plan are not funded. The
Corporation’s contributions to the CW RetiremerarPare not expected to be material in 2010.

EMD Plan

The Corporation, through an administration agregméth Westinghouse, maintains the WestinghouseeBuowent Services Group Welfare
Benefits Plan (the “EMD Retirement Plan”), a regifeealth and life insurance plan for substantiallipf the Curtiss-Wright Electro-
Mechanical Corporation employees. The EMD Retirenfdan provides basic health and welfare coverage won-contributory basis.
Benefits are based on years of service and aredulbj certain caps. The Corporation had an acquastfetirement benefit liability at
December 31, 2009 and 2008 of $29.1 million and B2@llion, respectively. Pursuant to the Assetdhase Agreement, the Corporation has
a discounted receivable from Washington Group hatonal to reimburse the Corporation for a porbthese postretirement benefit costs.
At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the discountedvebks included in other assets was $2.9 million 8% million, respectively. The
Corporation expects to contribute $1.6 millionthe EMD Retirement Plan during 2010.
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Foreign Plans
Indal Technologies Hourly Plan (Canac

The Pension Plan for Hourly Employees of Indal Textbgies, Inc. (“Indal Plan”) commenced on Marci2@05 in connection with the
acquisition of Indal by the Corporation. This namtributory defined benefit plan provides monthgnbfits to eligible members equal to a
member’s credited service multiplied by a fixedldohmount. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, thip@ation had an accrued pension
liability of $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respeeely. The Corporation’s contributions to the Inddan are expected to be $0.3 million in
2010.

Metal Improvement Compar Salaried Staff Pension Scheme (U.K.)

The Corporation maintains the Salaried Staff Pensaheme (“MIC Plan”) for the benefit of Metal Tteeent employees in the U.K. This
contributory plan provides defined benefits to iblig members equal to one-sixtieth of final penalade salary for each year of pensionable
service. Members contribute at the rate of 6% eirthensionable salary, and the Corporation fuhddtlance of the cost to provide benefits.
Members are eligible for early retirement with reeld benefits. The plan provides for early retirenameduced benefits and was closed to
new entrants as of January 1, 2004. As of DeceBibe2009 and 2008, the Corporation had an accraesign liability of $4.1 million and
$4.6 million, respectively. The Corporation’s cd@itions to the MIC Plan are expected to be appnakély $1.0 million in 2010.

Penny & Giles Pension Plan (U.k

The Penny & Giles Pension Plan (“P&G Plan”) is atdbutory plan that provides for both defined bigrend defined contribution benefits.
Defined benefit members are entitled to final satatated benefits equal to one-sixtieth of fineahpionable salary for each year of
pensionable service. The P&G Plan provides folyaatirement at reduced benefits and was closegwoentrants at time of acquisition in
2002. The following disclosures include information the Penny & Giles defined benefit section omipich represents the majority of the
P&G Plan’s costs. As of December 31, 2009 and 20@8Corporation had an accrued pension liabilit$l09 million and $1.4 million,
respectively. The Corporation’s contributions te &G Plan are expected to be approximately $2ligomin 2010.

Mechetronics Limited Retirement Benefits Schemg

The Corporation assumed defined benefit obligatama result of the acquisition of MechetronicgOmtober 1, 2008. The plan is based on
Final Pensionable Salary and years of service. isalt of the restructuring of Mechetronics angl ¢bnsolidation of UK operations, there
are no active employees in the pension plan assoéBber 31, 2009 as the employees became defasamtparticipants. See Note 10 for
further information regarding the restructuring. &December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Corporatioramagiccrued pension liability of $3.6
million and $3.8 million, respectively. The Corpboa’s contributions to the plans are expectedg0.4 million in 2010.

Curtiss Wright Antriebstechnik GmbH (“CWAT”) PensiBlan (Switzerland)

CWAT sponsors a defined contribution plan coveBdgemployees as of December 31, 2009. Under Swveias there is a guaranteed
minimum benefit requirement which must be valued dgfined benefit obligation for US GAAP purposis.of December 31, 2009 and
2008, the Corporation had an accrued pensionilialoi $1.4 million and $1.3 million, respectivelyhe Corporation’s contributions to the
plans are expected to be $0.9 million in 2010.
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Power Systems Inc'PSI”) de Mexico Pension Plans (subsidiary of IMCalyhetics, Inc.)

The Corporation assumed defined benefit obligatama result of the acquisition of IMC Magnetic2007. Under Federal Labor Law in
Mexico, all full-time employees of PSI de Mexiceeamtitled to benefits under two plans: Senioritgr®ium and Termination Indemnity. The
Seniority Premium plan enables employees to redswefits in the event of death, disability, dissais voluntary separation, and retirement.
Benefits under voluntary separation and retirenae@tsubject to certain requirements. The benedigisal to 12 days of salary per year of
accreditable service, payable in lump sum. The Tretion Indemnity enables employees to receive titsria the event of dismissal or
retirement. The benefit is equal to three monthsatdiry plus bonuses, plus twenty days of salary pbnus per year of accredited service,
payable in lump sum. As of December 31, 2009 ari82the Corporation had an accrued pension lighohit$0.2 million and $0.1 million,
respectively. The Corporation’s contributions te tlans are expected to be immaterial in 2010.

VMETRO ASA Pension Plan

The Corporation assumed defined benefit obligatama result of the acquisition of VMETRO on Octobg, 2008. The group pension plan
entitles the employees of the Norwegian compani#sfwture benefits based on years of servicewage level at time of retirement, and
benefits from the national insurance plan. As of&wsber 31, 2009 and 2008, the Corporation had emied pension liability of $0.3 million
and $1.8 million, respectively. The Corporationgmtributions to the plan are expected to be apprately $0.2 million in 2010.

The following table details the components of rexiqulic pension expense for all Pension Plans:

Components of net periodic benefit

expense(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007

Service cos $ 27,060 $ 23197 $ 20,23¢
Interest cos 24,23¢ 21,06¢ 19,08t
Expected return on plan ass (29,039 (30,170 (28,21
Amortization of prior service co: 64€ 63E 481
Recognized net actuarial la 2,28 71€ 512
Cost of settlements/curtailmer 1,41¢ 11¢ —
Net periodic benefit expen: $ 2661: $ 15566 $ 12,10:

Net periodic benefit expense for 2009 includes .8 $@llion correction of an immaterial error in tReirtis-Wright Pension and Restoration
plans. The actuarial calculation error resultednrunderstatement of expense in the 2008 valuafive additional $2.0 million is reflected in
each component of expense.

The “Cost of settlements/curtailments” indicatedwabrepresent events that are accounted for und@amce on employers’ accounting for
settlements and curtailments of defined benefismenplans. In 2009, a settlement charge of $1lkomiresulted from the retirement of a k
executive and his subsequent election to recewdmsion benefit as a single lump sum payout. st of this single lump sum payout,
special settlement requirements have been triggé&rad charge was partially offset by curtailmeaing associated with reductions in
workforce in Norway and Mexico. The settlement ¢jeain 2008 is resulting from the retirement of amptoyee in Switzerland.

The following table details the components of rezigrlic expense for the CW and EMD Postretiremesriadit Plans:

(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007

Service cos $ 66€ $ 684 $ 625

Interest cos 1,601 1,77¢ 1,744

Recognized net actuarial g¢ (859 (57%) (632)

Net periodic benefit expen: $ 1,412 % 1887 $ 1,73t
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In the following table, the pension benefits infation is a consolidated disclosure of all domestid foreign plans described earlier. The
postretirement benefits information includes thendstic CW and EMD postretirement benefit planghage are no foreign postretirement
benefit plans. All plans were valued using a Decen®i, 2009 measurement date to comply with theireaents of U.S. GAAP to measure
plan assets and benefit obligations as of the afatee employer’s fiscal year-end statement ofriirial position.

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(In thousands) 2009 2008 2009 2008
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 398,71 $ 36889 $ 28,81¢ $  31,14¢
Service cos 27,067 23,197 66€ 684
Interest cos 24,23¢ 21,06¢ 1,601 1,77¢
Plan participan’ contributions 2,15( 2,24¢ 382 43C
Amendments 4,547 1,89¢ — —
Actuarial loss (gain 14,01 (11,12% 35¢ (3,207
Benefits paic (28,757) (22,229 (2,039 (2,689
Acquisitions/transferred liabilitie — 16,46¢ — —
Retiree drug subsidy receiv — — 87 251
Curtailments (80¢) — — —
Settlement: (2,777 (1,176 — —
Plan measurement date chal — 10,63: — 414
Currency translation adjustmel 5,41¢ (11,169 — —
Benefit obligation at end of year 443,80: 398,71 29,87 28,81¢
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ 298,89: 431,33t — —
Actual return on plan asse 70,97( (123,969 — —
Employer contributior 6,717 3,78¢ 1,65¢ 2,25¢
Plan participan’ contributions 2,15( 2,24¢ 382 43C
Acquisitions/transferred liabilitie — 9,707 — —
Benefits paic (28,757) (22,229 (2,039 (2,689
Settlement: (3,709 (1,17¢) — —
Plan measurement date cha — 7,31¢ — —
Currency translation adjustmel 4,10z (8,136 — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of yee 350,37( 298,89: — —
Funded status (93,43) (99,827 (29,879 (28,819
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial pgtion consist of:
Noncurrent asse — — — —
Current liabilities (710 (1,049 (1,665 (1,830
Noncurrent liabilities (92,72) (98,779 (28,209 (26,989
Net amount recognized in statement of financial pdton: $ (9343) $ (99.82) $ (29,879 $ (28,819
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehenst income

(AOCI) consist of:
Net actuarial loss (gair 76,38 107,30¢ (20,509 (11,720
Prior service cos 8,322 4,38t — —
Net amount recognized in AOCI $ 84,708 $ 11169 $ (10,509 $ (11,720
Amounts in AOCI expected to be recognized in net pmdic cost in

the coming year:
Loss (gain) recognitio 2,93¢ 68t (624) (763
Prior service cost recognitic 1,11C 633 — —
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 394,08 $ 349,62 N/A N/A

Information for pension plans with an accumulated lenefit
obligation in excess of plan assets:
Projected benefit obligatic 425,09( 387,44 N/A N/A



Accumulated benefit obligatic 382,64t 342,63 N/A N/A
Fair value of plan asse 333,81t 289,05: N/A N/A
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Plan Assumptions

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(In thousands) 2009 2008 2009 2008
Weighted-average assumptions in determination of benefit olgation:
Discount rate 5.8%% 5.8% 5.9¢% 6.0(%
Rate of compensation incree 4.04% 4.02% N/A N/A
Health care cost trend

Rate assumed for subsequent y N/A N/A 9.5(% 8.5(%

Ultimate rate reached in 2014 and 2012, respegt N/A N/A 5.5(% 5.5(%
Weighted-average assumptions in determination of net periodibenefit cost:
Discount rate 5.8% 5.87% 6.0(% 5.9¢%
Expected return on plan ass 8.15% 8.2¢% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation incree 4.02% 4.02% N/A N/A
Health care cost trend

Rate assumed for subsequent y N/A N/A 8.5(% 9.5(%

Ultimate rate reached in 2014 and 2012, respegt N/A N/A 5.5(% 5.5(%

The discount rate for each plan is determined bgalinting the plan’s expected future benefit paymasing a yield curve developed from
high quality bonds that are rated Aa or better lyoly’s as of the measurement date. The yield coamleulation matches the notional cash
inflows of the hypothetical bond portfolio with tlespected benefit payments to arrive at one effectite for each plan.

The overall expected return on assets assumptioasisd on a combination of historical performarfdb® pension fund and expectations of
future performance. Expected future performanaietermined by weighting the expected returns fohesset class by the plan’s asset
allocation. The expected returns are based on tiemg-capital market assumptions utilizing a tenrytemae horizon through consultation with
investment advisors. While consideration is givenetcent performance and historical returns, teeraption represents a long-term
prospective return.

The effect on the CW and EMD Retirement Plans b¥achange in the health care cost trend is asWsllo

(In thousands) 1% Increase 1% Decrease
Total service and interest cost compont $ 34C % (264)
Postretirement benefit obligati $ 3397 3 (2,729

Pension Plan Asset

The overall objective for plan assets is to earat@ of return over time to meet anticipated bémefyments in accordance with plan
provisions. The long-term investment objectivere domestic retirement plans is to achieve a tatelof return, net of fees, which exceeds
the actuarial overall expected return on assetmgsson used for funding purposes and which provige appropriate premium over inflati
The intermediate-term objective of the domestizeatent plans, defined as three to five yearsy mutperform each of the capital markets in
which assets are invested, net of fees. Duringpdsrof extreme market volatility, preservation apital takes a higher precedence than
outperforming the capital markets.

The Corporation’s Retirement Plan Committee isoesfble for formulating investment policies, dey@tm investment manager guidelines
and objectives, and approving and managing qudld@visors and investment managers. The guidetisiblished define permitted
investments within each asset class and applyigedstrictions such as limits on concentrated imgjgl, and prohibits selling securities short,
buying on margin, and the purchase of any secsriggued by the Corporation.
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The Corporation maintains the funds of the CW RemBilan under a trust and are diversified acrogssiiment classes and among investment
managers in order to achieve an optimal balancedsat risk and return. In accordance with this golihe Corporation has established target
allocations for each asset class and ranges ottgexposure. The Corporation’s domestic retirdraesets are invested within this
allocation structure in three major categories: dstic equity securities, international equity séms, and debt securities. Below are the
Corporation’s actual and established target allonatfor the CW Pension Plan, representing 84%oofaclidated assets:

As of December 31, Target Expected
Asset class 2009 2008 Exposure Range
40% -
Domestic equitie 49% 43% 50% 60%
10% -
International equitie 17% 16% 15% 20%
55% -
Total equity 66% 59% 65% 75%
25% -
Fixed income 34% 41% 35% 45%
Cash 0% 0% 0% 0%-10%

The Corporation may from time to time require thallocation of assets in order to bring the reteatiplans into conformity with these
ranges. The Corporation may also authorize altarator deviations from these ranges where apptegoa achieving the objectives of the
retirement plans.

Foreign plan assets represent 15.6% of consoligdéedassets, with the majority of the assets stjpgpothe U.K. plans. The UK foreign
plans follow a similar asset allocation strateghijlevother plans are more heavily weighted in fixecbme resulting in a weighted expected
return on assets assumption of 5.88% for all fargigns.

Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents consolidated plantassging the fair value hierarchy as of DecembeR809:

Quoted Prices

in Active
Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
Asset Category Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash $ 11,217 $ 6,101 $ 511¢ $ —
Equity Securities
US Large Cap (e 120,66! 120,66! — —
US Small Cap (b 20,917 20,917 — —
Foreign Large Cap (« 52,18: 52,01% 16€ —
Foreign Mid Cag 85 85 — —
Foreign Index Funds (« 18,821 — 18,821 —
Balanced Funds (¢ 3,00t — 3,00t —
Total Equities $ 21568. $ 193,68 $ 21,99¢ $ —
Fixed Income Securitie:
US Corporate Bonds ( 24,50¢ 12 24,39( 104
US Fixed Income Mutual Fund ( 67,45( 67,45( — —
US Other Fixed Income (! 3,48 — 3,48z —
Foreign Government Bonds 6,082 1,617 4,46¢ —
Foreign Corporate Bonds | 4,26 1,54t 2,34 37¢
Foreign Government Index Funds 1,24( — 1,24C —
Foreign Corporate Bond Index Funds 7,21¢ — 7,21¢ —
Total Fixed Income Securitie $ 114,24  $ 70,62¢ $ 43,137 % 482
Alternative Investments
Insurance Contracts (| 8,16: — — 8,16:

Total Alternative Investmen $ 8,162 $ — % — % 8,16:



Real Estate
US Real Estat - —
Foreign Real Estate ( 1,06¢ — — 1,06¢€

Total Real Estat $ 1,066 $ — 3 — 3 1,06¢
Total Assets $ 350,37( % 270,40¢ $ 70,257 % 9,71(
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Valuation

This category comprised of two growth and two v-oriented portfolios of US securities benchmarkediregt the S&P 500 inde
This category consists of a portfolio of US secgesibenchmarked against the Russell 2000 ir

This category consists of two international mufualds benchmarked against the MSCI EAFE in

This category is comprised of global equity indextnal funds associated with the -based pension plar

This category consists of one pooled balanced &ssdciated with the Canadian plan comprised of éQ@ities and 40% fixed
income/cash

This category consists of a portfolio of domesitkedl income securities benchmarked against thel®gCapital Aggregate Bor
Index, with the majority of the portfolio comprisefiBAA and A-rated corporate bond

This category consists of an actively-managed boatlial fund comprised of domestic investment-grdelat, fixed-income
derivatives, and below investm-grade issue:

This category consists of US asset backed seayritianicipal bonds, and convertible de
These categories consist of bond mutual fundsitititional investors associated with plans int3griand, Norway, and the Ul

These categories consist of bond index mutual fdodistitutional investors in the UK aiming toptare the returns of the iBoxx
and NoI-Gilt indices for corporates and the FTSE A indexgovernment bonds (gilts

This category consists of a guaranteed investnanttact (GIC) in Switzerland. Amounts contributedhe plan are guaranteed
a foundation for occupational benefits that in tentered into a group insurance contract and thedation pays a guaranteed rate
of interest that is reset annual

This category consists of real estate investmestgrin Switzerland and Norwe

Equity securities and exchange-traded equity amdl noutual funds are valued using a market apprbaskd on the quoted market prices of
identical instruments. Pooled institutional funds @alued at their net asset values (NAVs) anctaleulated by the sponsor of the fund.

Fixed income securities are primarily valued usingarket approach utilizing various underlying jpricsources and methodologies. Real
estate investment trusts are priced at net ashket Based on valuations of the underlying realtedtaldings using inputs such as discounted
cash flows, independent appraisals, and marketdbam®aparable data.

Cash balances in the US are held in a pooled foddtkassified as a Level 2 asset. Non-US cashligdaising a market approach based on
guoted market prices of identical instruments.

Page 91



The following table presents a reconciliation of/ee3 assets held during the year ending Decemhe2®)9:

Insurance Corporate Real
Contracts Bonds Estate Total
Beginning Balance at December 31, 2! $ 6,93¢ $ 1,76t % 1,14¢ % 9,841
Actual return on plan asse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting 12¢ 22 65 21t
Relating to assets sold during the pel — 36 — 36
Purchases, sales, and settlem 84C 39 (14%) 734
Transfers in and/or out of Level — (1,380 — (1,380
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustme 25¢ — — 25¢
Ending Balance at December 31, 2! $ 8,16z $ 48z 3 1,066 $ 9,71(

Benefit Payment:

The following benefit payments, which reflect extgetfuture service, as appropriate, are expectée fmaid from the plans:

EMD
Pension Postretirement Subsidy
(In thousands) Plans Plans Receipts Total
2010 $ 30,90¢ $ 1841 $ (125 $ 32,62
2011 33,43: 1,98¢ (142) 35,27¢
2012 34,17: 2,07¢ (161) 36,08
2013 35,32¢ 2,13: (181) 37,27¢
2014 37,40 2,21t (299) 39,42
2015- 2019 206,62: 11,78 (1,289 217,11¢

Other Pension and Postretirement Plans

The Corporation offers all of its domestic emplayé®e opportunity to participate in a defined citmtion plan. Costs incurred by the
Corporation in the administration and record kegpmihthe defined contribution plan are paid fortbg Corporation and are not considered
material.

In addition, the Corporation had foreign pensioatsainder various defined contribution plans o638illion, $2.6 million, and $3.0 million
in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.

17. LEASES

The Corporation conducts a portion of its operatifinm leased facilities, which include manufactgrand service facilities, administrative
offices, and warehouses. In addition, the Corporaigases vehicles, machinery, and office equipmedér operating leases. The leases
expire at various dates and may include renewalsanalations. Rental expenses for all operatiagele amounted to $29.2 million in 2009,
$29.0 million in 2008, and $21.3 million in 2007.
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At December 31, 2009, the approximate future mimmrental commitments under operating leases that imétial or remaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year doH@sgs:

Rental

(In thousands) Commitment
2010 $ 22,56/
2011 22,49¢
2012 19,29¢
2013 16,98:
2014 15,49(
Thereatftel 51,06¢
Total $  147,90(

18. INDUSTRY SEGMENTS

The Corporation manages and evaluates its opesadb@ased on the products and services it offergtendifferent markets it serves. Based on
this approach, the Corporation has three reportdgenents: Flow Control, Motion Control, and Métedatment. The Flow Control segment
primarily designs, manufactures, distributes, adises a broad range of highly engineered flowtrmbproducts including valves, pumps,
motors, generators, instrumentation, and contesitednics for severe service military and comméiagiglications. The Motion Control
segment primarily designs, develops, and manufestrechanical systems, drive systems, and missitical embedded computing produ
and sensors our mainly for the aerospace and defiedastries. Metal Treatment provides various fhegical services, principally shot
peening, coatings, and heat treating. The segnmenides these services to a broad spectrum of mgstoin various industries, including
aerospace, automotive, construction equipmengnallgas, petrochemical, and metal working. Ther ygar periods have been adjusted for
the transfer of the Indal Technologies businessfumin the Motion Control segment to the Flow Cohtegment, accordingly all segment
data has been modified.

The accounting policies of the operating segmemrshe same as those described in the summargrfisant accounting policies. Interest
expense and income taxes are not reported on aatimgesegment basis because they are not condidetiee segments’ performance
evaluation by the Corporation’s chief operatingisien-maker, its Chairman and CEO.

During 2009, 2008, and 2007, the Corporation hadirext defense customer or commercial customeesemting more than 10% of
consolidated revenue.
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Corporate

Consolidated Industry Segment Flow Motion Metal Segmen
Information: (In thousands) Control Control Treatment Total and Other M) Consolidatec
Year Ended December 31, 20(
Revenue from external custom: $ 985,17. $ 621,03t 203,48( $ 1,809,691 % — $ 1,809,691
Intersegment revenu 29 3,894 1,371 5,30( (5,300 —
Operating income (expens 92,72 80,94¢ 19,89 193,56: (24,247 169,31¢
Depreciation and amortization expel 35,58: 25,21( 14,47: 75,26¢ 1,21¢ 76,48:
Segment asse 1,099,96! 771,35! 232,65¢ 2,103,97. 38,06¢ 2,142,04.
Capital expenditure 43,78: 11,81¢ 16,85: 72,45( 2,082 74,53:
Year Ended December 31, 20(
Revenue from external custom $ 971,74: $ 594,37¢ 264,02( $ 1,830,141 $ — $ 1,830,14i
Intersegment revenur 32 4,622 924 5,57¢ (5,57¢) —
Operating income (expens 102,39« 60,35¢ 52,14: 214,89! (18,339 196,56:
Depreciation and amortization expel 35,10¢ 23,88: 14,17¢ 73,16 1,08¢ 74,25!
Segment asse 984,75: 772,67" 235,41 1,992,84. 49,18¢ 2,042,03I
Capital expenditure 64,79¢ 18,00: 19,43¢ 102,23: 75C 102,98:
Year Ended December 31, 20(
Revenue from external custom: $ 790,32t $ 546,95 254,83¢ $ 1,592,12. $ — $ 1,592,12
Intersegment revenur — 597 1,10z 1,70C (1,700 —
Operating income (expens 77,40 60,91( 50,88( 189,19: (10,009 179,18«
Depreciation and amortization expel 29,15¢ 19,95¢ 13,38¢ 62,49t 204 62,69¢
Segment asse 970,36¢ 697,27 234,97¢ 1,902,61! 82,94 1,985,56!
Capital expenditure 21,18¢ 15,21 16,17: 52,57: 1,861 54,43:
@ Operating expense for Corporate and Other inclpéesion expense, environmental remediation andrasirtive expenses, legal, and other expenses.
Reconciliations
(In thousands)December 31, 2009 2008 2007
Revenues
Total segment revent $ 1,809,691 $ 1,830,124 $ 1,592,12
Intersegment revent 5,30( 5,57¢ 1,70C
Elimination of intersegment reven (5,300 (5,57¢) (1,700
Total consolidated revenu $ 1,809,691 $ 1,830,124 $ 1,592,12
Earnings before taxe:
Total segment operating incor $ 19356. $ 214,89 $ 189,19:
Corporate and administrati (24,247 (18,339 (120,009
Other income, ne 1,00¢ 1,58¢ 2,36¢
Interest expens (25,06¢) (29,045 (27,387
Total consolidated earnings before $ 14525¢ $ 169,10: $ 154,17:
Assets
Total assets for reportable segme $ 2,103,970 $ 199284 $ 1,902,61
Pension asse — — 73,91«
Non-segment cas 4,46( 5,98¢ 2,30¢
Other asset 33,60¢ 43,20: 6,72z
Total consolidated asse $ 2,142,04. $ 2,042,031 $ 1,985,56!
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The following table presents geographical informaif the Corporation’s revenues and property,tpkamd equipment based on the location
of the customer and the assets, respectively:

(In thousands)December 31, 2009 2008 2007

Long-Lived Long-Lived Long-Lived
Revenues Assets Revenues Assets Revenues Assets

Geographic Informatior

United States of Americ $1,283,17. $ 28539. $1,328,07. $ 262,92! $1,11577¢ $ 211,78¢
United Kingdom 104,60¢ 46,38¢ 164,40¢ 42,56 144,03: 59,83¢
Canade 63,64 32,40¢ 62,43" 30,09¢ 64,11( 33,961
Other foreign countrie 358,26¢ 36,96¢ 275,22; 28,44¢ 268,20 24,06:
Consolidated tote $1,809,69¢ $ 401,14¢ $1,830,14¢ $ 364,03. $1,592,12. $ 329,65

19. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

The Corporation, through its Flow Control segméas several NRC licenses necessary for the coutioperation of its commercial nuclear
operations. In connection with these licensesNR€ required financial assurance from the Corporsith the form of a parent company
guarantee, representing estimated environmentahai®issioning and remediation costs associated tivitltommercial operations covered
by the licenses. The guarantee for the decommisgjaosts of the refurbishment facility, which &ienated for 2017, is $4.3 million. See
Note 15 for further informatior

The Corporation enters into standby letters of iti@gieements and guarantees with financial irtgtits and customers primarily relating to
guarantees of repayment on certain Industrial Rey&onds, future performance on certain contracfgdvide products and services, and to
secure advance payments the Corporation has relceora certain international customers. At Decengigr2009, 2008, and 2007, the
Corporation had contingent liabilities on outstamylietters of credit of $47.3 million, $54.0 millipand $40.0 million, respectively.

In January 2007, a former executive was awardedappately $9.0 million in punitive and compensgtdamages plus legal costs related to
a gender bias lawsduit filed in 2003. The Corporatias recorded a $6.5 million reserve relatededatvsuit and intends to appeal the verdict.
In August of 2009, the New Jersey Appellate Divisteversed in part and affirmed in part the judghodnhe trial court, resulting in the
setting aside of the punitive damage award andrtime pay award of the Plaintiff's compensatory dayas award. The Plaintiff has filed a
Petition for Certification with the Supreme CouftNew Jersey requesting review of the Appellatei§ddn’s decision. In November of 2009,
the Supreme Court of New Jersey granted Plainfiféstion for Certification. Both parties are awagta date for oral argument before the
Supreme Court of New Jersey.

Consistent with other entities its size, the Coapion is party to a number of legal actions anéhtsanone of which individually or in the
aggregate, in the opinion of management, are ezgd@othave a material adverse effect on the Cotipata results of operations or financial
position.

20. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Accumulated other comprehensive loss as of DeceBhe2009 and 2008 consisted of:

(In thousands) Pre-tax Deferred tax Net of tax
2009 amount (asset) liability amount
Foreign currency translation adjustme $ 2852t $ (1,869 $ 26,657
Pension and postretirement adjustme
Net actuarial los (65,879 24,87( (41,009
Prior service cos (8,327 3,06¢ (5,25¢)
Total pension and postretirement adjustm: (74,196 27,93¢ (46,267)
Accumulated other comprehensive I $ (45670 $ 26,06t $ (19,609
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(In thousands) Pre-tax Deferred tax Net of tax

2008 amount (asset) liability amount
Foreign currency translation adjustme $ (12,060 $ 2,121 $ (9,939
Pension and postretirement adjustme
Net actuarial gail (95,58¢) 35,72¢ (59,86))
Prior service cos (4,385 1,63¢ (2,757
Total pension and postretirement adjustm: (99,979 37,35¢ (62,617)
Accumulated other comprehensive I $ (112,03) % 39,48 $ (72,55)

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the perioding December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 were asAfs]

(In thousands) Pre-tax Tax (expense) Net of tax
2009 amount benefit amount
Foreign currency translation adjustme $ 4058t $ (3990 $ 36,59¢
Pension and postretirement adjustme

Net actuarial los 29,71 (20,855 18,857

Prior service cos (3,939 1,43(C (2,507

Total pension and postretirement adjustm: 25,77t (9,425 16,35(
Other comprehensive incor $ 66,36 $ (13,41H) $ 52,94¢
(In thousands) Pre-tax Tax (expense) Net of tax
2008 amount benefit amount
Foreign currency translation adjustme $ (8495) $ 6,20¢ $ (78,74
Pension and postretirement adjustme

Net actuarial gail (138,55() 52,04( (86,510)

Prior service cos (1,260 457 (803)

Total pension and postretirement adjustm: (139,81() 52,49 (87,317
Other comprehensive lo $ (224,76) % 58,70 $ (166,05¢)
(In thousands) Pre-tax Tax (expense) Net of tax
2007 amount benefit amount
Foreign currency translation adjustme $ 2763 $ (1,70 $ 25,93«
Pension and postretirement adjustme

Net actuarial gail 18,61 (7,077 11,542

Prior service cos 99 (54) 45

Total pension and postretirement adjustm: 18,71 (7,125 11,581
Other comprehensive incor $ 46,34¢ $ (8,827 $ 37,52
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QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except per share data) First Second Third Fourth
2009
Net sales $ 423,79. $ 44737. $ 43575( $ 502,77
Gross profi 135,76( 144,58: 142,31! 172,87:
Net earning: 15,80¢ 24,45¢ 20,11¢ 34,84,
Earnings per shar
Basic earnings per she $ 03 % 054 % 044 % 0.77
Diluted earnings per sha 0.3t 0.54 0.44 0.7¢
Dividends per shar 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.0¢
2008
Net sales $ 433,37¢ $ 453,46: $ 43569¢ $ 507,59¢
Gross profit 138,46¢ 157,23: 147,79: 172,58!
Net earning: 21,77¢ 27,071 27,52: 33,01
Earnings per shar
Basic earnings per she $ 04¢ $ 061 $ 061 $ 0.74
Diluted earnings per sha 0.4¢ 0.6C 0.6C 0.73
Dividends per shar 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.0¢

See notes to the consolidated financial statenfentsdditional financial information.




Report of the Corporation

The consolidated financial statements appearingm 8 of this Form 10-K have been prepared byGbgporation in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in theté¢hBtates of America. The financial statementessarily include some amounts that are
based on the best estimates and judgments of ttfpp&tion. Other financial information in the AnhirReport on Form 10-K is consistent
with that in the financial statements.

The Corporation maintains accounting systems, phaees, and internal accounting controls designguduide reasonable assurance that
assets are safeguarded and that transactionseeted in accordance with the appropriate corpa@ratieorization and are properly recorded.
The accounting systems and internal accountingalsnare augmented by written policies and procesiusrganizational structure providing
for a division of responsibilities, selection amgining of qualified personnel and an internal apdbgram. The design, monitoring, and
revision of internal accounting control systemsoire, among other things, management’s judgmertt meispect to the relative cost and
expected benefits of specific control measures.dgdament of the Corporation has completed an asses&ithe Corporation’s internal
controls over financial reporting and has inclutféénagement’s Annual Report on Internal Control OFmancial Reporting” in Item 9A of
this Form 10-K.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors, parfed an audit of the Corporation’s financial statete¢hat also included forming an
opinion on the internal controls over financial ogng of the Corporation for the year ended Decein#d, 2009. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingutheunts and disclosures in the financial statesaét audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thralbfieancial statement presentation.
The objective of their audit is the expressionmbainion on the fairness of the Corporation’s ficial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in theté¢hStates of America, in all material respectsl, @mthe internal controls over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2009.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, cased entirely of directors who are independenhefGorporation, appoints the
independent auditors for ratification by stockhotdend, among other things, considers the scoffeeahdependent auditoreskamination, th
audit results, and the adequacy of internal ac@ogmbntrols of the Corporation. The independemlitaus and the internal auditor have direct
access to the Audit Committee, and they meet \aghcommittee from time to time, with and withoutmagement present, to discuss
accounting, auditing, non audit consulting servigeternal control, and financial reporting matters

Page 98




Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Parsippany, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and subsies (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related cdasetl statements of earnings, stockholders’ eqaitgt,cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2009. Gditsaaiso included the financial statement schelisted in the Index at Iltem 15. The
financial statements and financial statement sdeeahe the responsibility of the Company’s manag#m@ur responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and finarstatement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindmecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptegused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinaricial position of the Company at
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results afdperations and their cash flows for each of ktiree years in the period ended December
31, 2009, in conformity with accounting principlgsnerally accepted in the United States of AmeAdso, in our opinion, such financial
statement schedule, when considered in relatidihetdasic consolidated financial statements takem@hole, presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2009, based on the criteria establighbddrnal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission and our report datdalisey 23, 2010 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Company'’s internal cohtiver financial reporting.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP
Parsippany, New Jersey
February 23, 2010
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Parsippany, New Jersey

We have audited the internal control over finangéglorting of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and suliiggs (the “Company”) as of December
31, 2009, based on criteria establishethtarnal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidns
the Treadway Commission. As described in Managemémnual Report on Internal Control Over Finand®porting, management
excluded from its assessment the internal contret Gnancial reporting at EST Group, Inc., Nu-Toeegand Skyquest Systems Ltd.
(collectively the “Acquired Businesses”) which werequired during the year ended December 31, 200%v&ose financial statements
constitute 3.5% of total assets, 0.1% of equity%d.of revenues, and 1.7% of net income of the dafeded financial statement amounts as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2009. Accolsdingr audit did not include the internal contosler financial reporting at the Acquired
Businesses. The Company’s management is respoif@ibit@intaining effective internal control ovendincial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting, included in the accomypag Management’s Annual Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our r@sgibility is to express an opinion on the Comparigternal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8dé@/nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivanalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditideld obtaining an understanding of internal cordvar financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiadpthe design and operating effectiveness ofiiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considereessary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvisi the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons pemigrg similar functions, and effected by the compapard of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneediag the reliability of financial reporting antkt preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles. A company’s internattcol over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheartaintenance of records that, in reasonablel detaurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets afah@pany; (2) provide reasonable assurance thatactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in adaace with generally accepted accounting princj@ad that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordanceawithorizations of management and directors of tmepany; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely deteafamauthorized acquisition, use, or dispositiothaf company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcohover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltoarover financial reporting to future periods atject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotisat the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleespects, effective internal control over fig@l reporting as of December 31, 2009,
based on the criteria establishedriternal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifribe
Treadway Commission.
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We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
financial statements and financial statement sdeesiiof and for the year ended December 31, 2088 dCompany and our report dated
February 23, 2010 expressed an unqualified opiaiothose financial statements and financial stat¢sehedule.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 23, 2010
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accounté&on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls And Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2009, the Corporation’s manageniecluding the Corporation’s Chief Executive i0#r and Chief Financial Officer,
conducted an evaluation of the Corporation’s dsate controls and procedures, as such term isedefimRules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aptk(ttie “Exchange Act”). Based on such evaluatio@ Corporation’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded tlia¢ Corporatiors disclosure controls and procedures are effecivef December 31, 20
insofar as they are designed to ensure that infi@meequired to be disclosed by us in the repibras we file or submit under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and repavidun the time periods specified in the Commasss rules and forms, and they include,
without limitation, controls and procedures desifjt@ensure that information required to be disadosy us in the reports we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is accumulated and commigrida our management, including our principal exige and principal financial
officers, or persons performing similar functioas,appropriate to allow timely decisions regardemuired disclosure.

Managemens Annual Report On Internal Control Over Finan&laporting

The Corporation’s management is responsible fabdishing and maintaining adequate internal cordvelr financial reporting, as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securkieshange Act of 1934, as amended.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Also, projections of the
future effectiveness of controls currently deemféelctive are subject to the risk that controls rbagome inadequate because of changes in
conditions or deterioration in the degree of coamdie with the policies or procedures.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated findrst&ements, the Corporation acquired EST Groap Mu-Torque, and Skyquest Systems
LTD., during the year ended December 31, 2009. & lesguisitions with combined assets, equity, ctilyear revenues and net income at
December 31, 2009, represent 3.5%, 0.1%, 1.3% a19d, Yespectively of the consolidated financiatesteent amounts, and have been
excluded from management’s assessment of inteomatal over financial reporting.

The Corporation’s management assessed the effeeigeof the Corporation’s internal control oveafinial reporting as of December 31,
2009. In making this assessment, the Corporaiorenagement used the criteria established bydhaniittee of Sponsoring Organizations
the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-IntégdaFramework.

Based on management’s assessment, excluding theetgompanies referred to in the third paragrapmagement believes that as of
December 31, 2009, the Corporation’s internal @rver financial reporting is effective based ba established criteria.

The Corporation’s internal controls over finangigporting as of December 31, 2009 have been aubijtd2kloitte & Touche LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, tn@dr report thereon is included in Item 8 of tAisnual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repaortin

There were no changes in the Corporation’s intezaatrol over financial reporting during the mostently completed fiscal quarter that
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenally affect, our internal control over finankiaporting.

Iltem 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART I

The information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 18] &4 of Part Il of this report, to the extent set forth herein, is incorporated herein by
reference from the registrant’s definitive proxgtstment relating to the annual meeting of stocldsido be held on May 7, 2010, which
definitive proxy statement shall be filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission within 120 @éigs the end of the fiscal year to which
this report relates. Information required by Ite@i ) of Regulation S-K is included in Part | ofstiheport under the caption “Executive
Officers” and information required by Item 201(d)Regulation S-K is included in Part Il of this mpunder the caption “Securities
Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Compensatiand®.

P ART IV

| tem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule.

€)) Financial Statements and Footnc
Page
1. The following are documents filed as part of tlépart in Part I, Item &
Consolidated Statements of Earni 51
Consolidated Balance She: 52
Consolidated Statements of Cash Fle 53
Consolidated Statements of Sharehol' Equity 54
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 55
2.  Financial Statement Sched
Schedule —Valuation and Qualifying Accoun 10¢

All other financial statement schedules have besitted because they are either not required, noliggble or the
required information is shown in the ConsolidatétbRcial Statements or Notes there

(b) Exhibits

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Recapitalizatiated as of February 1, 2005, by and between thes®Rant and CW
Merger Sub, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Bitt#.1 to Form -K filed February 3, 2005

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatincofporated by reference to Fori-A/A filed May 24, 2005)
3.2 Amended and Restated -Laws (incorporated by reference to For-K filed November 17, 2008
3.3 Form of stock certificate for Common Stock (incagted by reference to Forn-K filed November 17, 2008

4.1  Agreement to furnish to the Commission upon reqaeasipy of any long-term debt instrument whereatm@unt of the
securities authorized thereunder does not exce¥ddi@he total assets of the Registrant and itsiglidries on a
consolidated basis (incorporated by reference tuliix4 to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 19!

4.2 Second Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, datefiMay 24, 2005, between the Registrant andrisare Stock
Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agent (incogped by reference to Registration Statement on A filed May
24, 2005)

10.1 Modified Incentive Compensation Plan, as amendeeeNiber 9, 1989 (incorporated by reference to ExiAib{a) to Form
1C-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 19¢
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10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2005 Omnibus Long-Temdntive Plan (incorporated by reference to AppeBdio Proxy
Statement filed April 5, 2005).

Form of Long Term Incentive Award Agreement, daladuary 1, 2006, between the Registrant and theugxe officers
of the Registrant (incorporated by reference toiliikh0.3 to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200

Revised Standard Employment Severance AgreememiGeittain Management of the Registrant (incorpdratereferenc
to Exhibit 10 to Form 1-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

Retirement Benefits Restoration Plan as amendei Bfr1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhilfittd Form 10-Q for
quarter ended June 30, 1997

Restated and Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporatiolir&aent Plan and Instrument of Amendment No. Brasnded
through February 28, 2002 (incorporated by refezdndExhibit (10)(v) to Form 10-K for the year edd@ecember 31,
2001), and Instrument of Amendment No. 2 (incortetdy reference to Exhibit 10 to Form 10-Q for ¢huarter ended
September 30, 2004)

Instruments of Amendment Nos. 2 through 5 to thai€s+Wright Corporation Retirement Plan (incorpgedaby reference
to Exhibit 10.3 to Form 1-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

Instruments of Amendment Nos. 6 and 7 to the Gasitisight Corporation Retirement Plan (incorporatgdeference to
Exhibit 10 to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200%

Instrument of Amendment No. 8 to the Curtiss-WriGlarporation Retirement Plan, as amended and eestdfective
January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Hixhibto Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.10 Instrument of Amendment No. 9 to the Curtiss-WriGlorporation Retirement Plan, as amended and edsgdtective

January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Hixhibto Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.11 Instrument of Amendment No. 10 to the Curtiss-WriGbrporation Retirement Plan, as amended andteestdfective

January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Hixhibto Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.12 Instrument of Amendment No. 11 to the Curtiss-WriGbrporation Retirement Plan, as amended andteesédfective

January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Eixhibto Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.13 Instrument of Amendment No. 12 to the Curtiss-WriGbrporation Retirement Plan, as amended andteestdfective

January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Eixhibto Form 1-Q filed for the quarter ended September 30, 20(

10.14 Instrument of Amendment No. 13 to the Curtiss-WriGbrporation Retirement Plan, as amended andteestdfective

January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Eixhibto Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 20C
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10.15 Instrument of Amendment No. 14 to the Curtiss-WriGbrporation Retirement Plan, as amended andteestdfective
January 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Eixhibto Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.16 Instrument of Amendment No. 15 to the Curtiss-WriGbrporation Retirement Plan, as amended andteestdfective
January 1, 2001 (filed herewith)

10.17 Instrument of Amendment No. 16 to the Curtiss-WriGbrporation Retirement Plan, as amended andteesdfective
January 1, 2001 (filed herewith)

10.18 Instrument of Amendment No. 17 to the Curtiss-WriGbrporation Retirement Plan, as amended andtegsédfective
January 1, 2001 (filed herewith)

10.19 Restated and Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporatiorirfggvand Investment Plan, dated February 28, 2id@drporated by
reference to Exhibit (10)(v) to Form -K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.20 Instrument of Amendment Nos. 1 and 2 to the Cultisgyht Corporation Savings and Investment Plandiporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

10.21 Instrument of Amendment Nos. 4 through 11 to theti€s+Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmentRlacorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10 to Form-K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.22 Instrument of Amendment No. 12 to the Cu-Wright Corporation Savings and Investment Plardfiherewith).?
10.23 Instrument of Amendment No. 13 to the Cu-Wright Corporation Savings and Investment Plardfiherewith).?

10.24 Instrument of Amendment Nos. 2 and 3 to the Cultisgyht Corporation Savings and Investment Plandiporated by
reference to Exhibit 10 to Form -K for the year ended December 31, 200!

10.25 Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation PensPlan, dated October 29, 2002 (incorporated feyeace to Exhibit
(10)(vii) to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200;

10.26 Instruments of Amendment Nos. 1 and 2 to the Gaitisight Electro-Mechanical Corporation PensiomRiacorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

10.27 Instruments of Amendment Nos. 3 through 6 to thai€s+Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Pensitian
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Forr-K for the year ended December 31, 200t

10.28 Instrument of Amendment No. 7 to the Curtiss-WrighgctroMechanical Division Pension Plan (incorporated dfgrence
to Exhibit 10 to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.29 Instrument of Amendment No. 8 to the Curtiss-WrighgctroMechanical Division Pension Plan (incorporated dfgrence
to Exhibit 10 to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.30 Form of indemnification Agreement entered into by Registrant with each of its directors (incorpedsaby reference to
Exhibit 10 to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 20(
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10.31 Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation SaérPlan, dated January 1, 2004 (incorporated leyente to Exhibit
(20)(xviii) to Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.32 Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to the Curtiss-Wrighgctro-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan (ipcoated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

10.33 Instrument of Amendment Nos. 2 and 3 to the Cultisgyht Electro-Mechanical Corporation Savings P(excorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10 to Form-K for the year ended December 31, 200¢

10.34 Instrument of Amendment Nos. 4, 5 and 6 to the i€sHtVright ElectroMechanical Corporation Savings Plan (incorpor:
by reference to Exhibit 10 to Form-K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.35 Instrument of Amendment Nos. 7, 8, 9, and 10 toQb#iss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Seys Plan (filed
herewith).*

10.36 Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2005 Stock Plan for Nemployee Directors (incorporated by reference tpéqlix C to
Proxy Statement filed April 5, 2005)

10.37 Amended and Revised Curtiss-Wright Corporation bHige Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended Nose2iD6
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Forr-K for the year ended December 31, 200

10.38 Change In Control Severance Protection AgreemeaeddJuly 9, 2001, between the Registrant and Exetutive Officel
of the Registrant (incorporated by reference toilkik0.1 to Form 1-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20C

10.39 Standard Change In Control Severance Protectiopekgent, dated July 9, 2001, between the RegisirahKey
Executives of the Registrant (incorporated by mfee to Form 1-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20C

10.40 Trust Agreement, dated January 20, 1998, betweeR#gistrant and PNC Bank, National Associationdjiiporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Form-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 199¢

10.41 Consulting Agreement, dated April 30, 2009, betwienRegistrant and Edward Bloom (incorporateddigrence to
Exhibit 10 to Form 1-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 200¢

10.42 Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2003 Employee Stock Base Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendixo/Proxy
Statement filed March 28, 2003’

10.43 Curtiss-Wright Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Pldedfherewith).*

10.44 Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrartextain Institutional Investors, dated September2293
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to F@&-K filed October 3, 2003’

10.45 Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Purchaseekgent between the Registrant and certain Iristitalt Investors,
dated September 25, 2003 (incorporated by referenEghibit 10.2 to Form-K filed October 3, 2003’

10.46 Note Purchase Agreement between the Registranteatain Institutional Investors, dated Decembe2QD5 (incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Forr-K filed December 5, 2005
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10.47 Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Purchaseekgent between the Registrant and certain Institait Investors,
dated December 1, 2005 (incorporated by refereméshibit 10.2 to Form-K filed December 5, 2005

10.48 2006 Modified Incentive Compensation Plan (incogted by reference to Appendix B to Compan®006 Definitive Prox
Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 29, 200t

10.49 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobe0962by and between the Registrant and David Lifitweorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10 to Forn-K filed October 11, 2006).

10.50 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobe2P8y7, by and between the Registrant and David hiitecorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10 to Forn-K filed October 25, 2007).

10.51 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobel0962by and between the Registrant and David Adamsrporated by
reference to Exhibit 10 to Forn-K filed October 16, 2006).

10.52 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobe2P8y7, by and between the Registrant and David Adamerporated
by reference to Exhibit 10 to Forn-K filed October 25, 2007).

10.53 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dateflAugust 10, 2007 among the Registrant, anthiDer
Subsidiaries as Borrowers; the Lenders partiegtbpBank of America, N.A., as Administrative Age8tvingline Lender,
and L/C Issuer; J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., asl8ation Agent; and Sun Trust Bank and Citibank.Nas Co-
Documentation Agents (incorporated by referendextoibit 10 to Form 1-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2008

21  Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed herew

23  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing (filed herewith)

31.1 Certification of Martin R. Benante, Chairman and@Pursuant to Rule 1~ 14(a) (filed herewith)
31.2 Certification of Glenn E. Tynan, Chief Financialfioér, Pursuant to Rule 1~ 14(a) (filed herewith)

32  Certification of Martin R. Benante, Chairman and@&nd Glenn E. Tynan, Chief Financial Officer, Rt to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350 (filed herewith

* Indicates contract or compensatory plan or areamgnt

** Confidential treatment has been requested wapect to certain portions of this exhibit conagtdf 18 pages pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment under Rule 24b-2 promulgateder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as dewkrOmitted portions have been
filed separately with the Securities and Exchangm@ission.
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CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION and SUBSIDIARIES
S CHEDULE Il - VALUATION and QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, abid 20
(In thousands)

Additions
Balance al
Charged Charged to
Beginning to Other Accounts
Costs and

Description of Period Expenses (Describe)
Deducted from assets to which they ap
Year-ended December 31,20
Reserves for inventory obsolescel $34,28: $1293. $ 1,751
Reserves for doubtful accounts and nt 4,82¢ 3,63¢ 66
Tax valuation allowanc 5,37¢ 55 494
Total $44,48.: $16,61¢ $ 2,311
Yearended December 31, 20
Reserves for inventory obsolescel $30,99¢ $ 952t $ 884
Reserves for doubtful accounts and nt 5,341 4,15: (115)
Tax valuation allowanc — 35€ 5,01¢
Total $36,34¢ $14,03: $ 5,78¢
Yearended December 31, 20
Reserves for inventory obsolescel $26,15. $ 8,44¢ 3 3,45(
Reserves for doubtful accounts and nt 5,38¢ 2,32( (689)
Total $31,54: $10,76¢ $ 2,761

Notes
(A)  Primarily amounts acquired from business combimgti@nd currency translation adjustme
(B) Write-off and sale of obsolete invento

(C) Write-off of bad debt and collections on previously resdraccounts
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Deductions

(Describe)

$ 9,22¢
4,52¢

$ 13,75:

$ 7,12¢
4,561

$ 11,68¢

$ 7,052
1,67:

$ 8,72t

(B)
©

B)
©

B)
©

Balance ai

End of
Period

$39,73¢
3,991
5,92¢

$49,66(

$34,28:
4,824
5,37

$44,48:

$30,99¢
5,341

$36,34¢



S IGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Resyisthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized.

CURTISSWRIGHT CORPORATION
(Registrant)

Date: February 23, 201 By: /s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt
Chairman and CE(

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the Registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

Date: February 23, 201 By: /s/ Glenn E. Tyna

Glenn E. Tynar
Chief Financial Officel

Date: February 23, 201 By: /s/ Glenn Colema

Glenn Colemat
Controller

Date: February 23, 201 By: /s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt
Director

Date: February 23, 201 By: /s/ S. Marce Fulle

S. Marce Fulle
Director

Date: February 23, 201 By: /s/ Allen A. Kozinski

Allen A. Kozinski
Director

Date: February 23, 201 By: /s/ Carl G. Miller

Carl G. Miller
Director

Date: February 23, 201 By: /s/ William B. Mitchell

William B. Mitchell
Director

Date: February 23, 201 By: /s/ John R. Myer

John R. Myer:
Director

Date: February 23, 201 By: /s/ John B. Nathma

John B. Nathma
Director

Date: February 23, 201 By: /s/ William W. Sihlet

William W. Sihler
Director

Date: February 23, 201 By: /s/ Albert E. Smitt




Albert E. Smith
Director
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Exhibit 10.16

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

FIFTEENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1. CurtissWright Corporation“the Compan”) has heretofore adopted the Cu-Wright Corporation Retirement Pla“the Plar).

2. The Company caused the Plan to be amended antetkstats entirety, effective as of January 1, R0#nd has since caused the Plan to
be further amende:

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the iPleas become necessary to further amend thet®lapdate the definition of
Committee to reflect administrative practices, dmnply with the final 415 regulations, to reflection benefit rate changes, to update
the Plan for acquisitions, and to reflect the HerBarnings Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2088“HEART Act”).

4. Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the iPfas become necessary to further amend the Edfiponent of the Plan
(merged into the Plan as of January 1, 2007) toptpmith the final 415 regulations, to reflect clg@s to comply with the HEART Act,
and to allow for employees that transfer from EM®é&nshaw to continue participating in the EMD comgnt of the Plar

5. Articles 12.01 and 12.02 of the Plan permit the any to amend the Plan, by written instrumentngttane and from time to time

Amendment:
For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to tigsrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby ameird#ét following respects:

1. Article 1.09 is amended to delete the existing laagge and replace it as follows, effective JuneD982

“Administrative Committee’ shall mean the persgrgppointed by the Company to act on behalf of@benpany as the sponsor
and ‘named fiduciary’ (within the meaning of seati#02(a)(2) of ERISA), as appropriate, with resged®lan administrative
matters. When performing any activity or exercisamy authority under the provisions of the Plae, Aliministrative Committee
shall be deemed to act solely on behalf of the Gompand not in an individual capac”

Wherever the term Committee is used in the Plarub@nt it is replaced with the term Administrativer@mittee.

1




The second paragraph of Article 1.11 is amendéid ientirety to read as follows, effective Janubrg009:

“Compensation shall include only that Compensatvhiich is actually paid to the Participant during epplicable period,
provided, however, payments under the Company’s based incentive compensation plans and for adaraeation pay shall be
taken into account in the periods to which suchhpats relate. Effective January 1, 2009, Compemsatiall also include
‘differential wage paymentgursuant to the Heroes Earnings Assistance anéfRelik Act of 2008. Except as provided elsewt
in this Plan, the applicable period shall be trenPfear”

Article 2.03 is amended by adding the following ngavagraph (d) to read as follows, effective Jandaf007:

“(d) Notwithstanding any provisions of the Plan to tbatcary, an Employee who dies or incurs a disabdit or after January
2007 while performing qualified military serviceadhbe treated as if he returned to the servigh@Employer on the day
preceding his death or disability and terminategleyment the following da”

Article 6.10(b) is amended by adding the followimgwv sentences to the end to read as follows, aféedanuary 1, 200t

“Effective January 1, 2008, remuneration shall @sbude amounts required to be recognized undepthvisions of Section
1.415(c-2(e). Remuneration shall not exceed the limitaborcompensation under Section 401(a)(17) of the(”

Article 8.01 is amended by adding a new paragraplo(read as follows, effective January 1, 2(

“(e) Notwithstanding any provision to the contraifya Participant who has a vested interest irdisement benefit dies after
January 1, 2007 while performing qualified militamgrvice pursuant to the Heroes Earnings Assistandelax Relief Act of 2008
and before payment of his benefit commences, tha@nRarticipant shall be treated as an Employeetine service for purposes
this Article”

Article 9.02(a)(vii) is amended to update benggitsvided to Metal Improvement Company, LLC.-Verridinision Section by adding
the following sul-paragraph to the end thereof, effective Janua®p10:

“(G) With Benefits commencing on and after January 102618.00 multiplied by his years of credited sson and after
January 1, 2010, for any pension payments due émtins commencing on and after January 1, 2"
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7. Article 11.02 is amended to delete the existingyleage and replace it as follows, effective Juriz098:
“ 11.02 Administrative Committee’s Authority and Powers.

The Administrative Committee (or its delegate) naay on the Company’s behalf as the sponsor and éddiduciary” of the Plan
with respect to Plan administrative matters. Actimgbehalf of the Company, and subject to the tefitse Plan, the Trust
Agreement and applicable resolutions of the Botlrel Administrative Committee (or its delegate) hdlsand absolute discretion
and authority to control and manage the operatimhaaministration of the Plan, and to interpret apgly the terms of the Plan
and the Trust Agreement. This full and absoluteréison and authority includes, but is not limitedthe power to

(a) interpret, construe, and apply the provisions efffan and Trust Agreement, and any constructioptad by the
Administrative Committee in good faith shall bedimnd binding

(b) adopt Plan amendments that (1) are required by ERtSther applicable law or regulation governingalification of
employee benefit plans, or are necessary for Rlarirastration, and which do not materially increassts to the Plan
or the Company or materially change Participangsidfits under the Plan, (2) implement special ridescquisitions,
sales, and other dispositions, or (3) clarify armabigs or unclear Plan provisions; provided that samlendments will
be made in writing and will be made according tocedures established by the Administrative Cometi

(c) review appeals from the denial of benefits;
(d) manage the cost and financial aspects of the

The Administrative Committee may employ, appoini a@ismiss advisors and advisory committees ag\dministrative
Committee deems necessary to carry out the praxgsibthe Plan and the Trust Agreement, includitgyiaeys, accountants,
actuaries, clerks, or other agents, and may dedeayat of its authority and duties to such per¢”

8. Schedule J is amended to be updated for certainsitigns of the Curtiss-Wright Corporation whosaloyees are eligible to
participate in this Plar

a. Paragraph 25 is amended effective January 1, 20@@id this second sentence as follc

() “Effective January 1, 2009, any Employee who is lygd at any operations or facilities acquired iy Employer in its
acquisition of IMES Engineering, Inc. shall be dlig to participate in the Cash Balance Accoundescribed in Article
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(ii)

(iii)

For purposes of determining Vesting Years of Sexwesting service shall commence with his or hestmecent date of
hire with IMES Engineering, Inc. immediately priwrits acquisition by Curti-Wright Corporation

Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlmtary, an Employee at the operations and fagsliicquired by th
Employer in its acquisition of IMES Engineering¢lnwho is not an Employee of IMES Engineering, Joo January 1,
2009 shall be eligible to become a Participantieoadance with Article 2.01(b), but shall not aeceny benefits under
the Plan, except for benefits determined in acaurdavith Article 4"

b. Paragraph 32 is added effective September 3, 20@atl as follows

“32. Parylene Coating Services, Inc. (P

@

(ii)

Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlwatary, the following rules shall apply to an Eayse hired ol
September 3, 2008 whose immediate prior servicewithsParylene Coating Services, Inc. (PCS) and whe employed
by such entity at such da

(A) Such an Employee shall be eligible to participatthe Plan as of his or her date of hire, and skalkin eligible so
long as he or she continues to satisfy the eligyhiequirements in Article 2.01(b)(i) and (ii),quided, however, thi
such an Employee shall not accrue any benefitsrihdePlan, except for benefits determined in agaoce with
Article 4.

(B) For purposes of determining Vesting Years of Serwesting service shall commence with his or hestmecent
date of hire with Parylene Coating Services, IRC$) immediately prior to its acquisition by CustM/right
Corporation.

Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlentrary, an Employee at the operations and faesliticquired by th
Employer in its acquisition of Parylene Coatingusegs, Inc. (PCS), who is not an Employee describgrhragraph (a),
shall be eligible to become a Participant in acanoe with Article 2.01(b), but shall not accrue &epefits under the
Plan, except for benefits determined in accordaviteArticle 4.”

c. Paragraph 33 is added effective October 15, 200820 as follows

“33. V-Metro

(&) Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlmntrary, the following rules shall apply to an Emy@e hired on Octob

15, 2008 whose immediate prior service was wi-Metro and who was employed by such entity at suath:
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() Such an Employee shall be eligible to participatthe Plan as of January 1, 2009, and shall resiajible so long
as he or she continues to satisfy the eligibiguirements in Article 2.01(b)(i) and (i), provitichowever, that sut
an Employee shall not accrue any benefits undePlue, except for benefits determined in accordavitie Article
4,

(i)  For purposes of determining Vesting Years of Seqwesting service shall commence with his or hestmecent
date of hire with -Metro immediately prior to its acquisition by Cge-Wright Corporation

(b) Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlentrary, an Employee at the operations and fazsliticquired by th
Employer in its acquisition of V-Metro, who is next Employee described in paragraph (a), shalligévkd to become a
Participant in accordance with Article 2.01(b), bhall not accrue any benefits under the Plan,mxXoe benefits
determined in accordance with Article”

The EMD component of the Plan is amended in tHewdhg respects

1.

Effective June 9, 2008, Administrative Committeeamethe Administrative Committee identified in tDertiss-Wright Corporation
Retirement Plar

A new sentence is added to the end of the firsigraph of Paragraph 8 of Section 1 to read asWslleffective January 1, 20C

“Effective January 1, 2009, Compensation shall alstude ‘differential wage payments’ pursuanthe Heroes Earnings
Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 20"

A new paragraph F is added to the end of Sectimr8ad as follows, effective January 1, 2C

“F. Notwithstanding any provision to the contraifygan Employee who dies after January 1, 2007 whddorming qualified
military service pursuant to the Heroes Earningsigtance and Tax Relief Act of 2008, a benefitldalpaid to his Surviving
Spouse pursuant to Subsection 8.B ab*“

Section 10(c) is amended and restated in its éytiefective January 1, 2009, to read as folla

“Within 90 days prior to his Annuity Starting Data a form prescribed by the Administrator, an Eoypk may elect one of the
following forms of pension payment (not includingyaearly retirement supplements provided by th&mPin lieu of the normal
form:




1. Life Annuity — A monthly income payable for his lif

2. 55% Spouse Survivor Annuity — A reduced amount pbeyenonthly for his life with the provision that aip his death an amount
equal to 55% of such reduced amount shall be paittinty for the life of his Surviving Spous

3.  55% Joint & Survivor Annuity — A reduced amount able monthly for his life with the provision thgben his death an amount
equal to 55% of such reduced amount shall be paiatiy for the life of his Joint Annuitar

4.  100% Joint & Survivor Annuity — A reduced amounyalle monthly for his life with the provision thapon his death the same
amount shall be paid monthly for the life of hisnicAnnuitant.

5. Lump Sum — A lump sum settlement of his frozen fieshdetermined under Subsections 10.1 and 10@vibeThis lump sum
option is not available with respect to Creditedvi® or benefits accrued after December 31, 18%dept as provided in
Subsection 10.1 belov

6. Effective January 1, 2008 — a 50% Joint and Survirmuity — A reduced amount payable monthly far lifie with the provision
that upon his death an amount equal to 50% of seaiiced amount shall be paid monthly for the lif@ie Joint Annuitant

This optional form of benefit is not available toyaEmployees who are represented by a labor orgmizor other representative
who has entered into a written agreement with aplByer providing for participation in this Plan bye Employees in such unit
until such unit(s) agree to in writing, which weitt agreements will be incorporated herein by referg¢hereto

Effective January 1, 2009, this optional form ohéft is available to any Employees represented kapor organization or other
representative who has entered into a written ageeéwith an Employer providing for participationthis Plan by the Employe
in such unit,

If (i) an Employee retires or terminates employnisefore his Normal Retirement Date, then reache®lbrmal Retirement Date before
he elects to commence pension payments, and dade¢t one of the forms of pension payment spegtidibove, or (ii) an Employee
retires on or after reaching Normal Retirement [ate fails to elect one of the forms of pensionrpegt specified above, the
Employee’s pension payments shall, except as peoviidl Subsection 10.P.3, commence as of the |atgs dNormal Retirement Date or
actual retirement date, and as soon as practifalld@ing the later of his Normal Retirement Datehis actual retirement, in the norn
form of payment specified in Subsection 1C




An Employee’s election to commence pension paynm&mdal be made in accordance with procedures ésialol by the
Administrator, including, but not limited to, pratres regarding (i) the date by which an Employestmequest a benefit
calculation and election forms based on a partichfauity Starting Date and (ii) the date by wharh Employee must return such
forms for the benefit to commence on such Annutert®ig Date. Such procedures shall provide tha&Employee’s Annuity
Starting Date shall in no event be earlier thandidwe on which the Employee makes a request fenafli calculation and election
forms”

5. Appendix B is amended, effective January 1, 20§&duling the following text at the end of AppenBix.:

“Effective January 1, 2008, remuneration shall amtude amounts required to be recognized undeptbvisions of Section
1.415(c)-2(e) of the Treasury regulations and arteoparmitted to be recognized under the provisairsection 1.415(c)-2(e)(2)
and (3) of the Treasury regulations. Remuneratiail ot exceed the limitation on compensation urkxtion 401(a)(17) of the
Code”

6. A new paragraph D is added to the end of Sectiot 18ad as follows, effective December 1, 2(

“D. Transfers to Benshaw. Notwithstanding any otr@vision of the Plan to the contrary, if an Emyge during his period of
employment with the Company and all Affiliated Hiets is transferred from a position eligible to mecbenefits under the
provisions of Section 3 or Section 4 to a positth Benshaw that is otherwise ineligible for betsefinder the applicable
Section, the following provisions shall app

(1) Eligibility Service. An Employees Eligibility Service shall be determined on thaibaof his period of employment w
the Company and all Affiliated Employers, includiBgnshaw

(2) Credited Service. For purposes of determining apleyee’s eligibility for benefits under the Plaru{mot the amount
of any benefit unless otherwise specified in paapgr(4) below), an Employee’s years of Credited/iBershall be
determined on the basis of his period of employmeétiit the Company including Benshaw, but not othisewncluding
his period of employment with an Excluded U

(3) Eligibility for Benefits. Upon an Employee’s ternaition of employment with the Company and all A&ikd
Employers, including Benshaw, an Employee shabiitéled to a Normal, Early, or Vested Retiremesnh&on under
the applicable provisions of the Plan if, at tiedtiof his termination of employment, he has satisthe age, service,
and any other requirements of the Plan for suclefite
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(4) Rules for Determining the Amount of Bene

€)) If an Employee who is making contributions under pinovisions of Section 3 is transferred to a pmsitvith
Benshaw and on account of such transfer the Emelayild be otherwise ineligible to make further
contributions, the transferred Employee shall cargito be eligible to make contributions undergrevisions
of Section 3 and the following provisions shalloaégpply:

I. Credited Service for Benefit Accrual Purposes.s&ltvice with Benshaw in such transferred positizadide
included in determining the Employee’s years ofdiieel Service for purposes of determining the amotéin
the Employee’s contribution under Section 3 exdtlegt any service rendered while the Employee @il#é to
participate in another qualified defined benefihgien plan shall be exclude

II. Compensation. Compensation (as defined in Sect®)nphid by Benshaw to the Employee while emplayed
such transferred position shall be included foppses of Section 3 and 4 and this Paragray

(b) If an Employee who is accruing benefits under ttmvisions of Section 4 is transferred to Benshad @m
account of such transfer the Employee would berafise ineligible to accrue further benefits under t
provisions of Section 4, benefits shall continu@dorue under the provisions of Section 4 aftecdte of
transfer’

Except to the extent amended by this Instrumedtroéndment, the Plan shall remain in full force afféct.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdanehis day of ,.2008

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Benefits Committee

By:

Date:



Exhibit 10.17

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

SEVENTEENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1. CurtissWright Corporation“the Compan”) has heretofore adopted the Cu-Wright Corporation Retirement Pla“the Plar).

2. The Company caused the Plan to be amended antetkstats entirety, effective as of January 1, R0#nd has since caused the Plan to
be further amende:

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the iPleas become necessary to further amend thet®lapdate the factors used in the
calculation of certain lump sum payments and ceanuities under the CWC Component and the EMD fi2orant of the Plar

4. Articles 12.01 and 12.02 of the Plan permit the @any to amend the Plan, by written instrumentpgttane and from time to time

Amendment:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to thésruiment of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amendegpecified herein:

The CWC component of the Plan is amended, effedawmiary 1, 2008, in the following respects:

1.

Section 1.01 is amended by adding the following f@vguage to the end thereof, to read as follc

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, in calculating themount of a lump sum payment with an Annuity StgrDate on or after January 1,
2008, in no event shall the lump sum payment ketlean the lump sum amount determined on the badiie IRS Interest Rate and the
IRS Mortality Table in accordance with the termghaf Plan as in effect on December 31, 2"

Section 1.22 is amended by adding at the end theleofollowing new sentenc

“Effective as of January 1, 2008RS Interest Rate” means the annual rate of interest prescribed udeetion 417(e)(3)(C) of the
Code (as in effect on and after the first day ef2008 Plan Year), as determined for the firstdalendar month preceding the
applicable Stability Perio”

Section 1.23 is amended by adding at the end theteofollowing new sentenc




“Effective as of January 1, 2008RS Mortality Table ” means the mortality table prescribed in Section@{3)(B) of the Code (as in
effect on and after the first day of the 2008 Piasar), for the first day of the applicable StaliRReriod”

4. Section 7.01 is amended by adding at the end th#redollowing new sentenc

“Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the comyraf a Participant is permitted, in accordancéwvBection 7.02, to elect to receive a
benefit in the form of a lump sum payment, thenanevent shall a Participant’s benefit, as payabtae normal form determined in
accordance with this Section 7.01, be less thaittearial Equivalent of the lump sum amount pagablthe Participant in accordance
with Section 7.02(b"

The EMD component of the Plan is amended, effecdarmary 1, 2008, in the following respects:

1. Section 10 is amended by inserting, immediatelp$ahg Subsection 10.B thereof, the following neubSection 10.B1

“B.1.Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrdfra Participant is permitted, in accordancewsection 10C, to elect
receive a benefit in the form of a lump sum paymtrn in no event shall the Participant’s benaftpayable in the normal form
determined in accordance with Subsection 10A or 4BBve, be less than the actuarial equivalentrméted on the basis of the
IRS Interest Rate and the IRS Mortality Table fase terms are defined in Subsection 10.J), diuthe sum amount payable to
the Participant in accordance with Section

Except to the extent amended by this Instrumedtroéndment, the Plan shall remain in full force afféct.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdanehis 31st day of December 2009.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:




Exhibit 10.18

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

SIXTEENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1. CurtissWright Corporation“the Compan”) has heretofore adopted the Cu-Wright Corporation Retirement Pla“the Plar).

2. The Company caused the Plan to be amended antetkstats entirety, effective as of January 1, R0#nd has since caused the Plan to
be further amende:

3.  Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the iPleas become necessary to amend the definifilloomal Retirement Age, to
clarify that self-inflicted injuries are excludein the definition of Total and Permanent Disapitinly to the extent that they are
intentional, to update Schedule G4 for negotiaterefits for union employees at Target Rock Corponaiand to reflect recent
acquisitions

4. Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the iPfas become necessary to further amend the Edfiponent of the Plan
(merged into the Plan as of January 1, 2007) tdfgldnat the accelerated vesting schedule doespply to the EMD component of the
Plan, unless required under Section 411 of the C

5. Articles 12.01 and 12.02 of the Plan permit the @any to amend the Plan, by written instrumentpgttane and from time to time
Amendment:
For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to tissrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby ameird#ét following respects:

1. Section 1.30(b) is amended to accelerate eligifidit a Normal Retirement Benefit from the fifthrawersary of participation to the thi
anniversary of participation as follow

“(b) the fifth (5th) anniversary (the third (3rd) annisary effective January 1, 2008) of the date agto€h the Participant
commenced employme”

2. Section 5.01(a) is amended in its entirety, effecfianuary 1, 2008, to read as follo

“(a) Normal Retirement Benefit determined under Sedbidn.

1



3.

Upon termination of Service prior to Normal Retirmh Date, the interest of a Participant in thatiparof his Normal
Retirement Benefit that is determined in accordamitie Section 6.01 shall be vested in accordandk thie following
schedule, based on the number of Vesting Yearewfi& of the Participant on the date of his teation of employment

IF VESTING YEARS OF THE PARTICIPANT’S
SERVICE AS OF THE DATE OF NONFORFEITABLE
TERMINATION EQUAL: PERCENTAGE IS:
4 or less 0%
5 or more 100%

Effective January 1, 2008, upon termination of &rprior to Normal Retirement Date, the interdsd @articipant in that
portion of his Normal Retirement Benefit that igetenined in accordance with Section 6.01 shalldésted in accordance
with the following schedule, based on the numberesdting Years of Service of the Participant ondh&e of his termination
of employment

IF VESTING YEARS OF THE PARTICIPANT’'S
SERVICE AS OF THE DATE OF NONFORFEITABLE
TERMINATION EQUAL: PERCENTAGE IS:
Less than ! 0%
3 or more 1009%”

Section 5.01(b) is amended in its entirety, effectlanuary 1, 2008, to read as follo

“(b)

Normal Retirement Benefit derived from Cash Balaficeount as determined under Article

(i) Participant employed prior to June 1, 1¢

Upon termination of Service prior to attaining Nermal Retirement Age, the interest of a Participaimo commenced
employment with an Employer or an Affiliated Empdoyprior to June 1, 1997 in the portion of his NafRetirement
Benefit that is derived from his Cash Balance Actpas determined in accordance with Article 4 |dbalvested in
accordance with the following schedule based omtheber of Vesting Years of Service of the Partiipon the date of his
termination of Service

IF VESTING YEARS OF THE PARTICIPANT'S
SERVICE AS OF THE DATE OF NONFORFEITABLE

TERMINATION EQUAL: PERCENTAGE IS:

1 20%

2 40%

3 60%

4 80%

5 100%

2



4.

(i) Participant not employed prior to June 1, 18

Upon termination of Service prior to attaining Nermal Retirement Age, the interest of a Participaimo commenced
employment with an Employer or an Affiliated Empéoyon or after June 1, 1997 in the portion of hisrhal Retirement
Benefit that is derived from his Cash Balance Acttpas determined in accordance with Article 4 |dbalvested in
accordance with the following schedule based omtheber of Vesting Years of Service of the Partioipon the date of his
termination of Service

IF VESTING YEARS OF THE PARTICIPANT'S
SERVICE AS OF THE DATE OF NONFORFEITABLE
TERMINATION EQUAL: PERCENTAGE IS:
4 or less 0%
5 or more 100%

(iii) New Vesting Schedule Effective January 1, 2(

Notwithstanding the above, upon termination of erprior to attaining his Normal Retirement Ades interest of
Participant in the portion of his Normal Retirem8ainefit that is derived from his Cash Balance Artpas determined in
accordance with Article 4 shall be vested in acano# with the following schedule based on the nurab¥esting Years of
Service of the Participant on the date of his taation of Service

IF VESTING YEARS OF THE PARTICIPANT'S
SERVICE AS OF THE DATE OF NONFORFEITABLE
TERMINATION EQUAL: PERCENTAGE IS:
Less than { 0%
3 or more 100%”

Section 9.02(c)(ii) is amended in its entirety geffve January 1, 2009, to read as follo

“(ii)

A Participant shall be deemed to be totally andrnaerently disabled, for purposes of this subseatiban on the basis of
medical evidence satisfactory to the Company Hfieusd to be wholly and permanently prevented frargaging in any
occupation or employment for wage or profit assulteof bodily injury or disease, either occupa#ibar noneccupational ir
cause, provided, however, that no Employee shaldeened to be totally and permanently disablethi®purposes of the
Plan if his disability resulted from an intentiors&lf-inflicted injury, or a hostile act of a fogei power, or resulted from
service in the Armed Forces of any country, unlésdenefits could first commence on
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after January 1, 1989, and he has accumulateq5)véears of Credited Service since such hostitmasince leaving servi
in such Armed Force”

5. Schedule G4 is amended effective January 1, 2G0&8d8ing, at the end of Item 7, the following neavggraphs
“$30.00 multiplied by his years of credited serviceoo after January 1, 20C
$32.00 multiplied by his years of credited senaceor after January 1, 20C
$34.00 multiplied by his years of credited senaceor after January 1, 20C
$36.00 multiplied by his years of credited senaceor after January 1, 20C
$38.00 multiplied by his years of credited senaceor after January 1, 20C

$41.00 multiplied by his years of credited senaceor after January 1, 20"

6. Schedule J is amended to be updated for certainsitigns of the Curtiss-Wright Corporation whosmloyees are eligible to
participate in this Plar

a. Paragraph 34 is added effective January 16, 2088atbas follows
“34. Nu-Torque

() Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlentrary, the following rules shall apply to an Exoyse hired ot
January 16, 2009 whose immediate prior servicewiisNu-Torque and who was employed by such eutityuch
date:

(A) Such an Employee shall be eligible to participatthe Plan as of his or her date of hire, and skaikin eligible
so long as he or she continues to satisfy thebdliyi requirements in Article 2.01(b)(i) and (iiprovided,
however, that such an Employee shall not accruebangfits under the Plan, except for benefits datexd in
accordance with Article ¢

(B) For purposes of determining Vesting Years of Serwesting service shall commence with his or hestmecent
date of hire with N-Torque immediately prior to its acquisition by Gss-Wright Corporation

(il Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlentrary, an Employee at the operations and faedliicquired by th
Employer in its acquisition of Nu-Torque, who istiam Employee described in paragraph (a), shatligible to
become a Participant in accordance with Articlelg, but shall not accrue any benefits under tha,Rexcept for
benefits determined in accordance with Articl”
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b. Paragraph 35 is added effective March 6, 20094dd ees follows
“35. EST Groug

(@) Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to thentrary, the following rules shall apply to an Exyse hired o1
March 6, 2009 whose immediate prior service wak & T Group and who was employed by such entisyeth date

(b)

(i)

(ii)

Such an Employee shall be eligible to participatthe Plan as of July 1, 2009, and shall remagit#é so long ¢
he or she continues to satisfy the eligibility riegments in Article 2.01(b)(i) and (ii), provideldpwever, that suc
an Employee shall not accrue any benefits undePlde, except for benefits determined in accordavitie
Article 4.

For purposes of determining Vesting Years of Senwesting service shall commence with his or hestmecent
date of hire with EST Group immediately prior t® écquisition by Curti-Wright Corporation

Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tleatrary, an Employee at the operations and faesliticquired by th
Employer in its acquisition of EST Group, who i¢ aao Employee described in paragraph (a), shaligéle to
become a Participant in accordance with Articlelgh], but shall not accrue any benefits under tha,Rexcept for
benefits determined in accordance with Articl’

c. Paragraph 36 is added effective May 15, 2009 td asdollows;

“36. Northeast Technology Corporation (NETC

(&) Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlentrary, the following rules shall apply to an Eoyse hired on Ma
15, 2009 whose immediate prior service was withtiNgast Technology Corporation (NETCO) and who wapleyed
by such entity at such da

(b)

(i)

(ii)

Such an Employee shall be eligible to participatthe Plan as of his or her date of hire, and skalkin eligible
so long as he or she continues to satisfy thebdliyi requirements in Article 2.01(b)(i) and (iiprovided,
however, that such an Employee shall not accruébangfits under the Plan, except for benefits datexd in
accordance with Article ¢

For purposes of determining Vesting Years of Senwesting service shall commence with his or hestmecent
date of hire with Northeast Technology Corpora(iNETCO) immediately prior to its acquisition by @ias-
Wright Corporation

Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlmmtary, an Employee at the operations and fagsliicquired by th
Employer in its acquisition ¢



Northeast Technology Corporation (NETCO), who isam Employee described in paragraph (a), shadligéle to
become a Participant in accordance with Articlelgh], but shall not accrue any benefits under tha,Rexcept for
benefits determined in accordance with Articl’

d. Paragraph 37 is added effective June 19, 200%tbase follows
“37. Modumend, Inc

(&) Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlentrary, the following rules shall apply to an Emy#e hired on Jur
19, 2009 whose immediate prior service was with Modnd, Inc. and who was employed by such entispelh date

() Such an Employee shall be eligible to participatthe Plan as of his or her date of hire, and skaikin eligible
so long as he or she continues to satisfy thebdliyi requirements in Article 2.01(b)(i) and (iiprovided,
however, that such an Employee shall not accruébangfits under the Plan, except for benefits datexd in
accordance with Article ¢

(il  For purposes of determining Vesting Years of Serwesting service shall commence with his or hestmecent
date of hire with Modumend, Inc. immediately priorits acquisition by Curti-Wright Corporation

(b) Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to thentrary, an Employee at the operations and faedliicquired by th
Employer in its acquisition of Modumend, Inc., wis;not an Employee described in paragraph (a)| beatligible to
become a Participant in accordance with Articlelgh], but shall not accrue any benefits under tha,Rexcept for
benefits determined in accordance with Articl’

The EMD component of the Plan is amended, effecdaraary 1, 2008, in the following respects:

1. Paragraph 29 of section 1 is amended in its epticetead as follows

“ Non-Vested Employe€e means an Employee who has less than 5 yeardgiblity Service. If the Employee is eligible far Cash
Balance benefit under Article 4 of the Curtiss-Witi@€orporation Retirement Plan, ‘Non-Vested Emp#yaeans an Employee who
has less than 3 years of Eligibility Serv”

2. Paragraph 40 of Section 1 is amended in its epticetead as follows

“ Vested Employee means an Employee who has completed 5 years oran&ilegibility Service, or a former Employee whatisfiec
the vesting requirements of the Plan or the PresdecdPlan which were in effect at the time he cdése@ccrue Eligibility Service,
provided this sentence shall be effective Septerhp#®88. If the Employee is eligible for a CashaBae benefit under Article 4 of the
Curtiss-Wright



Corporation Retirement Pla‘Vested Employe means an Employee who has completed 3 years orah&ilegibility Service”
Except to the extent amended by this Instrumedténdment, the Plan shall remain in full force affect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdautethis day of , 2009.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:




Exhibit 10.22

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS & INVESTMENT PLAN

As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001
TWELFTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“the Company”) has hefere adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Sgsi& Investment Plan (“the
Plar”).

2. The Company caused the Plan to be amended antkrkstats entirety, effective as of January 1,208 order to maintain the Plan’s
compliance with the requirements of the Internaldtrie Code (“the Code”) and applicable regulatibeseunder, and caused the Plan,
as so amended and restated, to be submitted totdraal Revenue Service (“IRS"), pursuant to Renac. 2001-6, for a determination
that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the megnof Sec. 401 of the Coc

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment and rastatef the Plan, it has become necessary to fuatinend the Plan to merge the
Micro Memory, LLC Profit Sharing/401(k) Plan ancetYMETRO, Inc. 401(k) Plan into this Plan effecti@etober 1, 2009; and to
eliminate the installment form of benefit availableder the Micro Memory, LLC Profit Sharing/401@an effective November 9,
20009.

4. Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Compargmtend the Plan, by written instrument, at any tme from time to time, by action
of the Board

Amendments to the Plan:

1. The Micro Memory, LLC Profit Sharing/401(k) Pland the VMETRO, Inc. 401(k) Plan shall be and bgmaerged into the Plan, effective

October 1, 2009, with the surviving plan being tRian.

2. To the extent allowable under Section 411 ofGbde and the regulations thereunder, the SysteMéthdrawal (Installments) form of
payment available under the Micro Memory, LLC Pr&aring/401(k) Plan shall be eliminated, effeetior distributions made on or after
November 9, 200¢

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdautethis day of , 2009.

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS & INVESTMENT PLAN
ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE

By:




Exhibit 10.23

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS & INVESTMENT PLAN

As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

THIRTEENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT
Recitals:
1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“the Company”) has hefere adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Sgsi& Investment Plan (“the

Plar”).

2. The Company caused the Plan to be amended antkrkstats entirety, effective as of January 1,208 order to maintain the Plan’s
compliance with the requirements of the Internaldtrie Code (“the Code”) and applicable regulatibeseunder, and caused the Plan,
as so amended and restated, to be submitted totdraal Revenue Service (“IRS"), pursuant to Renac. 2001-6, for a determination
that the Plan is a qualified plan, within the megnof Sec. 401 of the Coc

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment and rastatef the Plan, it has become necessary to fuaiiend the Plan to implement
an Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement efige January 1, 2009; and to add Roth 401(k) giows effective January 1, 20:

4.  Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Compargntend the Plan, by written instrument, at any t&me from time to time, by action
of the Board

Amendments to the Plan:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to thésrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby ameimdée following respects, to be effective
as specified herein:

1. Article 1 is amended, effective January 1, 2009, by insertmmediately after Section 1.15, the following n8ection 1.15A to read as
follows:

~
e

“ 1.15A'Automatic Deferred Cash Contribution’” means amounts contributed pursuant to Section Z

2. Article 1 is amended, effective January 1, 2009, by inserimmediately after Section 1.31, the following n8ection 1.31A to read as
follows:

“ 1.31A‘Covered Member means any eligible Employee who is covered by theatic Contribution Arrangement under Section
3.01B”



3. Article 2 is amended, effective January 1, 2009, by addingvaSection 2.06 to read as follows:

“

2.06

Automatic Membership.

(&) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to thatcary, any eligible Employee (as provided undesti®a 2.01(d)), and unle:
otherwise excluded under paragraph 2.06(c), whaseaf hire, rehire or acquisition is on or aftendary 1, 2009 and who has |
made an affirmative election to become a Membeaffinrmatively declined to become a Member) purguarSection 2.02 shall
become a Covered Member on the first EnrollmeneDdtich is on or about 45 days after his or hee détire, rehire or
acquisition, or the date he or she actually conaglét000 hours (if applicable, pursuant to Se@iéi (d).

(b) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to thetcary, any eligible Employee whose date of hiedire or acquisition is on «
before December 31, 2008 and who has not affirratiglected to become a Member (or affirmativelglihed to become a
Member) pursuant to Section 2.02 shall become a&f@ovMember on the first Enrollment Date whichrisoo about 45 days after
January 1, 201(

© )

(ii)

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to contrany employee of Curti-Wright Controls is not eligible to become a
Covered Member under (b) abo

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to thatcary, any eligible Employee who is employed bytdMémprovemen
Company whose date of hire, rehire or acquisit®arn or after January 1, 2010 and who has not raa@éfirmative electiol
to become a Member (or affirmatively declined tadomae a Member) pursuant to Section 2.02 shall becm@overed
Member on the first Enroliment Date which is orabout 45 days after his or her date of hire, retiracquisition, or the
date he or she actually completes 1,000 hourpffieable, pursuant to Section 2.01(d). Any eligielmployee who is
employed by Metal Improvement Company whose dateref rehire or acquisition is before January@@shall not be
eligible to become a Covered Meml”

4. Article 3 is amended, effective January 1, 2009, by inserimmediately after Section 3.01A, the followingm8ection 3.01B to read as

follows:

“3.01B Automatic Contribution Arrangement.

(@)

Automatic Deferred Cash Contributions will be madebehalf of Covered Members who do not have @amafive election
in effect regarding Deferred Cash Contributionse @mount of Automatic Deferred Cash Contributiorglenfor a Covered
Member each pay period is equal to 3% multipliedh®/Covered Memb’s Compensation for that pay peri

2

(b)

(©

(d)

A Covered Member will have a reasonable opportuaiityr receipt of the notice required describefinbelow to make an
affirmative election regarding Deferred Cash Cdmitions (either to have no Deferred Cash Contrilmgtimade or to have a
different amount of Deferred Cash Contributions e)duefore Automatic Deferred Cash Contributionsraagle on the
Covered Member’s behalf. Automatic Deferred Casht@ioutions being made on behalf of a Covered Mambk cease as
soon as administratively feasible after the Covéflethber makes an affirmative electic

Automatic Deferred Cash Contributions will be reeldor stopped to meet the limitations under Sestitfiti(a)(17), 402(9)
and 415 of the Code and to satisfy any suspengidagrequired after a hardship distributi

At least 30 days, but not more than 90 days, befedeginning of the Plan Year, the Employer pittvide each Covered
Member a comprehensive notice of the Member’s sigimd obligations under this Automatic Contributfomangement,
written in a manner calculated to be understoothbyaverage Covered Member. If an eligible Empldyseomes a Covered
Member after the 9 day before the beginning of the Plan Year and do¢seceive the notice for that reason, the notice
will be provided within a reasonable period of tiamed in accordance with Section 1.414(w)-1 of thmome Tax
Regulations

The notice must accurately descri

() The amount of Automatic Deferred Cash Contributithreg will be made on the Covered Member’s behmathe
absence of an affirmative electic

(i) The Covered Member’s right to elect to have no BreteCash Contributions made on his or her behélf bave a
different amount of Deferred Cash Contributions &7

(i) How Automatic Deferred Cash Contributions will n@ésted in the absence of the investment instmstianc

(iv) The Covered Member’s right to make a withdrawahofomatic Deferred Cash Contributions and the pdaces for
making such a withdrawe



(e) No later than 75 days after the recordkeeperristives a Covered Meml's Automatic Deferred Cash Contribution, the
Covered Member may request a distribution of hisesrAutomatic Deferred Cash Contributions. In werd may a Covered
Member request a distribution of his or her AutamBteferred Cash Contributions later than 90 ddies Automatic
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Deferred Cash Contributions are first withheld frarf@overed Member’s pay. No spousal consent isnexdjfor such a
withdrawal. The amount to be distributed from th@Rupon the Covered Member’s request is equddg¢@mount of
Automatic Deferred Cash Contributions made throtinghearlier of (i) the pay date for the second plhyeriod that begins
after the Covered Member’s withdrawal request difjdhe first pay date that occurs after 30 dayerathe Covered
Member’s request, adjusted to reflect any investrgams or losses attributable to those contrimgtithrough the date of
distribution. Any fee charged to the Covered Menfbethe withdrawal may not be greater than anyofbe charged for a
cash distribution. Unless the Covered Member affituely elects otherwise, any withdrawal requedtivé treated as an
affirmative election to stop having Automatic Deést Cash Contributions made on the Covered Membehslf as of the
date specified abov

Automatic Deferred Cash Contributions distributedspant to this paragraph (e) are not counted wswvire dollar limitatio
on Deferred Cash Contributions contained in Sectiai®(g) of the Code, nor for the Actual Deferratdeatage te<”

5. Article 9 is amended, effective January 1, 2009, to adddh@ning new Section 9.10 to read as follows:

“9.10 Worker, Retiree, and Employer Recovery Act 02008

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to thatcary. a Member who has terminated employmentvama would, but for the
enactment of the Worker, Retiree, and Employer RegoAct of 2008, be required to take a distribataf his Vested Account pursuant
to Sections 9.04 and 9.07 during the Plan Yeamégg on January 1, 2009, may elect to receivaglesiump sum payment of all or a
portion of his entire Vested Account. Such disttitmi shall not be considered a minimum distributi@yment under Section 401(a)(9)
of the Code if made on or before December 31, "

6. Article 1, Section 1.01 is amended, effective as of Janua2@10, by inserting, immediately after the phrae ‘Catch-Up Account” the
new phrase “the Roth Deferred Cash Contributionodot”.

7. Article 1 is amended, effective January 1, 2010, by inserimmediately after Section 1.36, the following n8ections 1.36A and 1.36B:
“ 1.36A'Roth Deferred Cash Contribution Account’ means the account credited with the Roth Defe@adh Contributions made on

a Membe’s behalf and earnings on those contribut”

1.36B ‘Roth Deferred Cash Contribution’ means amounts contributed pursuant to Section 3tf@diGre (a) designated irrevocably by
the Participant at the time the election is mada Beth Deferred Cash Contribution that is beinglenia lieu of all or a portio
of the Deferrec



Cash Contributions the Participant is otherwisgilelé to make under the Plan; and (b) treated byEmployer as includible
in the Participant’s income at the time the Paptiait would have received that amount in cash iPheicipant had not made
an electior”

8. Article 2, Section 2.02(a) is amended, effective January 10 2® read as follows:

“(a) designates the percentage of Compensation thesvie contribute under the Plan under Section &.02akes the election descril
in Section 3.01, 3.01A or 3.01C, or any combinattogreof”

9. Article 3 is amended, effective January 1, 2010, by addingésrting, immediately after Section 3.01B, a rigaetion 3.01C to read as

follows:

“ 3.01C Roth Deferred Cash Contributions

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(€)

Effective January 1, 2010, a Participant may edechis application filed under Section 2.02 tovoeably designate Deferred
Cash Contributions (under Section 3.01) as Rotteiedl Cash Contributions. Any Roth Deferred Cashtf@mutions shall be
invested in one or more Investment Funds, as aagby the Chairman of the Board of Directorstemiesignees, subject to (b)
below.

The Plan will maintain a separate record of the @mhof Roth Deferred Cash Contributions in eactti€ipant’s account.
Contributions and withdrawals of Roth Deferred C&simtributions will be credited and debited to Beth Deferred Cash
Contribution Account maintained for each Particip&@uins, losses, and other credits or charges beus¢parately allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to each Partitsgaoth Deferred Cash Contribution account andRasicipant’s other accounts
under the Plar

No contributions other than Roth Deferred Cash Gloumtions and properly attributable earnings wél dredited to eac
Participan’s Roth Deferred Cash Contributions Accol

Unless specifically stated otherwise, Roth Defe@agh Contributions will be treated as DeferredhGasntributions for alll
purposes under the Plan, including hardship distiobhs under Section 7.03 and loans under Artic

In the case of a distribution of excess contritngiander Section 3.07, a Highly Compensated Employay designate the extent
to which the excess contribution is composed okrefl Cash Contributions and Roth Deferred Castiribations but only to th
extent such types of contributions were made feryiar. If the Highly Compensated Employee doeglasignate which type of
contributions are to be distributed, the Plan digitribute Deferred Cash Contributions fi’
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10. Article 3 is amended, effective January 1, 2010, by addiadaliowing new paragraph to the end of Sectior 3t0 read as follows:

“Effective January 1, 2010, the Plan will also gatce rollover contribution to a Roth Deferred C&imtribution Account only if it is a
direct rollover from another Roth Deferred Cash t@ibation Account under an applicable retirememinptlescribed in Section 402A(e)
(1) of the Code and only to the extent the rollaggvermitted under the rules of Section 402(chefCode”

11.Article 7, Section 7.03(a) is amended, effective January 1020 read as follows:

“(a) A Member who has withdrawn the total amourditable for withdrawal under the preceding Sectiohthis Article may, subject to
Section 7.04, elect to withdraw not more than dnce Plan Year all or part of the Deferred Casht@butions (including Catch-Up
Contributions and Roth Deferred Cash Contributionafie on his behalf to his Deferred Account (hiclB&Jp Account and his Roth
Deferred Cash Contribution Account) upon furnishgmgof of Hardship satisfactory to the Commit”

12. Article 9 is amended, effective January 1, 2010, to adddhening new flush paragraph to the end of SecfidiB to read as follows:

“Notwithstanding the above, a direct rollover ddiatribution from a Roth Deferred Cash Contributieccount will only be made to
another Roth Deferred Cash Contribution Accounteurath applicable retirement plan described in 8retD2A(e)(1) of the Code or to
a Roth IRA described in Section 408A of the Cochel anly to the extent the rollover is permitted enthe rules of Section 402(c) of
the Code”

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdanehis day of , 2009.

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS & INVESTMENT PLAN
ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE

By:




Exhibit 10.35

CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO-MECHANICAL DIVISION
SAVINGS PLAN

Seventh Instrument of Amendment

Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“Curtiss-Wright” or ‘¢hCompany”) has established the Curtiss-Wrighttide®lechanical Division
Savings Plan (“the Plan”), a qualified retiremelatnpthat meets the requirements of Section 40X(djeointernal Revenue Code (“the
Code”) and that includes a cash or deferred arraegéwithin the meaning of Section 401(k) of thed€owhich Plan was effective as
of January 1, 200«

2. The Company has caused the Plan to be submittbe toternal Revenue Service, pursuant to Rev..R@@3-6, and has requested the
Internal Revenue Service to determine that the Blamualified plan, within the meaning of Secl 40 the Code

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the iPkes become necessary to further amend thef@lahe January 1, 2008 merger
of the Benshaw 401(k) plan (tBenshaw Plg") into the Plan and to update fiduciary oversighpoesibilities with respect to the Ple

4. In accordance with Article XIV Section 2 of the RJdhe Administrative Committee is authorized takmmauch amendments to the Plan
as may be necessary to maintain its status asliéiepialan.

Amendment:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to thésrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amenéfedtive January 1, 2008 in the
following respects:
1. Article 1(19) is amended to delete the existingylaage and replace it as follov

“Company” shall mean Curtiss-Wright Corporation, as it redgteEmployees of Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical
Corporation and all companies that adopt this Rlargrporation organized under the laws of theeStéDelaware’

2. Article 1(23) is amended to add paragraph (c) dsvis:

“For an individual who is identified as an “Empl@yén Section 4.1.20 of the Share Purchase Agreenatatduly 31, 200
between Benshaw Inc. and Curtiss-Wright Electrohaécal Corporation relating to its purchase of 8&w Inc. and who
commences employment with the Employer or an Atidd Entity in connection with such agreement (add/iduals wha




would have been identified as such “Employees” pktteat they had previously retired or terminatexhf employment),
Eligibility Service shall include any Eligibility @vice credited under the Benshaw 401(k) Plan éoiogs prior to transfer of
employment pursuant to the agreen”

3. Article 1(39) is amended to add the following sexteat the end therec

“With respect to Benshaw Employees as identifieddragraph 1(23)(cNormal Retirement Dateshall mean the first of tl
month following the later of the month during whitte Participar's 65th birthday occul”

Except to the extent amended by this Instrumedtroéndment, the Plan shall remain in full force afféct.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdanehis day of , 2007.
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:



CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO -MECHANICAL DIVISION
SAVINGS PLAN

Eighth Instrument of Amendment
Recitals:

1.  Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“Curtiss-Wright” or “‘¢hCompany”) has established the Curtiss-Wrighttedellechanical Division
Savings Plan (“the Plan”), a qualified retiremelatnpthat meets the requirements of Section 40X(dgeointernal Revenue Code (“the
Code”) and that includes a cash or deferred arraegéwithin the meaning of Section 401(k) of thed€owhich Plan was effective as
of January 1, 200«

2. In accordance with Article XIV Section 2 of the RJdhe Administrative Committee is authorized takemnauch amendments to the Plan
as may be necessary to maintain its status asliéiepialan.

Amendment:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to tissrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amentfedtive January 1, 2008 in the
following respects:

1. Article VII.13 is amended to permit rollover of afigible rollover distribution as described in Atg VII.12 to a Roth IRA under
Section 408A of the Code as follov

The phrase “a Roth individual retirement accoursicdeed in Section 408A of the Code” is insertedhiediately following the
phrase“an annuity plan described in Section 403(a) ofGbde”.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrume#troéndment, the Plan shall remain in full force afféct.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdautethis day of , 2008.
Committee

By:

Date:



CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO -MECHANICAL CORPORATION
SAVINGS PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2004

NINTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“Curtiss-Wright” or ‘¢hCompany”) has established the Curtiss-WrighttEde®lechanical Corporation
Savings Plan (“the Plan”), a qualified retiremelatnpthat meets the requirements of Section 40X(djeointernal Revenue Code (“the
Code”) and that includes a cash or deferred arraegéwithin the meaning of Section 401(k) of thed€owhich Plan was effective as
of January 1, 200«

2. In accordance with Article XIV Section 2 of the RJdhe Administrative Committee is authorized takemauch amendments to the Plan
as may be necessary to maintain its status aslifiegialan.

Amendment:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to tssrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amepffedtive as of the dates indicated below

n the following respects:

1. Paragraph A.3 of Appendix A is amended by adtliegfollowing sentences to the end thereof to esafbllows, effective January 1, 20(
“Effective January 1, 2008, the treatment of Emptogentributions shall be controlled by the finab4lreasury regulatior”

2. Paragraph A.4 of Appendix A is amended by adtliegfollowing sentences to the end thereof to eafbllows, effective January 1, 20(

“Effective January 1, 2008, “compensation” shadlainclude amounts required to be recognized utmgeprovisions of Section
1.415(c-2(e) of the Treasury regulatio”

3. Section B of Appendix A is amended by addingftilewing new paragraph 8 to the end thereof tras follows, effective January 1,
2008:

“8. Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective foraRlYears beginning on and after January 1, 2008etextent that the annual
additions to a Member’s Accounts exceed the lirgtaset forth in paragraph (a), corrections shalhtade in a manner consistent
with the provisions of the Employee Plans Compl&aResolution System as set forth in Revenue Proe€ti08-50 or any
subsequent guidan”

4. Section 1.20 is amended by adding the followtmthe end of the first paragraph thereof to reatblows, effective January 1, 20(
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“Effective January 1, 2009, Compensation shall aistude “differential wage payments” pursuanttie Heroes Earnings
Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 20"

5. Subsection VI.3(b) is amended to delete thetiegisanguage and replace it a follows, effectigaulry 1, 200¢

“(b) Notwithstanding Subsections VI.3.a, the Empldylatch Contribution Account shall become 100% vestgon the earliest
the retirement, death (including death while periioig qualified military service, pursuant to therbkes Earnings Assistance and
Relief Tax Act of 2008) or attainment of age 65adParticipant who is earning Eligibility Servicesatch time”

6. Section VI.4 is amended as follov

Subsection VI.4(a) is amended as follows:
The following phrase is added to the beginnindheffirst sentence

“Subject to the requirements of Subsection VI...”
The first sentence of subsection VI.4(b) is amendeatid“and ¢’ as follows:

“For purposes of Subsection VI.4.a and c, the “break in servic’ means an event affecting forfeitur”
New subsection VI.4(c) is added to read as follc

“(c) If a Participant has received a complete distiiim of the vested portion of his Employer Matghi@ontribution Account upc
his termination of employment, upon his subsequesmployment by the Company before he has incuarggetiod of break in
service of 5 years, he will have the non-vestedi@oiof his Employer Matching Contribution Accoumthich was forfeited at the
time of his termination and distribution, reinsthtes soon as administratively feasible following t@payment to the Plan of the
amount distributed from the Plan. The Participattitivave five years from his rehire date to repagy distribution to the Plan and
have his forfeited amount reinstated to his acc”

7. A new Section VIII.6 is added to read as follpefective January 1, 200

“(a). A Participant who is on active military duiyr more than 30 days may request a distributioalladr a portion of his or her
Pre-Tax Account or his Cat-Up Contribution Account

(b) A Participant who takes such a distributionlisbe prohibited from making Pre-Tax, Catch-Up a&fter-Tax Contributions to
the Plan and all other plans of the Employer arfiliaed Employers under the terms of such plankyomeans of an otherwise
legally enforceable agreement for at least 6 moattes receipt of the distributiol
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(c) Any distribution made under this Section shallsubject to the additional tax on early distiidmg under Section 72(t) of the
Code, unless the distribution is a “qualified regsrdistribution” as that term is defined undee tHeroes Earnings Assistance and
Relief Tax Act of 200¢"

Except to the extent amended by this Instrumedtroéndment, the Plan shall remain in full force afféct.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdanehis day of , 2009.

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION, ELECTRO-MECHANICAL CORP ORATION SAVINGS PLAN

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE

By:



CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO -MECHANICAL CORPORATION
SAVINGS PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2004

TENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“Curtiss-Wright” or ‘¢hCompany”) has established the Curtiss-WrighttEde®lechanical Corporation
Savings Plan (“the Plan”), a qualified retiremelatnpthat meets the requirements of Section 40X(djeointernal Revenue Code (“the
Code”) and that includes a cash or deferred arraegéwithin the meaning of Section 401(k) of thed€owhich Plan was effective as
of January 1, 200«

2. In accordance with Article XIV Section 2 of the RJdhe Administrative Committee is authorized takemauch amendments to the Plan
as may be necessary to maintain its status aslifiegialan.

Amendment:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to tssrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amepffedtive as of the dates indicated below
in the following respects:

1. A new Article I(21A) is added to the Plan effectid@nuary 1, 2009, to read as follo\

“21A'Covered Participant’ means any eligible Employee who is covered by th®atic Contribution Arrangement under
Article 1ll.1.c.”

A new Article I(47A) is added to the Plan effectid@nuary 1, 2009, to read as follo\

“47A'Automatic Pre-Tax Contribution’ shall mean a contribution to the Plan deducted faoGovered Participant’s
Compensation on a [-tax basis in accordance with the Automatic ContidsuArrangement under Article 111.1”

2. A new Article I1.6 is added to the Plan effectiandary 1, 2009, to read as follov

“6. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plany &mployee whose date of hire, rehire or acquisitioon or after Janua
1, 2009 and who has not affirmatively elected todmee a Participant (or affirmatively declined tcbme a Participant) sh
become a Covered Participant as of the date tlat @ about 45 days after his or her date of hékire, or acquisitio”

3. Article 1l is further amended by adding, immedigtésllowing Article 1.6 (as designated by Item 2this Amendment) the
following new Article 11.7, effective January 1, 20, to read as follow:

“7. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plany &mployee whose date of hire, rehire or acquisiitobefore January
2009 and who has not affirmatively elected to beg@nParticipant (or affirmatively declined to beeoa
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Participant) shall become a Covered Participanf &ise date that is on or about 45 days after JarLia2010"

Article 111.1 is amended effective January 1, 2009 adding a new Section lll.1.c. to read as fofic

“

C.

Automatic Contribution Arrangeme

1)

()

(3)

(4)

Automatic PreFfax Contributions will be made on behalf of CoveRatticipants who do not have an affirmative etet
in effect regarding Pre-Tax Contributions. The antaf Automatic Deferred Cash Contributions madeasf@overed
Participant each pay period is equal to 3% mukiply the Covered Particip/s Compensation for that pay peris

A Covered Participant will have a reasonable oppoty after receipt of the notice required desatibe(4) below to
make an affirmative election regarding Pre-Tax @buations (either to have no Pre-Tax Contributiomede or to have a
different amount of Pre-Tax Contributions made)befAutomatic Pre-Tax Contributions are made orCheered
Participant’s behalf. Automatic Pre-Tax Contribndeing made on behalf of a Covered Participalhteéase as soon
as administratively feasible after the CoverediBipent makes an affirmative electic

Automatic Pre-Tax Contributions will be reducedstopped to meet the limitations under Sections&@1{), 402(g)
and 415 of the Code and to satisfy any suspengidagrequired after a hardship distributi

At least 30 days, but not more than 90 days, befedeginning of the Plan Year, the Employer mitvide each
Covered Participant a comprehensive notice of Hréidpant’s rights and obligations under this Auagtic Contribution
Arrangement, written in a manner calculated to figeustood by the average Covered Participant. dligible

Employee becomes a Covered Participant after tHed2y before the beginning of the Plan Year and doéseceive
the notice for that reason, the notice will be led within a reasonable period of time and in adance with Section
1.414(w-1 of the Income Tax Regulatior

The notice must accurately descri

() The amount of Automatic Pre-Tax Contributions twvdk be made on the Covered Participant’s behathim
absence of an affirmative electic

(il  The Covered Participant’s right to elect to havePne-Tax Contributions made on his or her behatbdrave a
different amount of P-Tax Contributions madt

(iii) How Automatic Pr-Tax Contributions will be invested in the absent#he investment instructions; a
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(iv) The Covered Participant’s right to make a withdragiaAutomatic Pre-Tax Contributions and the praoes for
making such a withdrawe

(5 No later than 75 days after the recordkeeperrstives the Covered Particip's Automatic PreFax Contributions, th
Covered Participant may request a distributionisfon her Automatic Pre-Tax Contributions. In n@etshall the
Covered Participant be allowed to request a digfioh of his or her Automatic Pre-Tax Contributidater than 90 days
after Automatic Pre-Tax Contributions are firsthtield from a Covered Participasipay. No spousal consent is requ
for such a withdrawal. The amount to be distribitedh the Plan upon the Covered Participant’s regjiseequal to the
amount of Automatic Pr&ax Contributions made through the earlier ofl{§ pay date for the second payroll period
begins after the Covered Participant’s withdravegluest and (ii) the first pay date that occurs &tedays after the
Covered Participant’s request, adjusted to refiegtinvestment gains or losses attributable toethamtributions
through the date of distribution. Any fee chargedhie Covered Participant for the withdrawal maybegreater than
any other fee charged for a cash distribution. Estbe Covered Participant affirmatively electeottise, any
withdrawal request will be treated as an affirmatalection to stop having Automatic Prax Contributions made on tl
Covered Participa’s behalf as of the date specified abc

Automatic Pre-Tax Contributions distributed purduarthis paragraph (5) are not counted towardsltikar limitation
on Pre-Tax Contributions contained in Section 4p2fghe Code, nor for the Actual Deferral Percgptéest. Matching
Contributions that might otherwise be allocated tBovered Participant’s account on behalf of Autierare-Tax
Contributions will not be allocated to the extema Covered Participant withdraws such Pre-Tax Qmutions pursuant
to this paragraph (5) and any Matching Contribigialleady made on account of Automatic Pre-Tax i@lnrtions that
are later withdrawn pursuant to this paragrapw(8)be forfeited”

Article 1(1) is amended, effective as of Januarg10, by inserting, immediately after the phraSatth-Up Contribution Account”
the new phras"Roth Contribution Accour”.

A new Article 1(51A) and 1(51B) are added to tharRleffective January 1, 2010, to read as follc

“1.51A‘Roth Contribution Account’ shall mean an account established and maintainéeloalf of an Employee to which his
Roth Contributions are allocate

1.51B* Roth Contribution” shall mean amounts contributed pursuant to Artitle.d (a) designated irrevocably by the Employee
at the time the election is made as a Roth Corttabuhat is being made in lieu of all or a portiitthe Pre-Tax Contributions the
Participant is otherwise eligible to make underPien; and (b) treated by the Employer as incl@diblthe Participant’s income at
the time the Participant would have received thadant in cash if the Participant had not made entiein”
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10.

Article 111.1 is amended, effective January 1, 209 adding a new Section Ill.1.d. to read as fefic

“d. Roth Contribution:

(1)

()

(3)

(4)

Effective January 1, 2010, a Participant may dfeatrevocably designate Pre-Tax Contributions @mélrticle I1l.1.a)
as Roth Contribution:

The Plan will maintain a separate record of the @mhof Roth Contributions in each Participant’s iR@ontribution
Account. Contributions and withdrawals of Roth Cimnttions will be credited and debited to the RGtimtribution
Account maintained for each Participant. Gainssdgsand other credits or charges must be sepaatitatated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to each Partitsgzeth Contribution Account and the Participamtler accounts
under the Plar

No contributions other than Roth Contributions @noperly attributable earnings will be creditecetich Participa’s
Roth Contribution Accoun

Unless specifically stated otherwise, Roth Contidns will be treated as Pre-Tax Contributionsdtpurposes under
the Plan, including in-service hardship withdrawatsler Article VIII and loans under Article 1X, bakcluding the
Automatic Contribution Arrangement under Articlé 1l Roth Contributions will also be eligible fontployer Match
Contributions under Article 111.2, under the sanomditions as P-Tax Contributions”

Article 111.9 is amended, effective January 1, 20fk9 adding the following paragraph at the endebé!

“A Highly Compensated Employee may designate thergxo which the excess contribution is compoddere-Tax
Contributions and Roth Contributions but only te #xtent such types of contributions were madéheryear. If the Highly
Compensated Employee does not designate whichofypentributions are to be distributed, the Plah distribute Pre-Tax
Contributions first’

Article 1V.4 is amended, effective January 1, 208Yadding the following paragraph to the end tbét

“In addition, effective January 1, 2010, a Partcipother than a Terminated Participant may elect¢ccordance with reasonable
procedures established by the Plan Administradodjrectly rollover to his Roth Contribution Accauadirect rollover from
another Roth Contribution Account under an applieaétirement plan described in section 402A(edflthe Code and only to the
extent the rollover is permitted under the rulesextion 402(c) of the Coc”

Article VI1.12 is amended, effective January 1, @0ty adding the following paragraph to the enddabg

“Notwithstanding the above, a direct rollover ddiatribution from a Roth Contribution Account wihly be made to another Roth
Contribution Account under an applical




retirement plan described in section 402A(e)(1thefCode or to a Roth IRA described in section 408the Code, and only to t
extent the rollover is permitted under the ruleseaxtion 402(c) of the Coc”

11. Article VII1.2 is amended, effective January 1, R0by adding the following new paragraph aftergheond paragraph to read as
follows:

“A Vested or Non-Vested Participant shall be peradito make a withdrawal from his Roth Contributfecrount only in the case
of hardship. For purposes of this Article VIII.20fR Contributions shall be treated as-Tax Contributions”

Except to the extent amended by this Instrumedtroéndment, the Plan shall remain in full force afféct.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdanehis day of , 2009.

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION, ELECTRO-MECHANICAL CORP ORATION SAVINGS PLAN

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE

By:



Exhibit 10.43

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN
As Amended, effective January 1, 2010
ARTICLE |
PURPOSE

1.01 The purpose of this Curtiss-Wrigbr@bration Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Blartd provide employees of Curtiss-
Wright Corporation (the “Company”) and its Subsigli€orporations with an opportunity to acquire agietary interest in the Company
through the purchase of shares of common stodkeo€ompany (“Company Stock”). It is the intentidrthee Company that the Plan qualify
as an “employee stock purchase plan” under Sed8nof the Internal Revenue Code. Accordingly,dhavisions of the Plan shall be
construed in a manner consistent with the requingsnaf that section of the Code.

ARTICLE Il
DEFINITIONS

2.01 “Account” means the account mairgdion behalf of each Participant by the Adminisirédr the purpose of investing in
Company Stock and engaging in other transactiomaitted under the Plan;

2.02 “Administrator” means the same amdministrator defined in Section 2.18.
2.03 “Board” means the Board of Directofshe Company;
2.04 “Committee” means the individualpainted by the Board to administer the Plan;

2.05 “Code” means the Internal RevenudeCaf 1986, as amended from time to time, includirgrules, regulations and
interpretations promulgated thereunder;

2.06 “Company” means the Curtiss-Wrigbt@ration and its Subsidiary Corporations;

2.07 “Company Stock” means Company comsionk and such other securities as may be sullesti{or resubstituted) for Company
Stock pursuant to Section 11.05;

2.08 “Compensatiomieans cash remuneration that is paid to the Emplbyghe Company (or an affiliate) during the cdbamyear fo
the performance of services and includible in ginesme, including, and limited to, gross basergal@ode Section 125 elective payroll
deduction contributions; elective payroll deductammtributions made under this Plan; and electasg @l deduction contributions made
under any qualified retirement plan;




2.09 “Effective Date” means DecemberdQ2, subject to approval by the holders of the mitgjof the common stock present and
represented at a special or annual meeting oftthebolders held on or before such date. If the Rlaot so approved, the Plan shall not
become effective;

2.10 “Employee” means any active employethe Company or a Subsidiary Corporation;

2.11 “Enroliment Date” means the firsyad the next regularly scheduled payroll periodtfte Company or a Subsidiary Corporation,
as applicable;

2.12 “Exchange Act” shall mean the Sea@siExchange Act of 1934, as amended from tintarte;
2.13 “Exercise Date” means the last dagagh Offering Period;

2.14 "Fair Market Value” means the faianket value of a share of Company Stock, whiclofasy given date, shall be the average of
the highest and lowest sales prices of a share@ofpany Stock reported on a consolidated basissfturgties listed on the New York Stock
Exchange for trades on the date as of which sultkeva being determined or, if that day is not ading Day, then on the latest previous
Trading Day;

2.15 “Offering Period” means the approaimperiod established by the Committee, not teed@7 months;

2.16 “Participant” means any Employee Wih@ eligible to participate in the Plan underc8on 3.01 hereof and (ii) elects to
participate;

2.17 “Plan” means the Curtiss-Wright Gorgtion Employee Stock Purchase Plan;

2.18 “Plan Administrator” means the parso entity designated by the Company to act adridirator for the Plan or any successor
thereto;

2.19 “Purchase Price” means an amourelgquB5% of the Fair Market Value of a share ofpany Stock on the Exercise Date;
2.20 “Reserves” means the number of shaff€ompany Stock covered by all options undeiPtae which have not yet been exercised
and the number of shares of Company Stock whicle baen authorized for issuance under the Plan bigtvhave not yet become subject to

options; and

2.21 “Subsidiary Corporation” means aagporation (other than the Company) in which thenpany owns directly, or indirectly
through subsidiaries, at least fifty percent (5@¥ohe total combined voting power of all classéstock, or any other entity (including, but
not limited to, partnerships and joint venturesyvinich the Company owns at least fifty percent (3@¥the combined equity thereof.
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ARTICLE Il
ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION

3.01 An Employee may become a Participattte Plan by giving instructions authorizing paideductions to the Administrator in
such manner and form as prescribed by the Adma@tno later than 15 days prior to the first dagm Offering Period (unless a later time
for filing such instructions is set by the Committier all Employees with respect to a given Offgriferiod). Payroll deductions for an
Employee shall commence with the first payroll pdrihat begins at least 15 days following the dateh instructions are received by the
Administrator.

3.02 Notwithstanding any provisions af fflan to the contrary, no Employee shall be gohateoption to participate in the Plan to the
extent that:

(a) immediately after the grant, such Empe would own stock, and/or hold outstandingamito purchase stock, possessing 5% or
more of the total combined voting power or valualbtlasses of stock of the Company (determinettuthe rules of Section 424(d) of the
Code); or

(b) immediately after the grant, such Boype’s right to purchase Company Stock underrajpleyee stock purchase plans (as defined
in Section 423 of the Code) of the Company and%uysidiary Corporation would accrue at a rate whioteeds $25,000 in fair market va
of such Company Stock (determined at the time sytion is granted) for each calendar year in wiieth option would be outstanding at
any time.

ARTICLE IV
OFFERINGS

4.01 The Plan will be implemented by dffgs of Company Stock established by the Commitieeto exceed 27 months. The
Committee shall have the power to change the bagiradate, ending date, and duration of Offeringdeisr with respect to future offerings
without stockholder approval if such change is amoed at least five days prior to the schedulednoéag of the first Offering Period to be
affected thereafter, provided that Offering Periadlsin all cases comply with applicable limitatie under Section 423(b)(7) of the Code.

ARTICLE V
PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

5.01 A Participant may elect to have dtidins made for each payroll period during an OGfigiPeriod in an amount equal to any wr
percentage from 1% to 10% of his or her Compensatoeived for the payroll period; provided, tHa tnaximum amount of payroll
deductions may not exceed $21,250 for each yeath@extent necessary to comply with Section 4Z8}mf the Code and the limitations on
purchase contained herein, a Participant’s pageductions may be decreased to 0% during any @fféeriod which is scheduled to end
during any calendar year, such that the aggredatt payroll deductions accumulated with
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respect to such calendar year is no greater thay2%2; and provided, further that no Participanymarchase more than 10,000 shares of
Company Stock during any offering period. The Conypan its discretion, may increase and decreasenthiximum percentage amount (but
not the maximum dollar amount) without formally amdang the plan; provided, however, the maximum getage amount shall be a uniform
percentage of Compensation for all Participants.

5.02 An individual Account shall be maimted by the Administrator for each Participanthie Plan. All payroll deductions made for a
Participant shall be credited to his or her AccodnParticipant may not make any separate cash payimnto such account except when on
leave of absence and then only as provided in @e€ti03. No interest shall accrue or be paid ongayyoll deductions or any other amounts
credited to a Participant’s Account.

(a) A Participant may discontinue hisher participation in the Plan or may decrease dke of his or her payroll deductions during the
Offering Period by giving instructions authoriziagchange in payroll deduction rate to the Admiaistrin such manner and form as
prescribed by the Administrator.

(b) A Participant may increase the rdthi® or her payroll deductions prior to an OffgyiReriod by giving instructions authorizing a
change in payroll deduction rate to the Administratithin 15 days prior to the first day of the &fihg Period in such manner and form as
prescribed by the Administrator. The change in shiel become effective with the first payroll metithat begins at least 15 days following
the date such instructions are received by the Adhtnator. A Participant’s payroll deduction autization agreement shall remain in effect
for successive Offering Periods until the Partinigarovides new instructions to the Administratoterminates employment as provided in
Section 7.02.

5.03 If at any time the number of share€ompany Stock available for purchase under tha B insufficient to grant to each
Participant the right to purchase the full numbfest@res to which he otherwise would be entitlednteach Participant will have the right to
purchase that number of available shares of Compéagk that is equal to the total number of avddahares of Company Stock multiplied
by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amafrifompensation credited to the Participant’s Aoddor the Offering Period, and the
denominator of which is the total amount of Compagios credited to the Accounts of all Participaiotsthe Offering Period.

ARTICLE VI
GRANT AND EXERCISE OF OPTION

6.01 On the first day of each Offeringi®@, each Employee participating in such Offeriferiod shall be deemed to have been grantec
an option to purchase on the Exercise Date of Qffdring Period, at the applicable Purchase Pripgp a number of shares of Company
Stock determined by dividing such Employee’s pdyadetuctions credited to his or her Account ashefEExercise Date by the applicable
Purchase Price; provided that such purchase shallibject to the limitations set forth in SectiB32 and 8.01. Exercise of the option shall
occur as provided in Section 6.02, unless the djpatnt has withdrawn the amount credited to hisesrAccount upon withdrawal from the
Plan pursuant to Section 7.01 or such amount hars thistributed to the Participant upon terminatbemployment pursuant to
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Section 7.02. To the extent not exercised, theoophall expire on the last day of the Offeringidur

6.02 A Participarg’option for the purchase of shares shall be eseichutomatically on the Exercise Date, and tharmar number ¢
shares (including fractional shares) subject toohtgon shall be purchased for such Participath@gpplicable Purchase Price with the
accumulated payroll deductions credited to hisesrAccount.

6.03 During a Participastlifetime, options held by such Participant shallexercisable only by that Participant and ardnaoisferable
other than by will or by the laws of descent arstriiution.

(a) At or as promptly as practicable raftee Exercise Date for an Offering Period, the @any shall deliver the shares of Company
Stock purchased to the Administrator for depodi the Participants’ Accounts.

(b) Cash dividends on any Company Steelited to a Participant’s Account will be autornaliy reinvested in additional shares of
Company Stock; such amounts will not be availabldhe form of cash to Participants. All cash divide paid on Company Stock credited to
a Participant’s Account will be paid over by then@many to the Administrator at the dividend payndate. The Administrator will aggregate
all purchases of Company Stock in connection wighRlan for a given dividend payment date. PurchaE€ompany Stock for purposes of
dividend reinvestment will be made as promptly pcable (but not more than 30 days) after adéind payment date. The Administrator
will make such purchases, as directed by the Cota@ieither (i) in transactions on any securitiahange upon which Company Stock is
traded, or (ii) directly from the Company at 100%4te Fair Market Value of a share of Company Stockhe dividend payment date. Any
shares of Company Stock distributed as a dividerdistribution in respect of shares of Company ktarcin connection with a split of the
Company Stock credited to a Participant’s Accouitithve credited to such Account. In the event of ather non-cash dividend or
distribution in respect of Company Stock credite@ tParticipant's Account, the Administrator wiflreasonably practicable and at the
direction of the Committee, sell any property rgediin such dividend or distribution as promptlypaacticable and use the proceeds to
purchase additional shares of Company Stock iisdéingee manner as cash paid over to the Administfetqurposes of dividend reinvestme

(c) Each Participant will be entitledviote the number of shares of Company Stock creditdnis or her Account (including any
fractional shares credited to such Account) onraaster as to which the approval of the Companysldiolders is sought.

6.04 (a) During the first two years froime first day of an Offering Period, a Participargy sell, but may not transfer or withdraw, the
shares of Company Stock acquired during such @ffePieriod and credited to his or her Account. Dysoch two-year period, all sales of
shares of Company Stock acquired during the Offigifiariod shall only be effectuated by the Admiaitr on the Participant’s behalf.

(b) Following the completion of two yedirsm the first day of an Offering Period, a Pap#nt may elect to withdraw from his or her
Account shares of Company Stock acquired during €ftering Period or may elect to transfer suchrebidrom his or her
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Account to an account of the Participant maintaiwétl a broker-dealer or financial institution.dfParticipant elects to withdraw shares from
his or her account, one or more certificates fooltshares shall be issued in the name of, andedteti to, the Participant, with such
Participant receiving cash in lieu of fractionahebs based on the Fair Market Value of a shareoofany Stock on the date of withdrawa
shares of Company Stock are transferred from aciRemt’s Account to a broker-dealer or financiadtitution that maintains an account for
the Participant, only whole shares shall be transfieand cash in lieu of any fractional share dbalpaid to such Participant based on the Fair
Market Value of a share of Company Stock on the datransfer. A Participant seeking to withdrawransfer shares of Company Stock
must give instructions to the Administrator in sdehm and manner as may be prescribed by the Adtnétor, which instructions will be

acted upon as promptly as practicable. Withdraaatstransfers will be subject to any fees imposegtcordance with Section 10.05.

ARTICLE VII
WITHDRAWAL FROM PLAN AND TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

7.01 If a Participant decreases his omplagroll deduction rate to zero during an Offerigriod, he or she shall be deemed to have
withdrawn from participation in the Plan. Any paymeductions credited to the Participant’s accawifitbe used to exercise his or her option
for the purchase of Company Stock on the next Esef@ate. Payroll deductions shall not resumeeab#ginning of the succeeding Offering
Period unless the Participant provides to the Adstristor new instructions authorizing payroll detimes. A Participant who withdraws from
participation in the Plan may withdraw the Comp&tgck credited to his or her Account only as predith Section 6.04.

7.02 Upon a Participant’s terminatioreafployment with the Company and all Subsidiary @aafions for any reason (including
termination because of the Participant’s deatt®) pitayroll deductions credited to such ParticipaAitcount during the Offering Period but
yet used to exercise the option shall be returaelith Participant or, in the case of his or hatllgo the person or persons entitled the
under Section 10.01, and such Participant’'s opfwail be automatically terminated. The Administratoall continue to maintain the
Participant’s Account until the earlier of such ¢ims the Participant withdraws or transfers all @any Stock in the Account, which
withdrawal or transfer shall be permitted only asvided in Section 6.04 or two years after the iBipdnt ceases to be employed by the
Company and its Subsidiary Corporations. At theiration of such two-year period, the Administrastuall distribute to the Participant (or, if
the termination of employment is because of ddatthe person or persons entitled to the distrilsutinder Section 10.01) the shares of
Company Stock in the Participant’s Account in derited form or transfer such shares of CompangiStimm the Participant’s Account to
an account of the Participant (or the Participab#reficiary) maintained with a broker-dealer ogficial institution. The provisions of
Section 6.04 shall apply to a distribution of slsawé Company Stock on termination of employmentauritis Section 7.02.

7.03 If a Participant goes on an autlemtiteave of absence for any reason, such Particghatl have the right to elect to: (a) withdraw
all of the payroll deductions credited to the Rpant's Account, (b) discontinue contributiongtte Plan but have the amount credited to his
or her Account used to purchase Company Stock@nébt Exercise
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Date, or (c) remain a Participant in the Plan dysuoch leave of absence, authorizing deductiobg tmade from payments by the Company
to the Participant during such leave of absendka@xtent that amounts payable by the Companydo Barticipant are sufficient to meet
such Participans authorized Plan deductions. Unless a Participamin authorized leave of absence returns to em@oywith the Compar
or a Subsidiary Corporation within ninety (90) dayjter the first day of his or her authorized leaf@bsence, such Participant shall be
deemed to have terminated employment and the poogi®f Section 7.02 shall apply. Notwithstandihg above, if the authorized leave of
absence exceeds 90 days and the Participant iargaad reemployment with the Company either byittaif by contract, the Participant

shall not be deemed to have terminated employmetheninety-first (9£!) day.

7.04 For the purposes of the Plan, adiaaint’s employment with the Company or a Subsidg&hall be considered to have terminated
effective on the last day of the Participant’s atand active employment with the Company or Suasidwhether such day is selected by
agreement with the Participant or unilaterally by Company or Subsidiary and whether with or witremlvance notice to the Participant.
the avoidance of doubt, no period of notice thafiven or ought to have been given under applicilein respect of such termination of
employment will be taken into account in determgnantitiement under the Plan.

ARTICLE VIII
COMPANY STOCK

8.01 Subject to adjustment as provide8antion 11.05 hereof, the maximum number of shair€ mpany Stock that shall be reserved
for sale under the Plan shall be 500,000. Sucleshsdrall be either authorized and unissued shastgoes which have been reacquired by
the Company. If the total number of shares whiclhild@therwise be subject to options granted duaim@ffering Period exceeds the number
of shares of Company Stock then available undePthe (after deduction of all shares of Companylstor which options have been
exercised or are then outstanding), the provistdr&ection 5.03 shall apply. In such event, the @dbee shall give written notice to each
Participant of such reduction of the number of @pshares affected thereby and shall similarly cedbe rate of payroll deductions, if
necessary.

8.02 The Participant will have no intéi@sCompany Stock covered by his or her optionlsaich option has been exercised.
ARTICLE IX
CHANGE IN CONTROL
9.01 A “Change in Control” shall mean tieeurrence during the term of the Agreement of:
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(a) An acquisition (other than directtgrh the Company) of any common stock of the Comg&@gmmon Stock”) or other voting
securities of the Company entitled to vote gengffalt the election of directors (the “Voting Sedigs”) by any “Person” (as the term person
is used for purposes of Section 13(d) or 14(dhef$ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendedfkehange Act”)), immediately after
which such Person has “Beneficial Ownership” (wittie meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under #teh&hge Act) of twenty percent
(20%) or more of (i) the then outstanding shareS@mhmon Stock, (ii) the combined voting power & tompany’s then outstanding Voting
Securities or (iii) the voting power to elect a oréty of the Company’s Board of Directogzovided, howeveiin determining whether a
Change in Control has occurred, Voting Securitibgctvare acquired in a No@entrol Acquisition (as hereinafter defined) shradt constitute
an acquisition which would cause a Change in Cgrprovided, further, howevethat with respect to any acquisition of Beneficial
Ownership Caroline W. Singleton, as the Sole Trusfethe Singleton Family Trust or the Singletor@y, L.L.C. (collectively referring to
Caroline Singleton, Singleton Family Trust and &tgn Group L.L.C. as “Singleton”), the referenogwenty percent (20%) in this Section
17.6(a) and Section 17.6(c) shall be deemed tavbety-two percent (22%) for purposes of Single#driNon-Control Acquisition” shall
mean an acquisition by (i) an employee benefit ptara trust forming a part thereof) maintained/Aythe Company or (B) any corporation
or other Person of which a majority of its votingwger or its voting equity securities or equity st is owned, directly or indirectly, by the
Company (a “Subsidiary”) (ii) the Company or itsbSidiaries, or (iii) any Person in connection watfNon-Control Transaction (as
hereinafter defined); or

(b) The individuals who, as of June 198,9are members of the Board (the “Incumbent Bdaase for any reason to constitute at
least a majority of the members of the Bogmaivided, howevethat if the election, or nomination for election e Company’s
shareholders, of any new director was approved\mteof at least two-thirds of the Incumbent Boauth new director shall, for purposes
of this Agreement, be considered as a member dhthenbent Boardprovided further, howeverthat no individual shall be considered a
member of the Incumbent Board if such individudtiatly assumed office as a result of either aruator threatened “Election Contest” (as
described in Rule 14a—11 promulgated under the &gy Act) or other actual or threatened solicitatbproxies or consents by or on behalf
of a Person other than the Board (a “Proxy Contéstluding by reason of any agreement intendeavtiid or settle any Election Contest or
Proxy Contest; or

(c) The consummation of:




(1) A merger, consolidation or reorgatiato which the Company is a party or in whicksities of the Company are issued, unless
such merger, consolidation or reorganization idlari-Control Transaction.” A “Non-Control Transagtfoshall mean a merger, consolidat
or reorganization with or into the Company or inigthsecurities of the Company are issued wheréishareholders of the Company,
immediately before such merger, consolidation organization, own directly or indirectly immedigtdbllowing such merger, consolidation
or reorganization, at least sixty percent (60%thefcombined voting power of the outstanding vosegurities of the corporation resulting
from such merger or consolidation or reorganizaftbe “Surviving Corporation”) in substantially tisame proportion as their ownership of
the Voting Securities immediately before such mergensolidation or reorganization, (ii) the indluals who were members of the
Incumbent Board immediately prior to the executiéthe agreement providing for such merger, codstitbn or reorganization constitute at
least a majority of the members of the board ddators of the Surviving Corporation, or a corpanatbeneficially directly or indirectly
owning a majority of the combined voting power loé toutstanding voting securities of the Surviviraridration, and (iii) no Person other
than (A) the Company, (B) any Subsidiary, (C) amptyee benefit plan (or any trust forming a phereof) that, immediately prior to such
merger, consolidation or reorganization, was maiethby the Company, the Surviving Corporationay Subsidiary, or (D) any Person
who, immediately prior to such merger, consolidatio reorganization had Beneficial Ownership ofritygpercent (20%) or more of the then
outstanding Voting Securities or common stock ef @ompany, has Beneficial Ownership of twenty par¢20%) or more of the combined
voting power of the Surviving Corporation’s thertgtanding voting securities or its common stock.

(2) A complete liquidation or dissolutiohthe Company; or

(3) The sale or other disposition ofalsubstantially all of the assets of the Compangrty Person (other than a transfer to a
Subsidiary or a distribution to the Company’s shatéers); or

(4) The sale or other disposition ofalkubstantially all of the assets of the Subsydignich employs Executive to any Person (other
than a transfer to a Subsidiary or a distributmthie Company’s shareholders);

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Change in Corgtall not be deemed to occur solely because arspR¢the“Subject Person”) acquired
Beneficial Ownership of more than the permitted amaf the then outstanding common stock or Vofegurities as a result of the
acquisition of Common Stock or Voting Securitiestby Company which, by reducing the number of shaf€Common Stock or Voting
Securities then outstanding, increases the prap@itinumber of shares Beneficially Owned by thej&ttPerson, provided that if a Change
in Control would occur (but for the operation oistsentence) as a result of the acquisition ofeshaf Common Stock or Voting Securities by
the Company, and after such share acquisition &¥tthmpany, the Subject Person becomes the Benéhwiaer of any additional shares of
Common Stock or Voting Securities which increadespercentage of the then outstanding shares oft@onstock or Voting Securities
Beneficially Owned by the Subject Person, then ar@le in Control shall occur.

9.02 In the event of a Change in Contia, Offering period shall terminate immediatelglass otherwise provided by the Committee.
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ARTICLE X
ADMINISTRATION

10.01 The Plan shall be administerechiey@ommittee. Subject to the express provisiortkePlan, the Committee shall have full and
discretionary authority to interpret and constrlig@@visions of the Plan, to adopt rules and ragjahs for administering the Plan, and to
make all other determinations deemed necessamvisable for administering the Plan. The Commitiedgtermination on the foregoing
matters shall be final and conclusive. The Committely, in its discretion, delegate some or altoauthority to one or more employees or
officers of the Company.

10.02 Decisions of the Committee shalfibal, conclusive and binding upon all personsjuding the Company, any Participant, any
stockholder, and any of the Company or its SubsaiaA majority of the members of the Committeeyrdatermine its actions and fix the
time and place of its meetings.

10.03 Members of the Committee, and dfigay or employee of the Company acting at thection, or on behalf, of the Committee
shall not be personally liable for any action oredimination taken or made in good faith with respgeche Plan, and shall, to the extent
permitted by law, be fully indemnified and protattey the Company with respect to any such actioctetermination.

10.04 The Administrator will act as adisirator under the Plan, and will perform such elsitas are set forth in the Plan and in any
agreement between the Company and the Administraiber Administrator will establish and maintain,aaent for each Participant, an
Account and any subaccounts as may be necessdegioable for the administration of the Plan.

10.05 The costs and expenses incurréteiadministration of the Plan and maintenanceatfolints will be paid by the Company,
including annual fees of the Administrator and anykerage fees and commissions for the purchaSemwipany Stock upon reinvestment of
dividends and distributions. The foregoing notwigmeling, the Administrator may impose or pass thhoto the Participants a reasonable fee
for the withdrawal of Company Stock in the formstdck certificates and reasonable fees for otheicgs unrelated to the purchase of
Company Stock under the Plan, to the extent approvevriting by the Company and communicated taiBigants. Under no circumstance
shall the Company pay any brokerage fees and casionsfor the sale of Company Stock acquired utifdePlan by a Participant.

ARTICLE XI
MISCELLANEOUS

11.01 Subject to applicable law, a Paréint may file a written designation of a benefigiavho is to receive any shares and cash from
the Participant’s Account under the Plan in thengéeé (a) such Participant’s death subsequent tBxancise Date on which the option is
exercised but prior to a distribution to such Rgrtint of shares or cash then held in the Partitip@ccount or (b) such Participant’s death
prior to exercise of the option. The
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Participant may change such designation of bemafict any time by written notice. In the eventhaf death of a Participant and in the
absence of a beneficiary validly designated ungieiPlan who is living at the time of such Particifgdeath, any shares or cash to be
distributed on the Participant’'s death shall béveetd to the Participant’s estate.

11.02 Neither payroll deductions credit@@ Participant's Account nor any rights withaedjto the exercise of an option or to receive
Company Stock under the Plan may be assignedféraed, pledged, or otherwise disposed of in any mathe Participant other than by w
or the laws of descent and distribution as provideBlection 11.01. Any such attempted assignmearisfer, pledge or other disposition shall
be without effect, except that the Company maytsiisole discretion, treat such action as an @edt withdraw funds.

11.03 The Company or any designated 8igrgiis authorized to withhold from any paymenb®wmade to a Participant, including any
payroll and other payments not related to the Rlamgunts of withholding and other taxes due in eation with any transaction under the
Plan, including any disposition of shares acquirader the Plan, and a Participant’s enrolimenbh@Rlan will be deemed to constitute his or
her consent to such withholding. At the time ofatieipant’s exercise of an option or dispositidrsbares acquired under the Plan, the
Company may require the Participant to make othr@angements to meet tax withholding obligationa @endition to exercise of rights or
distribution of shares or cash from the ParticifsaAtcount. In addition, a Participant may be reedito advise the Company of sales and
other dispositions of Company Stock acquired utidelan in order to permit the Company to compy wax laws and to claim any tax
deductions to which the Company may be entitleth véspect to the Plan.

11.04 All payroll deductions receivedheltd by the Company under this Plan may be usadoZ ompany for any corporate purpose,
and the Company shall not be obligated to segreqgyatie payroll deductions.

11.05 Changes in Capitalization. In thier¢ of any merger, reorganization, consolidatiecapitalization, stock dividend, extraordin
cash dividend, or other changes in corporate strectffecting the Company Stock, such adjustmeait bk made in the aggregate number of
shares of Company Stock which may be delivered utheePlan, and in the number of Company Stockesutdp outstanding options granted
under the Plan as may be determined to be apptefnyathe Committee, in its sole discretion.

11.06 The Committee shall have the cotepgtewer and authority to amend the Plan from tionéme to the extent that such
amendments are necessary and appropriate forfibierf administration of the Plan; however, inexent shall such authority extend to any
amendment that would increase the cost of the felaihe Company. The Board shall have the comgleteer and authority to terminate the
plan. Further, to the extent necessary to complly ®ection 423 of the Code (or any other succassenr provision), the Company shall
obtain stockholder approval in such a manner arsthiéh a degree as so required. No termination, firnation, or amendment of the Plan
may, without the consent of an employee then haamgption under the Plan to purchase stock, adlyeasfect the rights of such employee
under such option.
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11.07 The Plan does not, directly orriedily, create in any employee or class of emplsye® right with respect to continuation of
employment by the Company, and it shall not be @gkto interfere in any way with the Company’s rigghterminate, or otherwise modify,
an employee’s employment at any time. Any bengfiéated hereunder are not part of the Particigadrase salary, and shall not be consic
as part of such salary for purposes of any othg@i@yee plan, program, policy or arrangement maiadiby the Company or in the event of
severance, redundancy or resignation. If the Rpatit’'s employment is terminated for whatever reaschether lawfully or unlawfully, the
Participant shall not be entitled by way of damafgedreach of contract, dismissal or compensdtiohoss of office or otherwise to any su
shares or other benefits to compensate him ordneghé loss or diminution in value of any actuapoospective right, benefits or expectation
under or in relation to the Plan. Benefits granieder the Plan are entirely at the grace and disaref the Company.

11.08 All notices or other communicatidaysa Participant to the Company shall be deemddve been duly given when received in
the form specified by the Company at the locat@ry the person, designated by the Company forgbeipt thereof.

11.09 The Company shall not be obligateidsue shares of Company Stock with respect tupéion unless the exercise of such option
and the issuance and delivery of such shares ptrthereto shall comply with all applicable prowiss of law, domestic or foreign, includi
without limitation, the Securities Act of 1933, awmended, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, anded, the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder, and the requirements otk exchange or automated quotation system wharh the shares may then be listed
or quoted.

11.10 The Plan shall continue in effbcbtigh, and including October 1, 2013, unless teated prior thereto pursuant to Section 11.07
hereof, or by the Board or the Committee, eachta€Elwshall have the right to extend the term ofRiften. Upon any discontinuance of the
Plan, unless the Committee shall determine otherveisy assets remaining in the Participant’s Actoshall be delivered to the respective
Participant (or the Participant’s legal represeémtdtas soon as administratively practicable.

11.11 To the extent permitted under $ecti23 of the Code, the Committee may provide fichsspecial terms for Participants who are
foreign nationals, or who are employed by the Camypa Subsidiary Corporation outside of the UniBtdtes of America, as the Committee
may consider necessary or appropriate to accommaliféérences in local law, tax policy or customondover, the Committee may approve
such supplements to or amendments, restatemerakenrative versions of, this Plan as it may codeshecessary or appropriate for such
purposes without thereby affecting the terms of Bian as in effect for any other purpose; provithedvever, that no such supplements,
amendments, restatements or alternative versidhgalude any provisions that are inconsistentwiie terms of this Plan, as then in effect,
unless this Plan could have been amended to elienduech inconsistency without further approval iy shareholders of the Company, or
which would cause the Plan to fail to meet the meguents of Section 423 of the Code.

11.12 For the reasons described belosvCitmpany and its affiliates may process sengi@rsonal data about each Participant. Such
data may include but is not limited to: (a) perdai®a (e.g., name, address, telephone numbenuiaber, email address, family
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size, marital status, sex, beneficiary informatemergency contacts, age, language skills, andog@pinumber), (b) employment informat
(e.g., C.V. (or resume), wage history, employmefenences, job title, employment or severance aotitplan or benefit enroliment forms
elections, and option or benefit statements), ahdiriancial information (e.g., wage and benefformation, personal bank account number,
tax related information, and tax identification rugn). The Company may from time to time processteantsfer this or other information for
internal compensation and benefit planning (spesdlify, participation in the Plan). The legal perséor whom the Participant’s personal data
is intended are the Company, and any outside Rlaninéstrator or Administrator as selected by thenpany from time to time, and any ot}
person that the Company may find in its adminigirabf the Plan appropriate. The Company shall enthat all personal data and/or
sensitive data transmitted shall be kept confiddmaind used only for legitimate Company purposedeasribed above.

11.13 The Plan, all options granted hedeu, and all actions taken in connection heresfill be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of New Jansthout reference to the principles of conflictlafvs, except as superseded by applicable
federal law.
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Exhibit 21
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The information below is provided, as of DecembErZ009 with respect to the subsidiaries of thei®emnt, all of which are wholly owned
by the Corporation, directly or indirectly. The nesof certain inactive subsidiaries and other clistestied subsidiaries of the Registrant have
been omitted because such subsidiaries would matitwte a significant subsidiary, individually iorthe aggregate.

Organized Under the

Name Laws of
Curtis--Wright Flow Control Corporatio New York
Curtiss-Wright Controls, Inc Delaware
Metal Improvement Company, LL Delaware
Curtis-Wright Electr-Mechanical Corporatio Delaware
Penny & Giles Controls Limite United Kingdom
Curtis-Wright Antriebstechnik Gmblt Switzerlanc
Vista Controls, Inc California
Autronics Corporatiol Delaware
Curtis-Wright Flow Control Company Cana Nova Scotie
Peerless Instrument Co., It New York
Dy4, Inc. Delaware
Synergy Microsystems, In California
Primagraphics (Holdings) Limite United Kingdom
Novatronics, Inc Ontario
Systran Corporatio Ohio



Exhibit 22
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference ini®egion Statement Nos. 33-65073, 33-06329, 33t95633-126541, and 33-126543 on
Form S-8, Registration Statement No. 33-61785 amF®-8 and S-3 of our reports dated February 280 2f@lating to the consolidated
financial statements and financial statement sdeeafuCurtiss-Wright Corporation and subsidiaries ¢he effectiveness of internal control

over financial reporting, appearing in this AnnRaport on Form 10-K of Curtiss-Wright Corporatiardasubsidiaries for the year-ended
December 31, 20009.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLF
Parsippany, New Jers:
February 23, 201




Exhibit 31.1

Certifications

I, Martin R. Benante, certify tha

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Curtis-Wright Corporation

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgttade a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a)

b)

c)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isige prepared

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princij

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldfure controls and procedures and presentedsimgort our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougrelis report based on
such evaluation; ar

Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ameport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyesft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent

functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknes#gethe design or operation of internal contratiofmancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéein the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

February 23, 201

/s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic



Exhibit 31.Z

Certifications

I, Glenn E. Tynan, certify tha

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Curtis-Wright Corporation

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgttade a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a)

b)

c)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isige prepared

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princij

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldfure controls and procedures and presentedsimgort our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; ar

Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ameport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyesft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent

functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknes#gethe design or operation of internal contratiofmancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéein the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

February 23, 201

/sl Glenn E. Tynai

Glenn E. Tynar

Chief Financial Officel



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Curtiss-gii Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foetperiod ended December 31, 2009
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseinthe date hereof (the “Report”), Martin R. Beteaas Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, and Glenn E. Tynan, as Chileancial Officer of the Company, each herebyifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section
1350, that to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly ets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of
the Company

/s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt

Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
February 23, 201

/sl Glenn E. Tynai

Glenn E. Tynar

Chief Financial Officel

February 23, 201



